Health and Wellbeing Board

Date
Time
Venue

Tuesday 29 March 2022
9.30 am
Committee Room 2, County Hall, Durham

Business
Part A

Items which are open to the Press and Public
1.

Apologies for Absence

2.

Substitute Members

3.

Declarations of Interest, if any

4.

Minutes of the meeting held 18 January 2022 (Pages 5 - 18)

5.

Health and Social Care Integration: (Pages 19 - 34)
Presentation by the Director of Integrated Community Services,
Durham County Council.

6.

Can smoking really end? (Pages 35 - 44)
Presentation by the Director of Fresh and Balance.

7.

Review of the Mental Health Strategic Partnership and the
governance of Mental Health and Wellbeing across County
Durham: (Pages 45 - 66)
Report of the Chair of the County Durham Mental Health Strategic
Partnership.

8.

Inclusive Economic Strategy: (Pages 67 - 178)
a) Report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy
and Growth.
b) Presentation of the Corporate Director of Regeneration,
Economy and Growth.

9.

Healthwatch County Durham - Annual Report 2020/21 and
Workplan 2021/22: (Pages 179 - 204)
Report of the Chair of Healthwatch County Durham.

10.

Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns: (Pages 205 - 208)
Presentation by the Director of Public Health, Durham County
Council.

Local Outbreak Engagement Board
11.

Local Outbreak Control Plan update, including questions from
members of the public and stakeholders: (Pages 209 - 242)
a) Presentation by the Director of Public Health, Durham
County Council.
b) Overview of the work of the COVID PPE Cell – presentation
on behalf of the Durham and Darlington Local Resilience
Forum.
c) Mobile Pop-up Vaccination Clinic Evaluation Report – Joint
Report of the Director of Commissioning Strategy and
Delivery (Primary Care), NHS County Durham CCG and
Director of Public Health, Durham County Council.

12.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration

13.

Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the
discussion of items containing exempt information
Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open
to the public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)
14.

Pharmacy Applications: (Pages 243 - 262)
Report of the Director of Public Health, Durham County Council.

15.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman of the
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services

County Hall
Durham
21 March 2022

To:

The Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board

Councillors R Bell, T Henderson and P Sexton
J Robinson

Adult and Health Services, Durham County Council

J Pearce

Children and Young People’s Services, Durham County
Council

A Healy

Public Health, County Durham Adult and Health Services,
Durham County Council

Dr S Findlay

County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group

Dr J Smith

County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group

N Bailey

County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group

F Jassat

County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group

S Jacques

County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust

J Gillon

North Tees and Hartlepool NHS Foundation Trust

J Illingworth

Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust

V Mitchell

City Hospitals Sunderland NHS Foundation Trust

C Cunnington-Shore

Healthwatch County Durham

M Forster

Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust

M Laing

Associate Director of Community Services

S White

Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner

S Helps

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Service

L Hall

Housing Solutions

Contact: Martin Tindle

Email: 03000 269 713

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL
At a Meeting of Health and Wellbeing Board held in Council Chamber,
County Hall, Durham on Tuesday 18 January 2022 at 1.30 pm

Present:
Councillor P Sexton (Chair)
Members of the Committee:
Councillors R Bell and T Henderson and Chris Cunnington-Shore, Amanda Healy,
Dr Stewart Findlay, John Pearce, Jane Robinson, Suzanne Lamb, Jennifer
Illingworth, Levi Buckley, Phil Innes, Michael Laing, Rachael Stray, Marie Smith,
and Peter Sutton

1

Apologies for Absence
Apologies for absence were received from M Forster, J Gillon, L
Hall, S Helps, S Jacques, F Jassat, Dr Jonathan Smith and S White.

2

Substitute Members
There were the following substitutes: M Smith for L Hall; R Stray for S
Jacques; L Buckley for J Gillon, S Lamb for M Forster and P Innes for S
Helps.

3

Minutes of the meeting held 24 November 2021
The minutes of the meeting held on 24 November 2021 were agreed as a
correct record and signed by the Chair.

4

Declarations of Interest
There were no declarations of interest.

Page 5

5

Health and Social Care Integration, including Winter Pressure
update
The Board received a verbal update from the Director of Integrated
Community Services, Michael Laing on progress with Health and Social Care
Integration and information on winter pressures (for copy see file of minutes).
The update included information relating to the statutory implementation date
for the Integrated Care System being delayed three months until 1 July 2022,
with CCGs therefore continuing to operate until the end of June.
Additional information related to the predicted surge in demand in response
to COVID-19, Respiratory Syncytial Virus (RSV) and flu, and it was noted
with regards to staffing pressures. Members noted the vaccination centre at
County Hall for eligible staff would close this week.
Councillor R Bell asked with regards to what would happen with the staff
from the vaccination centre, the Director of Integrated Community Services
noted they would be redeployed elsewhere within the Trust in respect of
administering COVID and flu vaccines.
The Chair asked as regards when there would be a fuller picture of what the
ICS/ICB will look like and how Durham would fit into that as a place, including
future funding allocations. The Director of Integrated Community Services
advised that a fuller picture had not yet materialised, with the new Chief
Executive having been recently appointed and the recruitment to the new
Board would take some time. He added that there was no intention to make
changes initially, giving an opportunity for Durham to comment on the future
placed based working arrangements, with its long established existing
partnerships and good working relationships at operational and strategic
levels.
Resolved:
That the verbal update be noted.

Page 6

6

Director of Public Health Annual Report
The Board received a report and presentation from the Director of Public
Health, Amanda Healy on her Annual Report (for copy see file of minutes).
Members noted the report focussed on COVID-19 and the range of work in
response to the pandemic and made reference to the ‘Approach to
Wellbeing’, including how ‘wellbeing principles’ had helped the County
Durham Together Community Hub adapt in response to the pandemic to
meet the changing needs within our communities.
Members noted examples of progress against the recommendations that
were included in the annual report:
Every child has the best start in life
 Health and Wellbeing Framework for schools and education settings
 Smokefree app promotion and rollout
 Breastfeeding friendly scheme
Mental Health at scale
Good jobs and places to live, learn and play
 Hot food takeaway policy implementation
 Housing and health initiatives
Healthy workforce
 Launch of the Employee Assistance Programme for small businesses
and VCSEs to support staff wellbeing
 Continued Public Health messages
High quality drug and alcohol services
 Alcohol before 18 what’s the harm campaign
 Establishment of drug and alcohol outreach services in local
communities
Promoting positive behaviours
 Active 30, to help children become more active
 Smoking and alcohol campaigns e.g. smoke free homes
Better quality of life through integrated health and care services
 Flu vaccinations
 We are undefeatable programme pilot
 Macmillan’s Joining the Dots programme
The Director of Public Health noted it would be the final year utilising the
‘Taylor Family’ who had been used to demonstrate the impact of health and
wellbeing, and the positive impact of our work and initiatives. She noted that
over the coming year the focus would remain on reducing health inequalities,
which had widened as a result of the pandemic.

Page 7

Councillor R Bell asked as regards any further information on the Fair
Funding Review and how that would relate to Durham. The Director of
Public Health noted colleagues from Finance were monitoring the situation
with further information due in Spring.
She added that she was awaiting the grant funding letter for the upcoming
year, noting individual funding for weight management and the drug and
alcohol service, however this did not allow longer term planning.
Councillor Ted Henderson asked as regards the take up of the Employee
Assistance Programme (EAP) across small and medium sized enterprises
(SMEs) across the county and whether it was sustainable. The Public Health
Strategic Manager, Michael Shannon noted the EAP was a free service
improving people’s general health and wellbeing. He explained that the
highest number of website hits was in October 2021, with lower access via
the telephone lines, and less take up for free counselling sessions. In terms
of sustainability, he noted that the ‘Healthy Business Framework’ would be
available to SMEs in terms of maximising good staff mental health and
wellbeing.
The Director of Commissioning Strategy and Development (Primary Care),
Joseph Chandy noted the development of mental health first-aiders with
small businesses and noted that GPs surgeries were also small businesses.
He noted the challenges they faced, including in helping to build resilience for
their staff as a key area. He asked if it would be possible to link up and make
such offers available to GP staff and also noted the Better Health at Work
Scheme, albeit that may be a stretch for some GPs. The Director of Public
Health mentioned the ‘mindful employer’ initiative and noted she would pick
up the issue with the Director of Commissioning Strategy and Development
(Primary Care).
Resolved:
That the report and presentation be noted.

7

Review of GP services in County Durham - progress against
review recommendations
The Board received a joint report of the Corporate Director of Resources and
Director of Commissioning Strategy and Development (Primary Care) in
relation to progress against review recommendations from the Adults
Wellbeing and Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee Review of GP
Services in County Durham (for copy see file of minutes).

Page 8

Councillor R Bell noted that it had been around 10 years since former Health
Secretary Andrew Lansley had brought in reforms that created the CCGs to
give primary care a larger voice within the NHS and asked as regards the
impact on GPs would be in moving to the new ICS and whether it would be to
the benefit or detriment of primary care.
The Director of Commissioning Strategy and Development (Primary Care)
noted there were a lot of unknowns and noted that if one were to ask Durham
GPs, they would note they had been fully supportive of the CCGs over the
last nine years in helping to benefit their patient populations and the ongoing
development of general practice. GPs were hoping that the benefits of
CCGs in County Durham, in terms of local influence, decision-making and
financial control is retained via place-based arrangements under the ICS.
The Vice-Chair, Dr Stewart Findlay noted that the Lansley changes had not
been universally popular, however, for primary care they had worked well, in
particular in Durham. He explained that there had been good support for
primary care and noted the integration agenda had been advanced more
than ever before, working closely with the Local Authority, Mental Health
Trusts and Acute Trusts. He noted the development of joint pathways and
the movement of a lot of work from secondary care to primary care, closer to
patients’ homes and often more cost effective. He added there was the
ability to react quickly, evidenced by the successful vaccination programme,
being able to mobilise within a matter of weeks. Dr Stewart Findlay noted the
importance of retaining that clinical engagement going forward. He noted
that, as with any change, there would be some embedding as people
reorganised, and noted the importance of all working together.
The Director of Integrated Community Services noted that, operationally, due
to the influence of GPs, CCGs had commissioned the Community Services
Contract, nearly £80 million of services. He explained using the example of
the Richardson Community Hospital which had influence from the social work
team that was collocated and had input from local GPs, with that leading to
better outcomes for patients.
The Chair asked as regards struggling to obtain a timely GP appointment,
noting services such as 111, pharmacies and mobile apps which could help
in terms of alleviating pressures. The Director of Commissioning Strategy
and Development (Primary Care) noted he would encourage the use of
technology in terms of reordering repeat prescriptions or to received test
results in order to prevent multiple calls through GP telephone lines. He
noted ongoing work in relation to GP telephone systems, following
Government comments in relation to patient frustrations in contacting GPs.

Page 9

He explained that GPs, as businesses, had often purchased their own
telephone systems and noted some had moved to cloud bases systems,
enabling their staff to be able to work from home, providing additional
flexibility. Digital access was now part of the complement of services from
GPs in order to meet the expectations of patients and provide choice during
covid and moving forward.
Dr Stewart Findlay noted the ratio of reception staff to clinical staff may need
to increase in order to deal with the number of calls. He noted that primary
care was busier than ever before across the country, since recording began,
and was significantly higher in the North East. He added Durham GPs were
seeing more contacts that any other region, with more face to face
consultation and more home visits, with less GPs as the number of GPs had
fallen. He concluded by emphasising the good performance of GPs in
Durham.
Resolved:
(a) To consider and comment on the progress made against the
recommendations made within the OSC Committee’s Review report into
GP Services in County Durham;
(b) To Receive the report of the Director of Commissioning Strategy and
Development (Primary Care), NHS County Durham in respect of NHS
England guidance entitled “Improving Access for patients to Primary
Care and Supporting General Practice and the associated winter access
fund”;
(c) To consider and comment on the guidance and offer any insight that
will inform the County Durham response;
(d) To receive further reports and dialogue that respond to NHS England
expectations.

8

County Durham Plan Health Impact Assessment (HIA)
The Board received a report and presentation of Corporate Director of Adult
and Health Services relating to the County Durham Plan Health Impact
Assessment (HIA), presented by the Public Health Strategic Manager (for
copy see file of minutes).
Councillor R Bell asked as regards Policy 25, relating to s106 contributions.
He noted that a question often raised by local residents related to the impact
of large developments on local infrastructure such as schools and GPs.

Page 10

He noted the issue had been raised in the Overview and Scrutiny Review of
GP Services, with recommendation 6 advocating the use of s106
agreements and requested an update relating to Policy 25 and a Developer
Contributions Supplementary Planning Document, expected to go to Cabinet
in December, with consultation in the new year. He noted that this is a very
important issue and queried the timetable. The Principal Overview and
Scrutiny Officer, Stephen Gwillym noted recommendation 6 had referred to
December 2021, into early 2022, with a number of Supplementary Planning
Documents having been out for consultation. The Director of Integrated
Community Services noted an example in terms of s106 agreements and
securing services such as GPs.
Councillor T Henderson asked as regards how older people and people with
special needs were being involved in the planning and design of any new
housing. The Public Health Strategic Manager noted that was through Policy
15 setting out the needs of older persons or those with disabilities or special
needs. He added that for developments of five units or more, the policy asks
that two-thirds must be built to appropriate building regulations and house
types, with level-access bungalows. He noted colleagues from Spatial Policy
engaged with the Disability Partnership and the People’s Parliament to seek
the opinions and perspectives of those with the lived experience of the
issues.
The Director of Public Health noted the work with colleagues from Planning
and Assets in relation to s106 monies with the report to come through to
Cabinet in due course, she anticipated prior to the end of the financial year.
The Chair asked as regards the impact of COVID-19 on hybrid working and
how that would impact upon the County Durham Plan. The Public Health
Strategic Manager noted it was too early to tell, with colleagues from Spatial
Policy monitoring planning applications relating to office space to see how
organisations across County Durham were responding to hybrid working.
Resolved:
(a)
(b)

That the contents of the report be noted.
That the Board note that the County Durham Plan Health Impact
Assessment would be reviewed annually.

Page 11

9

NHS Dentistry
The Board received a presentation from Stuart Youngman (Senior Primary
Care Manager) and Tom Robson from Local Dental Network Chair relating to
NHS General Dental Access (for copy see file of minutes).
Members noted a summary of key points included:
 All NHS dental practices are still operating at significant reduced
capacity due to requirement to continue to adhere to national infection
control guidance.
 It is therefore necessary for dental practices to triage patients who
contact them to ensure that patients with the greatest clinical need, i.e.
those requiring urgent dental care and vulnerable patients are
prioritised, which likely means a delay for patients seeking nonclinically urgent and more routine dental care such as check ups.
 Progression to resume the full range of routine dental care is being
risk-managed by individual practices.
 This position is likely to continue until at least end of March 2022.
 All opportunities are being explored to increase the clinical treatment
capacity available.
 In the interim we are asking patients for their understanding and cooperation during this unprecedented and difficult time for the NHS.
Councillor R Bell noted it was an excellent presentation and asked that, given
the Omicron variant, would there be further impact on dentistry provision and
recovery over a longer period, and whether Government advice would take
into account where Dentists had installed mitigating engineering, such as
extraction. Stuart Youngman noted that guidance would come from national
teams, closer to March. He added that he would hope that such measures
would be taken into account and when given the opportunity to input to
national forums they would do so, noting organisations such as the British
Dental Association. Tom Robson noted the current position was informed by
the introduction of additional resource, ventilation or high efficiency
particulate filtration, and also current research on the actual risk of vapours to
teams and patients. He added that had all informed the variation of the
infection protection control measures, so that the approach today was very
different to that a year ago, with patients treated in line with being either low
respiratory risk or high respiratory risk. He noted expectation was for 95 to
100 percent of capacity from April 2022 onwards should nothing else change.
Stuart Youngman reiterated that patient safety was top of the list, working
within guidelines to reach a balance in terms of seeing patients.
Resolved:
That the presentation be noted.

Page 12

10

Tobacco Control update
The Board received an update report of the Corporate Director of Adult and
Health Services, presented by the Director of Public Health, relating to
Tobacco Control (for copy see file of minutes).
Councillor T Henderson noted vaping was used as an alternative for those
who are trying to quit smoking and asked what was being done to encourage
young people who had never smoked to stay clear of nicotine altogether.
The Director of Public Health noted the biggest factor in discouraging young
people from smoking was having parents that did not smoke. She added
that vaping was much less harmful than smoking and therefore support to
help adults stop smoking was important, as was tackling issues in relation to
access to cigarettes.
She added there was the health and wellbeing framework within schools,
with smoking being a key issue within that framework, and there was the 025 Service, returning to their previous public health work following the focus
on the vaccination programme.
Resolved:
(a)

(b)

(c)

11

That the contents of the report and support a renewed vigour and
emphasis on tobacco control work to address the increase in smoking
prevalence across the County be noted.
That the Board endorse further opportunities to train Level 2 Stop
Smoking Service providers (including social care and housing provider
staff) to the recommended benchmark of National Centre for Smoking
Cessation and Training (NCSCT) standards.
That the Board recognise the need to maintain a priority focus on
reducing smoking in pregnancy rates and address gaps in logging
Smoking at Time of Delivery data within maternity services.

Health and Wellbeing Board Campaigns
The Board noted a presentation from the Director of Public Health on the
following public health campaigns (for copy of presentation see file of
minutes):
 Covid-19, including
o Response to new government guidelines
o Vaccinations
o Face coverings
o Testing
o Champions
o Outbreak support

Page 13

 Health harms and wellbeing services
o Flu vaccines
o Alcohol
o International Men’s Health week
o Domestic Abuse
 External campaigns
o Tobacco
o Alcohol awareness
o Mental Health
o Safer Women At Night (SWAN)
o Healthy Start
o Healthy Easting / Physical Activity

Resolved:
That the presentation be noted.

12

Durham Safeguarding Adults Partnership (DSAP) Annual Report
The Board received a report from the Independent Chair of the Durham
Safeguarding Adults Partnership (DSAP) setting out their Annual Report (for
copy see file of minutes):
Resolved:
(a)
(b)
(c)

13

That the content of the DSAP Annual Report be noted.
That the scope of work undertaken during 2020/21 be noted.
That the areas of priority focus for the DSAP for 2021/22 and the
impact of the Covid-19 pandemic be noted.

Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership (DSCP) Annual Report
The Board received a report from the Independent Chair and Scrutineer of
the Durham Safeguarding Children Partnership (DSCP) setting out their
Annual Report, presented by the Corporate Director of Children and Young
People’s Services (for copy see file of minutes):
Councillor R Bell noted a number of tragic child neglect stories reported
nationally and asked as regards the mechanisms by which learning for our
services could be made from such cases.

Page 14

The Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s Services noted the
process that operated across children’s safeguarding nationally was set
down in the Working Together Practice Guidance, where significant incidents
could be subject to a local review or national review. He noted that there is a
range of learning for the sector as a whole which is then captured through
partnership’s annual reports and shared with multi-agency partners.
Resolved:
(a)
(b)

14

To note the content of the report.
To accept the DSCP Annual Report for information as an overview of
the work undertaken in 2020/21 and their priorities for action in
2021/22.

Ageing Well Health Needs Assessment
The Board received an update report of the Corporate Director of Adult and
Health Services, presented by the Director of Public Health, relating to the
Ageing Well Health Needs Assessment (for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
(a)
(b)

15

That the Board endorse the approach to the Health Needs
Assessment.
To receive an update of the Health Needs Assessment at a future
meeting.

Local Outbreak Control Plan update, including questions from
members of the public and stakeholders
The Board received a presentation from the Director of Public Health which
provided an update on the COVID-19 Local Outbreak Management Plan (for
copy of see file of minutes).
John Pearce left the meeting at 3.43pm
The Chair advised that the following responses to questions from members of
the public and stakeholders would be published on the Council’s website
following the meeting. They are based on information and guidance available at
the time of the meeting:

Page 15

Michael Laing
1.
The information is so confusing, where is the best place to get
accurate, up to date and easy to understand information?
All national guidance on COVID-19 is published on the government website
www.gov.uk/coronavirus
For Local information for County Durham go to
www.durham.gov.uk/coronavirus
For NHS COVID-19 information use www.NHS/coronaviurs
From these three webpages you can access a wealth of guidance,
vaccination, testing, local information, and health advice. All three have
many linked pages providing more comprehensive information should you
wish to do more detailed reading.

Dr Stewart Findley
2.
How will scaling up the vaccine programme and any impact of
Omicron affect other GP and health services?
We now know that a third booster is needed to protect people from the
Omicron variant. It results in increased levels of antibodies and a much lower
chance of hospitalisation and death.
As rates of Omicron rose we asked all vaccination sites to increase capacity
over December. Booster vaccination was considered to be the highest
priority activity to protect the public and the NHS.
This will have impacted on other work but to a lesser extent in primary care
than it did earlier in 2021 as we now have a much greater capacity over large
vaccination centres and community pharmacies.
It is always a difficult balance, but protecting against hospital admissions and
increased numbers of very ill people in ITU beds will ultimately save lives and
has to be our biggest priority.
Fortunately, the bulk of boosters have now been given and so the workload
has decreased dramatically since Christmas.
However, we still have a lot of vaccine in the system, and I would urge
anyone that has not been vaccinated to come forward now. Getting a jab in
January will protect the individual and the NHS and it is possible that only
those with a booster will be recognised as fully vaccinated in the future.

Page 16

Amanda Healy
3.
When should I isolate, and how long for?
You should self-isolate immediately if:
•
You have COVID-19 symptoms;
•
Or if you do not have COVID-19 symptoms but you have tested
positive on an LFD test.
•
Or you live in the same household as someone with COVID-19 and
you are not fully vaccinated.
Let me deal with each one separately.
Firstly, if you have COVID-19 symptoms that is a high temperature; a new
continuous cough; or you've lost your sense of smell or taste or it's changed.
You should stay at home and self-isolate immediately. You should arrange to
have a PCR test as soon as possible. If this PCR test result is positive, you
must continue to self-isolate. Self-isolation lasts for 10 full days from the
onset of symptoms. It is now possible to end self-isolation after 7 days,
following 2 negative LFD tests taken 24 hours apart. The first LFD test
should not be taken before the sixth day.
On to the second point. If you do not have COVID-19 symptoms, but you
have tested positive on an LFD test, you must stay at home and self-isolate.
At present you do not need to arrange a confirmatory PCR test, please just
stay at home and self-isolate. In this instance self-isolation lasts for 10 full
days from the positive test. As before, it is now possible to end self-isolation
after 7 days, following 2 negative LFD tests taken 24 hours apart. The first
LFD test should not be taken before the sixth day.
Moving to the third point, you must self-isolate if you live in the same
household as someone with COVID-19 and you are not fully vaccinated.
Fully vaccinated means you have had 2 doses of an approved vaccine such
as Pfizer BioNTech, AstraZeneca or Spikevax (formerly Moderna).
You are also fully vaccinated if you have had one dose of the single-dose
Janssen vaccine.
If you are not fully vaccinated in this scenario your self-isolation mirrors the
positive case. That is 10 full days from either the onset of symptoms or from
the test. As before, it is now possible to end self-isolation after 7 days,
following 2 negative LFD tests taken 24 hours apart. The first LFD test
should not be taken before the sixth day.
There are some other exemptions to self-isolation these are:
•
if you are aged under 18 years, and you live in the same household as
someone with COVID-19.

Page 17

•
•

Clinical trial participants: those who have or are taking part in an
MHRA approved vaccine clinical trial.
Adults who can evidence that they cannot be vaccinated for medical
reasons.

Amanda Healy
4.
What’s the difference between LFT and PCR tests – why do you
take LFT when asymptomatic / PCR when you have symptoms?
Please can you explain.
Lateral flow testing is a fast and simple way to test people who do not have
symptoms of COVID-19, but who may still be spreading the virus. The LFD
test uses an established technology to detect a viral load in proteins
(antigens) that are present when a person has COVID-19. The LFD can
reliably be used to detect individuals with the virus but are not showing
classic symptoms.
PCR tests are often seen as the ‘gold standard’ test for identifying clinical
cases of infection because it requires laboratory analysis. PCR tests detect
viral genetic material, this can then be used to detect mutations and possible
variants of concern, not detected using the LFD test.

16

Exclusion of the Public
That under Section 100(A)(4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the public
be excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the
grounds that they involved the likely disclosure of exempt information as
defined in Paragraphs 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Act.

17

Pharmacy Applications
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health which
presented a summary of Pharmacy Applications received from NHS England
in accordance with the NHS (Pharmaceutical and Local Pharmaceutical
Services) Regulations 2013 (for copy see file of minutes).
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

Page 18

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
29 MARCH 2022
Integration Update
Michael Laing
Director of Integrated Community services

Agenda Item 5

Page 19

Page 20

Format
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Purpose
Background
Integration White Paper
Joint Committee Proposal for County Durham
Integration Programme
Summary
Questions

Purpose
• To give information about and discuss the Integration White Paper
published on 9 February 2022 “Health and social care integration :
joining up care for people, places and populations”
• To give information about initial work on place based governance
in County Durham
• To update on progress with the Integration Programme
• To answer questions

Page 21

Page 22

Background 1
• CCGs to be stood down from July 2022
• New Integrated Care Board across North East and North
Cumbria created
• Chair and new Chief Executive of the ICB in place
• Recruitment to senior posts underway
• ICB operating model and governance handbook in development
and discussed with the Board on 15 March 2022
• Key question about what is done regionally, sub-regionally and
at place
• Strong integration in County Durham already

Youth Council

County Durham Partnership

Wider Partnership Relationships:
•
Safe Durham Partnership
•
Environment & Climate Change
Partnership
•
Economic Partnership
•
County Durham Together

Health
Protection
Assurance
and
Development
Group

Page 23

Chair: Amanda
Healy

COVID-19
Local
Health
Protection
Assurance
Board
Chair: Jane
Robinson

Reporting relationships:
•
Local A&E Delivery
Board
•
Durham Safeguarding
Adults Partnership
•
Durham Safeguarding
Children Partnership
•
Adults Wellbeing and
Health Overview &
Scrutiny Committee
•
Alcohol and Drug Harm
Reduction Group

Health and Wellbeing Board
(Local Outbreak Engagement Board)
Chair: Cllr Paul Sexton

Pharmaceutical
Needs
Assessment
Steering Group

Chair: Glen
Wilson

Special
Educational
Needs &
Disabilities
(SEND)
Chair:
Martyn
Stenton

County
Durham
Care
Partnership
Executive
Chair: Neil
O’Brien

Mental
Health
Strategic
Partnership

JSNA
Strategic
Group

(under review)

Chair:
Amanda
Healy

Chair: Mike
Brierley

Population Health:
Physical Activity Strategy
Committee
Chair: David Shipman

Healthy Weight Alliance
Chair: TBC

Tobacco Control Alliance
Chair: Jane Sunter

Page 24

GOVERNANCE STRUCTURE
ACROSS COUNTY DURHAM (April 2021)
Foundation Trust Boards

CCG/ICS

Durham County Council

Health and Wellbeing Board
Forum
Informal meetings of
Governing Body lay
members/ICS
Senior Councillors
Trust Non-Executives,
VCS, Healthwatch
This group will focus on
shared issues such as
population health, health
inequalities and health
and care outcomes.
Suggest meet X 2/3/year

Key:
Direct report
Information sharing
Consultative

Overview and
Scrutiny Committee

County Durham Care Partnership Executive
To April 2022 Joint Meeting with CCG Executive Committee, PCN Directors,
Trust Chief Executives, Council Corporate Directors for Adults and Health and
Children, VCS
The focus of this group is on system management, health outcomes,
population health system finance, delegation of budgets and high level
outcomes to the partnership’s that sit below

Partnership Board
Mental Health,
Learning Disabilities
and Autism

Partnership Board
Children and Families

Partnership Board
Acute

Enablers
Finance
Communications
Quality
IT & Information
Management
Population health
Project support
Workforce etc.

Partnership Board
Primary Care,
Community Health and
Social Care Services

Collaboration across pathways

Integration White Paper 1
• Part of the implementation of the Health and Care Bill currently in
Parliament
• One of a number of documents
• Guidance on the development of place based partnerships September
2021 NHS/LGA
• Social Care White Paper 14 December 2021 “People at the Heart of
Care”
• Review of Health and Social Care Leadership November 2021 NHS
• Cavendish Review 2022 February 2022 NHS
• ICB Governance Handbook and Operating Model in development
Page 25

Page 26

Integration White Paper 2
• Emphasises the role of “place” defined as the upper tier Councils such
as Durham County Council
• Promotes the creation of “place board model” based on 5 options
including a Joint Committee by April 2023
• “Place board model” should “build on existing structures”
• To be negotiated between the County Council and the ICB
• County Council and ICB to agree a named person to lead the delivery of
some “shared outcomes”
• CQC role in assuring integration and the delivery of shared outcomes

Integration White Paper 3 –
Place Board Model Options
• Consultative Forum
• Delegation to individual ICB Executives or staff
• Committee of the ICB with delegated decision making
• Joint Committee of statutory bodies with delegated decision
making. This is Durham’s preferred option to be discussed with the
ICB
• Lead Provider with a contract with the ICB to manage resources
and deliver outcomes
Page 27

Page 28

Integration White Paper 4
• Encouraged to shared and align budgets and some new rules
likely to follow
• Better Care Fund to continue
• Looking at how we share the health and social care workforce –
integrated skills passport, changes to regulations
• Children’s services where possible should be part of the
integrated arrangements
• Recognises role of mental health and learning disabilities services

Joint Committee Proposal
• Since mid 2021 County Durham Care Partnership has been
discussing what we might want in Durham in April 2023
• Preferred option a Joint Committee for County Durham
• This is a negotiation with the ICB
• Everything in principle
• Everyone in principle
• Timetable leading up to April 2023

Page 29

Page 30

Integration Programme Vision
Our shared vision across the Partnership is
“To bring together health and social care as well as voluntary
organisations to achieve improved health and wellbeing for the
people of County Durham"

Integration Programme Principles
• Put the patient and service user first
• The right person in the right place at the right time delivering care to reduce
handoffs, delays, and duplication
• Promote integration between Primary, Community and Social Care
• Deliver care closer to home
• Engage, share, and develop our workforce together
• Share the benefits and successes
• Encourage leadership at all levels
• Get the best value from the resources available
• Innovate and make the most of opportunities together
• Respect our difference and create a culture of integrated working.
Page 31

Page 32

Integration Programme
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Working in 11 areas of practical integration to improve customer experiences
Strong focus on operational improvement
Work-streams include NHS and social care partners
Use Project Management and benefit realisation
Secured funding for improvements
Good time to “re-set” and streamline
Status quo not an option because of demand, resources and
customer expectations

Integration Programme Work-streams
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Hospital Discharge
2 Hour Urgent Community Response
Digital Integration
Frailty – Care Homes and Anticipatory Care
Therapies
Customer Contact
Teams Around Patients
Pathways
Culture and Change Management

Page 33

This page is intentionally left blank

Can smoking really end?
County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board

Ailsa Rutter OBE
Director of Fresh and Balance

Agenda Item 6

Page 35

Page 36

The Tobacco industry years
• This is a unique historical phenomenon with a clear beginning – it
CAN have an end – it is within our reach….
• Male smoking peaked in 1948 at 82%
• Female smoking peaked in 1960s at 45%
• 3 of top 5 global companies British
• RCP first outlined comprehensive strategy to tackle smoking in 1962.
Not implemented by UK until 1998
• ASH set up in 1971; Fresh UK’s 1st regional TC programme 2005
• Adult smoking is now 15.3% in the North East /17% Co Durhamnearly halved since 2005

But much higher in some
groups….
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Routine and manual occupations- 23.3%
Serious Mental Illness – 40.9%
Long term mental health condition- 31.0%
Anxiety and depression- 23.9%
Adults admitted for substance misuse (opiates) 58.8%
Adults admitted for alcohol treatment 58.0%
Also still have 15.5% pregnant women smoking at time of delivery

Page 37

PHE tobacco finger tips – accessed 220222

Page 38

Strong evidence base for what to do

….But remains key driver health inequalities

Page 39

Page 40

It can be addressed though and there are real positives

• Most smokers want to quit, yet most
never go near a stop smoking service.
• Smokers can be encouraged, repeatedly
and consistently, to keep making quit
attempts.
• And they can be steered towards
products, such as stop smoking
medications and e-cigarettes, that give
them a better chance of quitting.
• This is a numbers game: if many more
people try to quit more often, more
people will succeed, even though the
likelihood of success of any individual
quit attempt is relatively low.
• The key is triggering more quits at
population level- around 36% smokers
trying to quit annually – get to 45%

• The ten high impact actions for LAs and
partners are:
• 1. Prioritise health inequalities
• 2. Work in partnership esp regionally
• 3. Support every smoker to quit
• 4. Communicate the harms and the hope
• 5. Promote harm reduction
• 6. Tackle illicit tobacco
• 7. Promote smokefree environments
• 8. Enable young people to live smokefree
• 9. Set targets to drive progress
• 10. Protect and promote progressive
tobacco control policy

National landscape crucial“we need bold action…..”
July 2019: We are setting an ambition to go ‘smoke-free’ in
England by 2030- will be new Tobacco Control Plan
APPG on Smoking report June 2021- ‘roadmap’:
- Funding is key. Targeted investment to level up and reduce
inequalities:
o campaigns
o opt out referrals SSS
o social housing and MH conditions
o incentives pregnancy
o regional programmes illicit tobacco
o low cost policy interventions to denormalise smoking
Tobacco amendments draft Health and Care Bill – levy is key
one

Page 41

Page 42

Low cost policy interventions to denormalise
smoking
Including:
• Quit messaging on individual cigarettes and in packs
• Regulating e-cigarettes and other nicotine products to protect young people while helping
adult smokers to quit
• Consider raising the age of sale for tobacco products from 18 to 21:
• Almost all smokers (95%) begin smoking before they turn 21
• Raising age of sale to 21 would reduce smoking rates in 18-20 yr olds by ~30%

26% of all deaths in last 50 years due
to the tobacco industry

Page 43

Page 44

What can you do as a Health and Wellbeing Board?
• Endorse the APPG on Smoking report
• Support the work of the Alliance and implementation of strategic plan- many
partners can be involved
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Public Health
Elected Members
Regulatory Services
Children’s Services
Environmental Health
Other relevant council departments (communications, planning, development, regeneration)
Acute Trust incl Maternity Team
Mental Health Trust
Primary care
Fire & Rescue Services
Police
Education representatives (Primary, Secondary, College, University)
Social Housing
Voluntary and Community Sector groups
Poverty, welfare support
Stop Smoking Service
Pharmacy and Local Pharmaceutical Committee

• Let MPs know of
support
• Please support
@FreshSmokeFree
on twitter
• Responding to
consultations

Agenda Item 7

Health and Wellbeing Board
29 March 2022
Review of the Mental Health Strategic
Partnership and the governance of
Mental Health and Wellbeing across
County Durham

Report of Mike Brierley, Chair of the County Durham Mental Health
Strategic Partnership
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

This report provides an opportunity to review the work of the Mental
Health Strategic Partnership (MHSP) Board Mental Health Strategy
and Concordat (2018-21) within its current structure with options to
reshape the current system-wide governance arrangements for mental
health and wellbeing across County Durham.

2

Changes to the Integrated Care System (ICS) and local CCG
structures, coupled with learning from the impact of COVID-19 on
mental health and wellbeing signal a pertinent time to review lines of
accountability for mental health provision and to progress the
integration agenda across the wider mental health system.

Executive summary
3

The Mental Health Strategic Partnership (MHSP) Board, Mental Health
Strategy and Concordat (2018-21) document highlights the ambition
and commitment of the MHSP to work towards better mental health in
County Durham according to the principles in the national Prevention
Concordat for Better Mental Health.

4

MHSP currently adopts five strategic workstreams to progress mental
health need into deliverables. These workstreams are:
 Children and Young People (via the Children and Young People
Local Transformation and Resilience Plan - LTP),
 Suicide Prevention
 Crisis Care Concordat,
 Dementia
 Resilient Communities Group

Page 45

5

Whilst the MHSP has met infrequently during the COVID-19 response
due to ongoing demands, the five workstreams have continued to
deliver on agreed operational plans and their response to address an
increase in demand for mental health support during Covid lockdown.

6

The Health Impact Assessment (HIA) on Health Inequalities
undertaken during the initial lockdown period was initiated by the
County Durham and Darlington Health, Welfare and Communities
Recovery Group (HIA on Inequalities during COVID-19, July 2020).
The HIA identified mental health and emotional wellbeing remains a
key priority for the system, requiring ongoing focus and investment to
mitigate against the negative impact of the pandemic on local
residents.

7

As part of the Covid response, funding from central government has
instigated the development of several new initiatives to address the
increased demands on mental health provision. These areas of work
have initiated at speed, sometimes with a reduced capacity to enable a
considered system-wide cross reference to other areas of mental
health delivery.

8

Having governance arrangements for a mental health system is
essential, especially during times of complex structural change,
including developments within the ICS, national policy developments
and rapidly changing and increasing need/demand for support.
Durham’s Mental Health Strategy and Concordat is now out of date,
meaning a review of the governance arrangements for the MHSP
comes at an opportune time.

9

Four options for the future of MHSP have been considered. These
include:
 Option A – to stand down the MHSP
 Option B – to retain it within its current format
 Option C – to refresh the Partnership’s role and remit in response
to system-wide changes, including membership and Terms of
Reference.
 Option D – to reaffiliate or merge the five workstreams into other
structural arrangements based within the ICS, or local initiatives.

10

Page 46

The favoured option to support the development of a new system-wide
approach to mental health and wellbeing would be to refresh the role
and remit of the MHSP (Option C) to reflect the new landscape. This
option would enable inclusion of a strategic membership of current
workstreams and extend connectivity with new developments initiated
during the response to Covid.

11

The new arrangement would provide strategic governance for
approaches representing prevention, early intervention, and specialist
service delivery across the life course. This work would contribute to
the County Durham Plan for mental health agreed in the mental health
Outcome, Governance, Improvement and Measurement plan (OGIM).
The coordination of system-wide communications, partnership
working, the integration of the voice of lived experience and workforce
development could also be maximised via this governance
arrangement.

Recommendation(s)
12

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to:
 Note the contents of the report
 Consider the progress of the current 5 MHSP workstreams
 Note the development of the new initiatives developed in direct
response to Covid
 Reflect on the interface with Darlington when considering crisis
care and other services which cover a wider geography.
 Endorse the recommendation for Option C to refresh the role and
remit of MHSP to progress a whole-system approach to mental
health and wellbeing across County Durham

Page 47

Background
13

The MHSP in its current form was initiated in 2018 and continues to
provide the strategic framework for a response to mental health and
emotional wellbeing across the county.

14

The Mental Health Strategic Partnership (MHSP) Board’s Mental
Health Strategy and Concordat (2018-21) document highlighted the
ambition for better mental health in Durham, and the commitment as a
Strategic Partnership Board, to work together according to the
principles in the national Prevention Concordat for Better Mental
Health.

15

The membership of the Mental Health Strategic Partnership Board for
Durham County is drawn from statutory and non-statutory partners
with backgrounds in health, social care, criminal justice, user and
carer, provider and social housing.

16

Reporting to the Health and Wellbeing Board, its remit is to provide
strategic co-ordination and leadership for the mental health agenda
across County Durham and be accountable for the delivery of our
Mental Health Strategic Plan. It is also responsible for the
engagement, consultation and involvement of mental health service
users and carers to support the work of the Health and Wellbeing
Board.

17

Since 2019, the Clinical Commissioning Groups in Tees Valley CCG
and Durham CCG have acted in a formal partnership with Tees Esk
and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV). The Durham,
Darlington and Tees Valley Mental Health and Learning Disabilities
Partnership (DDTVMHLDP) oversees all mental health work
programmes and the majority of mental health commissioning and is
highly likely to remain when CCGs are subsumed into the ICS,
although the landscape and scope may change as the ICS work
programme takes effect and as provider collaboratives develop.

18

Whilst the DDTVMHLDP footprint covers Darlington, strategic partners
including TEWV, Police, Fire and community services have tended to
be split into Tees and Durham/Darlington to better fit operational
service configuration. Tees Valley has a strategic Mental Health
Alliance (their equivalent of the Durham Partnership Board) which
covers all aspects of mental health based around population health
management principles and on which Darlington has a place, however
Durham/Darlington does not have such a joint multiagency strategic
group. Durham HWB may wish to consider options to better align
oversight.

Page 48

19

Based on ‘No health without mental health’ (2013), the national mental
health strategy highlighted significant economic savings can be made
from public mental health interventions and their contribution to
efficiency savings in NHS and social care quality and productivity.

20

The evidence base taken from The Prevention Concordat for Better
Mental Health, reviews of other relevant policy and guidance
documents, plus local data and local consultation recommended the
MHSP adopt five strategic workstreams to progress mental health
need into deliverables. These workstreams were:
 Children and Young People (via the Children and Young People
Local Transformation and Resilience Plan - LTP),
 Suicide Prevention
 Crisis Care Concordat,
 Dementia
 Resilient Communities Group

21

The MHSP Strategic Plan set out 19 key priorities across the five
mental health workstreams, along with a set of outcomes and
indicators highlighting progress has been reviewed on a regular basis.

22

Whilst the MHSP has met infrequently during the COVID-19 response
due to ongoing demands, the five workstreams have continued to
deliver on agreed operational plans and their response to address an
increase in demand for mental health support during lockdown and the
COVID Road Map for Recovery (HM Government, February 2021)

North East and North Cumbria Mental Health Programme
23

The NHS Long Term Plan (2019) commits the Integrated Care System
(ICS) to deliver improved services for mental health, bringing together
local organisations from North Cumbria and the North East to redesign
care and improve population health by creating shared leadership and
joint action.

24

The development of the North East and North Cumbria Mental Health
Programme (NENCMHP) is one of the nine delivery programmes
developed by NENC ICS. The Programme outlines priorities, focusing
on the need to address the physical and mental health of the
population with consideration given to funding, workforce
development, reducing inequalities and provider pressures from a
growing and ageing population.

25

The role of the NENC ICS is to ensure that mental health is fully
integrated across the ‘whole system’ in order to progress the delivery,

Page 49

support the transformation process and is informed by locality
arrangements to help address need.
26

The workstreams dedicated to promoting transformation within the
NENC ICS Mental Health programme are:






Starting Well – Children and Young People
Community Transformation
Parity of Esteem - for mental health and physical health
Health Inequalities
Suicide Prevention

27

To work as a mental health system across the North East, the
configuration of work across the ICS will need to capture not only
regional programmes of delivery but also local place-based activity
undertaken to improve mental health and wellbeing based within each
local authority area. To achieve this, links need to be made with
current local governance structures, and discussions about how this
can best be achieved are ongoing. In County Durham, at the present
time this would be the MHSP.

28

To ensure the ICS programme for mental health provides efficacy and
reach at a local level, mechanisms for devolved coordination should be
established to ensure outcomes are joined-up and relevant for local
residents. This system-wide work requires population health
management approaches for prevention as well as the need for
specialist services across a range of settings.

29

Governance for mental health specialist services managing Serious
Mental Illness (SMI’s), other mental health conditions , Autism and
Learning Disabilities is currently overseen by Durham, Darlington and
Teesside NHS Mental Health and Learning Disability Partnership. This
partnership brings together Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS
Foundation Trust, the CCG, local authorities, VCSE providers and
other healthcare service providers from Durham and the Tees Valley

Current MHSP Workstream Overview
30

In County Durham, the MHSP continues to be the conduit for the 5workstreams to progress their plans and provide the Board with
information to enable scrutiny of the deliverables. Significant work has
been undertaken within the last 3-years to provide tangible outcomes.

County Durham Children and Young People’s Mental Health (CYPM MH)
Partnership (previously the County Durham Children and Young People Mental
Health and Emotional Wellbeing Local Transformation Plan Group (“LTP”)

Page 50

31

The multi-agency County Durham Children and Young People’s
Mental Health and Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience Local
Transformation Plan Group, usually referred to as the “LTP” was
renamed to the Children and Young Peoples Mental Health
Partnership group in February 2021, the group continues to oversee
the wider system in relation to children and young people’s mental
health.

32

The previous County Durham Children and Young People’s Mental
Health, Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience Local Transformation Plan
(2015-2020) (CYP MH LTP) was approved by the Health and
Wellbeing Board in November 2018.

33

The previous CYP MH LTP was based on the five themes within
“Future in Mind”, which have been further built upon to develop key
objectives for a renewed plan.

34

In February 2021, a Position Statement on CYP MH Partnership Group was
produced for the Children, Young People and Families Partnership Board
(CYPFPB) to enable the Board to review options for the governance of
CYP’s mental health across County Durham.

35

After consideration by the CYPFPB it was agreed that CYP’s mental
health and emotional wellbeing remained its own bespoke workstream
with governance and accountability overseen by the CYPFPB and the
MHSP. This action was undertaken to ensure the mental health and
emotional wellbeing of CYP’s were not lost in a larger agenda and
pathways and deliverables remain robust.

36

The outcome of the process undertaken by the CYPFPB will need to
be considered when exploring future options for the MHSP in terms of
the CYP MH Partnership governance arrangements. If future
consideration is made to stand the MHSP down, this action would
need to be reported into the CYPFPB for ratification with a new set of
options for the positioning of the CYP MH Partnership being
deliberated.

37

It must also be noted that CYP’s are only featured within work on
Transitional age group workstream of the Community Mental Health
transformation, merged with work within the local authority at the
current time, but to retain connectivity this work is being taken forward
jointly with the CYP workstreams.

38

However, the work of the CYP MH Partnership Group has many
mental health system-wide interdependencies with Children Social
Care services, early help and prevention services, Suicide Prevention,
Crisis Care, Education, VCSE and work within local communities and
is used to address ongoing mental health needs of CYP’s.
Page 51

Suicide Prevention

39

The County Durham Suicide Alliance was initiated to deliver a multiagency approach to implement the actions recommended by the
national Suicide Prevention Strategy (DH, 2012), subsequent annual
reports updated in 2017 (DH, 2017) and the Local Suicide Prevention
Planning 2020.

40

The Suicide Prevention Alliance Action Plan has been developed with
partners address the need for every local area to focus on this agenda
and meet the key objectives. This includes reducing suicide rates in
the population and providing better support for those bereaved or
affected by suicide, including families and the wider community.

41

The Suicide Prevention Alliance has successfully progressed a local
comprehensive work programme which has included the initiation of a
Real Time data Surveillance (RTDS) system, community prevention
initiatives including those at high-risk locations, development of postvention referrals for families and communities at risk and a small
grants scheme promoting anti stigma and discrimination initiatives.

42

The local Suicide Prevention Alliance Plan has embraced the delivery
of NENC ICS Mental Health programme for suicide prevention via
funding allocations disseminated through the ICS and has also worked
to address local need. The Samaritans have commended County
Durham’s approach to suicide prevention during a review of all
national suicide prevention plans.

43

The local governance arrangements managed by the MHSP has
enabled the suicide prevention agenda to link directly with the Crisis
Care Concordat and the Durham, Darlington and Teesside Mental
Health and Learning Disabilities Partnership to work on the ambition
for reducing suicide rates.

44

Links have also been cemented with the County Durham’s Children’s
and Young People Mental Health Emotional Wellbeing and Resilience
Transformation Plan and the County Durham and Darlington
Community Mental Health Framework.

Crisis Care Concordat
45

Page 52

The Mental Health Crisis Care Concordat in County Durham and
Darlington was part of a national agreement between services and
agencies involved in the care and support of people in mental health
crisis across the life course. The Concordat has set out how
organisations will work together better to make sure that people get
the help they need, when they need it. However, there is no national
mandate to maintain the Concordat from 2020.

46

The Crisis Care Concordat Local Action Plan mirrored the objectives of
the national concordat and focused on implementation of the policy
arrangements for patients detained under section 136 of the Mental
Health Act. The work programme concluded in 2021 with all strategic
objectives to better integrate services completed. Operational crisis
management continues to be addressed through the bi-monthly
Multiagency Urgent Care Group meetings for Durham and Darlington.

47

This work has now been integrated to work led by TEWV for the CCG
within the Durham Tees Valley Mental Health and Learning Disabilities
Partnership, with Darlington being aligned to County Durham due to
the structure and geographical coverage of teams and partners
involved. This arrangement and the position of Darlington in the MHSP
will need to be formalised as the decision on the future of the MHSP is
made.

Dementia
48

In a recent Mental Health and Ageing Well workshop, dementia was
highlighted as being an area of delivery which does not always sit
comfortably within a mental health arena, due to its organic nature. In
County Durham Social Care have historically held responsibility for the
Dementia Plan on the Page. Despite being one of the five workstream
under the MHSP, dementia is outside the scope of the national
community mental health transformation programme.

49

Work on the review of the County Durham Dementia Plan on a page
was put on hold during the pandemic, but activity has now been
resumed and this is now the Dementia OGIM. The Dementia Advisor
Service has continued to offer a virtual service and an interim offer of
Welfare Calls to all existing and new service users has been
implemented.

50

Dementia support is expanding through primary care via Social
Prescribing Link Workers to develop referral pathways. Referral
pathways are also being developed with the newly formed Older
People’s Crisis Service and the Intermediate Care and Discharge
Service. Attendance at GP team meetings is currently being explored
by the team following the implementation of the Right Care, Right
Place programme.

51

As part of the Options proposed for the future of the MHSP,
consideration needs to be made about where the governance of
dementia is best aligned to ensure partners with a vested interest in
ensuring suffers and their families are given full support within both the
health and social care system.

Page 53

Resilient Communities
52

The role of the Resilient Communities Group (RCG) is to work together
to develop and improve mental wellbeing and resilience in local
communities. The Resilient Communities Group has a fully inclusive
membership by being open to organisations who deliver services and
those who represent specific communities or groups such as service
users or carers.

53

Under the governance of the MHSP, the RCG works to promote
mental health and wellbeing in adults but with reference to those from
vulnerable groups. This is achieved by championing the Wellbeing
Approach and contributing to the ability to address the wider
determinants of mental health such as housing, employment and
poverty; reducing social exclusion by addressing stigma and
discrimination.

54

During the initial response to COVID-19, the RCG linked in with the
development of the council’s Community Hub ensured proactive
contact with the 25,909 people registered on the shielded list.

55

The RCG works by building on the positive level of personal and
community resilience within local communities and an active use of
existing, local assets which was especially prevalent during the
response phase of the pandemic. Specific pathways for fast-track
access into mental health support services were developed by TEWV
and the Community Hub.

56

This level of community mobilisation and use of VCSE community
assets accelerated by the response to COVID-19 lockdown has helped
to accelerate the vision of ‘County Durham Together.’

57

In February 2020 the work programme priorities were reviewed and
agreed by the RCG. This included separating membership into ‘Core’
and ‘Wider’ groupings and focusing on specific tasks. The governance
of this group will require consideration not only from a mental health
perspective, but also as part of new community structures and the
County Durham Together programme.

Impact of COVID-19 on Mental Health and Wellbeing
58

Page 54

Evidence continues to build, highlighting the impact of COVID-19
inequalities and mental health and emotional wellbeing. It has
manifested itself in anxiety and depression especially in young people,
women, groups with lower household income, people with a preexisting mental health conditions, people living with children and those
residing in urban conurbations.

59

The impact of COVID-19 on adults of working age has been significant
due to periods of profound inactivity, lack of connectivity to others and
economic uncertainty. Financial insecurity, housing insecurity, debt
and a new reliance on welfare for families all elevate stress and
anxiety levels has result in relationship breakdown, substance misuse,
domestic abuse and a rise in safeguarding concerns within the family
unit.

60

For those working on the front line, mental health and emotional
wellbeing has been significantly affected. This has been identified as
being due to a lack of ability to respond adequately to their duties due
to imposed constrains.

61

Recently the Office of Health Improvement and Disparities reported on
a large study post Covid study on self-harm which indicated 26.1% of
adults 18+ reported thoughts relating to self-harm and 7.9% exhibited
self-harm behaviours during the first year of the pandemic.

62

UCL have published data via the WICH tool, which indicates the NE
shows a statistical difference to other regions in ‘life satisfaction’ and
‘self-worth’ scores when compared to the pre pandemic period.

63

During Covid, all partnerships report the entire system has
experienced a significant and sustained increase in demand for mental
health and emotional wellbeing support, especially in the past 18
months, which re-emphasises the need for a co-ordinated system
response and designated plan.

Page 55

64

This remains relevant as any potential surge in mental ill health within
the general population may be set to increase further with a prolonged
period of economic instability being caused by increases in the cost of
living.

65

Each of the MHSP workstreams continue to progress their affiliated
action plans whilst also reacting to the demands placed on them by
COVID-19. However, during the pandemic significant funding has also
devolved by central government to the ICS to address the increase in
mental health ill health.

66

Locally much of this funding occurred outside the governance
arrangement of the MHSP, but the system response has resulted in
the majority of funding being re directed to VCSE and primary care,
with some also into County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation
Trust (CDDFT).

67

However, in the temporary absence of a place-based partnership
board, the extent to which we have been able to easily develop
central, strategic governance for this work has been a challenge. At
times this has created risks leading to silo working and in some
instances a duplication in delivery. Work driven by the ICS has
prioritised a mental health service focus in some instances and
requires further work to connect with local prevention work designed to
address the wider determinants impacting on communities at a placebased level.

68

In addition to the 5 workstreams governed by the MHSP, several new
initiatives have emerged to address transformational change to
address the increase demands on the system. These areas of work
have initiated at speed, sometimes with a reduced capacity to enable a
considered system-wide cross reference to other areas of mental
health delivery. The Covid response has also seen new programmes
of work. The new workstreams have included (and this is not an
exhaustive list):

Newly Emerging Mental Health Structures
County Durham Prevention Board
69

Page 56

Managed through the County Durham Prevention Board a county-wide
communications campaign was initiated at the beginning of lockdown
to engage children and young people, adults and the workplace. A
public mental health campaign ran up until 2020-21 to address mental
health in the workplace, community issues such as social isolation, low
level anxiety and debt. A new Spring Campaign funded through Mental
Health at Scale budget and Community Outbreak Management
Funding (COMF) is planned to engage the community, with a specific

focus on working-age adult men to maintain the impetus on wellbeing
approaches.
70

Employee Assistance Programme for employees and workplaces,
have been maintained to help to increase access to services.
Information and support for those who may be facing redundancy with
emphasis on associated mental health and wellbeing issues has been
made available. The Connect 5 Train the Trainer programme has also
been initiated to run alongside existing mental health clinical provision,
DCC is now working with regional colleagues to look at implementation
of this programme.

Community Mental Health Framework
71

Supported with transformation funding through NHS England and
Improvement (NHSE/I), the NHS Long Term Plan includes a high-level
ambition to deliver a Community Mental Health transformation to
enable adults with SMI of all ages to access to evidence based
treatment and support using a collaborative approach, building on
strengths and supporting choice. As well as delivering a new
integrated model of care based at place (where place is defined as
Primary Care Network), there is also a requirement to transform
services in 3 dedicated focus areas – complex emotional needs
(personality disorders), adult eating disorders and community
rehabilitation.

72

Within Durham, a multi-agency Steering Group has been established
to move work forward and provide a level of system oversight.
Currently this group formally reports into the DDTVMHLDP and the
PCN Clinical Directors (to maintain connectedness with primary care).
The intention for true system ownership at place would be for this
group to also report into the MHSP and from there the County Durham
Care Partnership.

73

By linking the work of the MHSP with the Community Mental Health
Framework (CMHF) a shared governance arrangement is proving to
be beneficial for ensuring a system-wide approach is implemented,
helping to transform mental health provision across the County.

Mental Health Alliance
74

Durham County Council have (pre-Covid) progressed an innovative
approach to providing a range of support services for mental health
wellbeing for people across Durham County, including prevention,
early identification and recovery support.

75

The aim of the Alliance model is to co-produce and co-ordinate a
range of support services for people with mental health needs. This
Page 57

will be undertaken by improving access to information and support,
removing the barriers between services and departments and
improving and strengthening partnership working to further integrate
care and health services.
76

The new Alliance will go live on 1st April 2022, and will be managed by
a consortia of primary support services, with affiliated sub-contract
arrangements to help implement pathways for people in the
community including:






physical activities
relationship support
self-development and stress management
housing and employment support
routes to education and volunteering

77

The Mental Health and Wellbeing Alliance brings together a number of
providers to address the wider determinants influencing mental health;
helping prevent entry (and re-entry) into statutory health and social
care systems; reducing suicide; preventing negative outcomes
associated with mental health issues and promoting positive outcomes
related to good mental health and wellbeing.

78

Connectivity between the Alliance Contract, the CMHF and local NHS
mental health services and other VCSE services will be essential to
provide a wider scope of options for any person, or family requiring
mental health support. It is yet unclear about how this interface will
work and what strategic structures will ensure the multiple approaches
are integrated across the county.

County Durham COVID Resilience Team
79

Through COVID and supported with non-recurrent COVID surge
monies, TEWV have worked in partnership with the Resilient
Communities Group to develop a Mental Health Resilience Team to
facilitate timely access to wellbeing, psychosocial and psychological
interventions across the communities based across County Durham.

80

Using a model based on learning from previous from other resiliency
hubs e.g., following Manchester bombing, the Resilience Team is
responsive to local peoples’ mental health and wellbeing needs who
have been impacted directly by COVID-19, including COVID-19
survivors; mental health impact of lockdown on vulnerable groups;
moral injury amongst all frontline staff (from any sector).

81

The provision of Mental Health Resilience Workers adds capacity into
VCSE for 13 COVID response workers (1 per Primary Care Network

Page 58

(PCN) who are employed via the VCSE but based within local PCN
areas, providing excellent links with primary care Social Prescribing
Link Workers Pathways and the County Durham Community Hub.
82

The role of the Resilient Communities Group and County Durham
Together ‘connectors’ workstream is important to ensure the
Resilience Team is promoted and delivered across wider partnerships
engaged in prevention initiatives.

Working with the Community and Voluntary Sector
83

During 2021/22, the DDTVMHLDP agreed to establish a Community
Connector Fund as an alternative way to support grass roots
organisations. The Fund has issued funding grants for voluntary
organisations and community groups to provide mental health and
wellbeing support to the population of County Durham.

84

The non-recurrent funding has been provided through the Durham,
Darlington and Teesside Mental Health and Learning Disability
Partnership aligned across the Mental Health Investment Standard
categories. It is administered by the County Durham Community
Foundation on behalf of the partnership and wider system. Maximum
bids issued have been £25,000 over three rounds of funding.

85

There is an ongoing issue that potential opportunities for funding
mental health and wellbeing programmes may cause duplication within
the arena of small grants. This includes work being delivered by the
Area Action Partnerships disseminating funding for smaller VCSE. A
refresh of the function of the MHSP may help to coordinate this small
grant’s approach to funding going forward.

86

Local intelligence and that of Durham Community Foundation raises
that many voluntarily sector organisations have had many small grant
opportunities during the pandemic, however, many of these grants are
set to end in 2022. It also likely that the ending of European funding
during this time will have significant impact on the sector. As such a
future funding round will be issued in mid-2022.

Working Using a Whole System to address Mental Health
92

When considering the future of the MHSP it is worth reflecting if within
its current format the partnership works to promote a system-wide
approach to addressing mental health and wellbeing across County
Durham.

93

The current Mental Health Strategic Partnership (MHSP) Board’s Mental
Health Strategy and Concordat (2018-21) document highlights the

Page 59

ambition for better mental health in Durham, but the plan went out of
date in 2020/21.
94

95

96

The Durham Plan and specifically the Mental Health Outcome, Goals,
Innovation Measure plan (OGIM’s) may provide the structure to help
developing a new shared vision for mental health and wellbeing. This
has already united partners with different backgrounds and agendas to
form a common aspiration and help to maximise outcomes, reduce
duplication and provide value for money across the system, and a
refreshed MHSP could provide a helpful governance framework to
support delivery of this.
.
The MHSP is ideally placed to provide a forum for partners engaged in
the mental health and wellbeing of the County, ensuring different parts
of the system to move forward together, maximising synergies and
creating a more impactful approach.
Reflecting on current landscape of post-Covid working, the table below
provides an options appraisal for the potential future of the MHSP,
taking into account the multiple components and complexity involved in
mental health delivery. The outcome of this process will inform the
ability to progress a system-wide approach to promoting mental health
and wellbeing across County Durham.

Table 1. Option Consideration for MHSP
Options

Considerations

Benefits

Option A Stand down
MHSP









Page 60

Partnership has met
minimally during
Covid and work has
continued
5 workstreams have
self-managed
themselves on an
independent basis
during Covid.
New ICS
configuration may
mean new
requirement for MH
governance on a
wider footprint with
County Durham
becoming the placebased delivery.



Risk/Disadvantages

New ICS

structures can
develop and
align to provide
new governance
arrangements for
MH provision

5 MHSP
workstreams
become affiliated
with other ICS
governance
structures.


No governance
arrangement for
system-wide
approach to MH
prevention in the
county
5 current
workstreams are
not accountable,
or aligned to any
Board, or the new
Covid MH
initiatives
Reduces
opportunity to
provide oversight
on a complex
system preventing





Option B –
retain MHSP
in its current
format











Option C Refresh the
MHSP to
consider its
role and remit
including
membership
and ToR.





New Covid initiatives
are aligned to
CDDMHLD
Partnership.
Many new MH
initiatives stipulate
similar aims e.g
addressing CYP’s
mental health,
loneliness and social
isolation.

MHSP provides
current system
leadership for MH
prevention provision
across the county
MHSP has provided
governance for 5
areas of MH priority
since 2018-21
5 workstreams have
developed overtime
and delivered on
their plans providing
quality assurance
MHSP integrates the
voice of the service
user into the
governance
arrangements
MHSP will provide
stability for the
system especially
during times of
change











New ICS/ICP

configuration may
provide opportunities
for 5 workstreams to
become integrated
into a new
governance
arrangement
MH initiatives started 
during Covid will be

Provides
oversight of
prevention and
early intervention
across the
system not just
focus on
services
5 priority
workstreams
have developed
overtime and
delivered on their
plans providing
quality
assurance
MHSP integrates
the voice of the
service user into
the governance
arrangements
MHSP provides
recognised
stability for the
system
especially during
times of change
Refresh can
provide an
opportunity for
MHSP to provide
system-wide
governance for
MH across the
county
Refresh can
reinvigorate













duplication and
silo working
Consideration of
integration of CYP
mental health was
considered by
CYP Integration
Board rejected but
this was rejected
over concerns for
the agenda being
lost.
Focus on 5
current
workstreams do
not include many
of the new MH
initiatives initiated
in response to
Covid
May cross over
agendas with
CMHLD
Partnership
working
Retaining the
Board can be
seen as more of
the same despite
Covid and new
ways of working.
Many new
partners have not
had previous
engagement with
MHSP at a board
level.

New MH services
initiated during
Covid may not
feel affiliated to
MHSP
Consideration of
the ICS needs to
be considered
when
understanding a
Page 61



included for an
enhanced overview
of the work.
A refresh of the role
and remit for the
Partnership is timely
as the Mental Health
Strategy and
Concordat (2018-21)
document has now
ended.







Option D



Re affiliate or
merge the 5
workstreams

into other
structural
arrangements
based within

the ICS, or
other local
initiatives.



Page 62

There are many

other ICS local
governance
arrangements linked
to the 5 workstreams
LTP – could be
affiliated with CYP
Integration Board

(recently considered)
Suicide prevention –
could have direct
governance from
ISC Suicide

Prevention Core
Group
Crisis Care
Concordat – could
be affiliated to
DDTCMHLD
Partnership.

membership to
ensure the Board
acts a strategic
level.
MH initiatives
developed during
Covid can be
integrated into
the system-wide
approach to
reduce
duplication in
approaches.
Provides
system-wide
opportunities for
links made
between
programmes of
support to
provide shared
comms and
workforce
development.
Voice of lived
experience can
be included
within the
membership
Meets
Integration
agenda by
merging or
affiliating groups
into other
arrangements
Reduced to
number of
governance
structures based
within local area
Reduces
meetings

place-based
approach locally
especially when
considering the
position of
Darlington.






Proposed model
does not provide
a system-wide
approach to
mental health and
emotional
wellbeing
Can produce
further silo
working
mental health is
not given the
parity of esteem in
its own right and
focus maybe lost.





Dementia – could be
affiliated to wider
PCN, mental health
services or social
care.
Resilient
Communities –
merged within are of
County Durham
Together

97

Considering the future for MHSP, the favoured option to support the
development of a new system-wide approach to mental health and
wellbeing across County Durham would be to refresh the strategic
membership of the group (Option C). This option would enable inclusion
of current workstreams and extend connectivity with new developments,
including those initiated during the response to Covid.

98

The new arrangement would provide strategic governance for
approaches representing prevention, early intervention, and specialist
service delivery. The coordination of system-wide communications,
partnership working, the integration of the voice of lived experience and
workforce development could also be achieved.

Conclusion
99

Good mental health is fundamental to improving positive physical, social
and economic outcomes for individuals and society. Factors influencing
mental health and emotional wellbeing are directly linked to the wider
determinants of health which have been significantly impacted by the
COVID-19 pandemic.

100

The current MHSP have met minimally during Covid due to capacity
and demand issues during the pandemic. However, the five MHSP subgroups for Children and Young People (via the Children and Young
People Local Transformation and Resilience Plan - LTP), Suicide
Prevention Alliance, Crisis Care Concordat, Dementia and the Resilient
Communities Group have continued to progress their plans and deliver
on agreed outcomes.

101

During Covid, funding from central government has meant many new
programmes of support have been developed at speed to respond to
the increase in mental health issues occurring as a direct result of
Covid. These new developments are not currently included within a
system-wide governance arrangement for mental health and wellbeing
within County Durham.

Page 63

102

The NHS Plan referred to as the County Durham Plan and the affiliated
OGIM can now provide the plan for mental health and wellbeing delivery
across the county and will be monitored on a quarterly basis.

103

An option appraisal undertaken recommends a refresh of the MHSP
role and function should be implemented. A refresh of the membership
would be beneficial to include strategic leads for current workstreams
and new initiatives, providing governance for prevention, early
intervention and links to specialist services implementing a system-wide
approach. This action would help to streamline the complexity of the
systems pathways, encourage networking and maximise outcomes for
local residents.

Background papers


County Durham Health Impact Assessment on Inequalities during
COVID-19.

Author(s)
Jane Sunter

Page 64

Tel: 03000 266897

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Central government have initiated a series of Covid lockdowns system in a
fresh attempt to control the virus. the Covid Road Map (Feb 2021) has
indicated the country’s way out of Covid restrictions coupled with a
comprehensive vaccination programme.

Finance
Funding to address the mental health and wellbeing needs of County Durham
has been maintained during the COVID-19 response. Government have
allocated £5 million during COVID-19 to help increase capacity and maximise
impact of mental health on local communities.

Consultation
The consultation and engagement with local individuals, families and
communities is a core principle for supporting any new system-wide
developments, recommended by the County Durham Approach to Wellbeing.
The use of co-production is a fundamental to developing any new pathways,
or services for mental health support.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
The County Durham Health Impact Assessment on Inequalities during
COVID-19 highlights the requirement for inclusion to be factored into all
aspects of addressing the pandemic in relation to mental health and wellbeing.

Climate Change
No direct impact.

Human Rights
COVID-19 restrictions are now a legal requirement for all society to adhere to
for the greater good of all.

Crime and Disorder
Crime and disorder levels have now resumed to pre-COVID levels. There is
potential for these levels to rise when the full financial impact of COVID is
realised

Page 65

Staffing
Staffing levels in primary care, mental health services and VCSE are reported
to have been impacted during COVID-19 due to sickness levels, the
requirement for self-isolation and the shielding policy.

Accommodation
N/a

Risk
The negative impacts on mental health and wellbeing are expected to rise
during the prolonged COVID-19 response and during the unlocking of Covid
restrictions

Procurement
N/a

Page 66

Health and Wellbeing Board

Agenda Item 8

29 March 2022
Inclusive Economic Strategy

Report of Amy Harhoff, Director of Regeneration, Economy and
Growth, Durham County Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

This report gives an overview of the process that is being followed to
develop a new Inclusive Economic Strategy for the council. It is a
priority of the County Council to engage in the development of the
strategy from the very start of the process through ‘Our Big Econversation’.

Executive summary
2

In December 2021, the council’s Cabinet agreed to the process for
developing a new Inclusive Economic Strategy using a three-stage
process:
(a)

Economic Review: Core evidence base (Appendix 3);

(b)

Economic Statement: A short document to inform the
conversations on the new strategy (Appendix 4); and

(c)

Conversation and Strategy Development: A broad
conversation with stakeholders and partners which will be used to
develop a draft strategy.

3

The new strategy will be in place by the end of the calendar year.

4

It is important to understand the views and aspirations of a wide range
of stakeholders, including residents and businesses, before the strategy
is developed and to facilitate this a major consultation exercise was
launched at the end of January. This is called ‘Our Big Econ-versation’
and is structured to enable people and organisations to participate
either digitally through the completion of an online survey or by joining
in on one of the many conversation events that will be held focusing in
on specific sectors, geographies, or stakeholder group.

5

The Econ-versation will end on 22 April. We will then collate and
analyse all of the comments made pulling out the key issues, barriers
and opportunities as well as any suggested actions and priorities. We

Page 67

will then prepare a feedback report which will clearly identify what was
said and how it has been taken into account. This will also inform the
drafting of the Inclusive Economic Strategy which we will then consult
on again in the summer where we will be asking whether what has been
prepared reflects what was said. We will then amend the draft strategy
as necessary before it is finalised and adopted by the end of 2022.
6

The Inclusive Economic Strategy will be a key document to support the
County’s economic growth in the future.

Recommendation
7

Health and Wellbeing Board Members are invited to consider the
process and provide any comments on key areas to be considered as
part of ‘Our Big Econ-versation’.

Background
8

Page 68

In December 2021 the council’s Cabinet agreed an approach to develop
a new Inclusive Economic Strategy based on a three-stage process:

(a)

Economic Review: Core evidence base (Appendix 3);

(b)

Economic Statement: A short document to inform the
conversations on the new strategy (Appendix 4); and

(c)

Conversation and Strategy Development: A broad
conversation with stakeholders and partners which will be used to
develop a draft strategy.

9

Cabinet agreed that the strategy would be based on the evidence in an
Economic Review and adopted a short Economic Statement until the
strategy is completed.

10

Some of the findings of the Economic Review include:


The Gross Value Added (GVA) of our economy has grown by
£2.6 billion over the last fifteen years to £9 billion, which is a 44%
rate of growth but significantly below the national rate of 64%;



At £16,925 our GVA per capita is 56% of the national average of
£30,239. If we had matched national levels of growth in the last
fifteen years, it would be around 10% higher at around £18,400;



The employment rate is lower than the national average with
73.8% of the working age population in employment, compared to
74.7% nationally, accounting for £105 million of the gap in GVA
levels;



89% of County Durham’s primary schools are either outstanding
or good, comparable to 88% nationally;



County Durham has a far lower proportion of residents with higher
level skills (40%) than the national average (50%);



ONS population estimates suggest there will be an additional
36,850 people aged 65 and over (+33.3%) resident in County
Durham by 2039, while there will be 9,400 fewer people across
the key working age groups;



Over 22,000 residents in County Durham are economically
inactive due to long-term health conditions, accounting for 29.5%
of those classed as economically inactive, exceeding the regional
(28.8%) and national (23.0%) proportions;



Manufacturing and health are County Durham’s most prominent
employment sectors, accounting for 13.7% of employment
(50,000 people) each;

Page 69

11

12

Page 70



County Durham already has an established reputation for
innovation and a specialism in Research and Development.
Research suggests that if the level of innovation was to match
Cambridge this could create 16,000 additional jobs;



Sectors which are under-represented include: professional,
scientific and technical professions that account of 4.4% of jobs in
County Durham compared to 9.8% nationally;



On average, 10% of businesses have ceased per annum over the
last five years, which is considerably lower than the regional
attrition rate;



11.7% of the workforce work in caring and leisure roles compared
to 8.8% nationally. Similarly, only 8.7% of the workforce are in
managerial and senior roles compared to 11.8% nationally; and



The median house price in 2019 in County Durham was
£120,000, the lowest across all North East local authorities,
marginally below the North East average (£140,000) and
significantly below the national figure (£240,000).

The Economic Statement identifies the relevant elements of the Council
Plan, summarises the recommendations and key economic evidence
from the Economic Review, and sets out a framework to use to develop
the new strategy. The ‘5P framework’ is based around five key elements
which we will use to structure discussions with stakeholders:
(a)

People: Supporting people into education, training, jobs, and to
excel in business and their careers

(b)

Prosperity: Supporting business innovation, growth, and higher
levels of productivity

(c)

Places: Improving places and infrastructure so people and
businesses can access opportunities

(d)

Promotion: Promotion of the County and our assets to visitors,
investors, and developers

(e)

Partnerships: Working in partnership to develop an inclusive,
greener economy

Cabinet agreed that the development of the strategy should be
preceded by a conversation with stakeholders across the county to
understand their views on economic opportunities and challenges. It
was agreed that a comprehensive report would be produced to analyse
the feedback from the conversations and support the development of a

draft strategy that we then further consult on before adoption in autumn
2022.

Our Big Econ-versation
13

In January, a stakeholder engagement process was launched as ‘Our
Big Econ-versation’. The conversation is supported by its own website
which has been designed to catch people’s attention, surveys for
businesses, residents and young people, and a comprehensive media
campaign including social media, press releases, bus advertising, case
studies of residents and businesses, County Durham News, posters,
and advertising.

14

The council is also organising several bespoke events with businesses
including a Business Breakfast on 29 March 2022, presentations and
workshops for the county’s Business Networks, the North East England
Chamber of Commerce, Registered Providers, Enterprise Agencies and
the County Durham Start Up Network. We are also holding workshops
with the North East Local Enterprise Partnership to discuss evidence
and delivery and with Durham University and the NHS Foundation
Trusts to discuss the role of anchor organisations. To reflect the
importance of the visitor economy we will also be working with Visit
County Durham on a specific workshop.

15

We are also working with our communities and our members through
presentations and discussion at Area Action Partnerships, promoting
the conversation at meetings hosted by other bodies such as the
County Durham thematic partnerships, external organisations and town
and parish councils. We are also working specifically with the County
Durham Together Partnership to encourage engagement in the
conversation including through distributing a facilitation pack which
enables the huge number of groups in their network to hold their own
workshops and feedback their comment. We are also working with our
Community Champions and are arranging a series of workshops to
explore different topics. We intend to use this approach throughout the
Econ-versation, using some of the principles of co-production, including
through asking for volunteers to get involved as part of our over 18
survey.

16

The council is asking our partners and stakeholders to promote the
conversation amongst their networks. Appendix 2 includes a sample of
stakeholders that we are engaging with, although we are identifying and
making arrangements to speak to additional stakeholders on a daily
basis.

17

In the early phases of the conversation period, all events have been
online, but as Covid-19 restrictions are lifted a number of face-to face

Page 71

workshops are planned to take place. We are also working with
colleagues across the council (e.g. public health, the gypsy and traveller
service), external partners (e.g. voluntary and community groups), and
programmes (e.g. DurhamWorks) to ensure the conversations include
individuals and groups that may not have ICT equipment or may need
additional support in order to respond. Responses and feedback - via
discussions, surveys, social media, and website visits - are being
constantly monitored and the conversation methods are being adjusted
as lessons are learnt.
18

The conversations will take place until 22 April 2022. The number of
survey responses is averaging around 100 per week which is positive,
and these are being supplemented with feedback from the meetings
and events we are organising. However, in order to improve response
rates, and address some feedback, we have made changes to the
surveys, which alongside events and promotion have increased
response rates. We are determined to use an interactive approach and
engage with as many people and groups as possible providing
feedback throughout the process. We will also be using elements of coproduction where the council and the community work together,
recognising that both have vital contributions to make, in order to
improve the quality of life for our people and communities.

19

Early feedback from surveys and meetings includes many comments
linking health and wellbeing to the economy, including:
 High numbers of care worker jobs are available but few in other
sectors;
 Awareness of young people that the care sector is a valid career
option;
 Homeworking is an opportunity for people with long-term sickness
issues, disabilities, people with caring responsibilities, and young
people;
 The costs and time needed for childcare impact on the ability of
people to access education;
 Mental health issues identified by young people;
 The high levels of anti-social behaviour by young people in town
centres potentially having an impact on people’s mental health; and
 Access to doctors and dentists is identified regularly and the need to
match these services to new housing and ageing population has
been identified.

Page 72

20

The surveys are designed in a way that allows the council to drill-down
into localised and individualised feedback, which will be assessed
during the conversation period and in the report that is produced to
evaluate the outcomes of the conversations.

Inclusive Economic Strategy
21

The draft strategy will be produced for consultation in the summer.
Alongside this, we will present a report to Cabinet which demonstrates
how the conversations have shaped the strategy. Subject to the second
consultation and Cabinet approval we will finalise the strategy and take
it back to Cabinet for final approval before publication.

22

The strategy will align with other corporate strategies such as the
County Durham Vision, County Durham Plan, and Climate Emergency
Response Plan and the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

23

The Government has invited the council to develop a county devolution
deal and investment plan1, associated with the UK Shared Prosperity
Fund (the replacement for EU funding). The Inclusive Economic
Strategy will be integral to the process of agreeing opportunities and
priorities for support with the Government, as well as regional bodies
and private investors. The Government has also published the Levelling
Up White Paper2 which gives a strong indication of the Government’s
medium-term priorities and where we might be able to expect or
negotiate support and investment via a county deal. The White Paper
includes twelve ‘missions’ against which the Government is seeking
tangible improvements. One of these missions relates to health a further
relates to wellbeing.

Conclusion
24

The new Inclusive Economic Strategy will be vital for the council to
define and demonstrate its approach to tackling economic issues and
harnessing economic opportunities to local and regional stakeholders,
the Government and investors. Our Big Econ-versation will be a chance
to engage with a wide range of stakeholders on challenges and
opportunities and evaluate the economic evidence base. The
conversation will continue until 22 April and will underpin the
development of the new strategy by the end of 2022.

Background papers


1
2

Our Big Econ-versation website

Pre-launch guidance was published in February, with further guidance due in spring 2022.
www.gov.uk/government/news/government-unveils-levelling-up-plan-that-will-transform-uk

Page 73



Inclusive Economic Strategy Cabinet report

Author
Glenn Martin

Page 74

glenn.martin@durham.gov.uk

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The Inclusive Economic Strategy work will be used to negotiate the devolution
of powers from the Government.

Finance
The Inclusive Economic Strategy work will be used to negotiate the devolution
of finance from the Government.

Consultation
Our Big Econ-versation runs from 31 January to 22 April 2022.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
The Council will take all opportunities to get feedback from hard to reach
groups across the county and the strategy will be accompanied by an
equalities impact assessment.

Climate Change
The strategy will balance economic growth with opportunities to minimise the
impacts of climate change.

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
None.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
None.

Procurement
Consultants have been procured to support Our Big Econ-versation, develop a
county deal proposal, and draft the new Inclusive Economic Strategy.

Page 75

Appendix 2: Stakeholder conversations

 County Durham Partnership
Board
 County Durham Thematic
Partnerships
 Area Action Partnerships
 Employability Partnerships
 Business Workshop Event
 Business Durham Networks
 Visit County Durham
 Durham Business Improvement
District
 Durham Business Club
 Aycliffe Business Park
 East Durham Business Network
 Drum Business Park Group
 Bishop Auckland and Shildon
Business Community
 Local Enterprise Agencies
 North East Federation of Small
Businesses
 North East Chamber of
Commerce
 North East Confederation of
British Industry
 Voluntary and Community
Sector
 Engineering and Manufacturing
Network
 Home Builders Federation

Page 76

























Trade Unions
Community Champions
Durham Youth Council
Disabled people
People with long-term illnesses
Registered Housing Providers
Gypsy & Travellers
Faith Groups
Job Fairs
Parish, town, and local councils
Elected Members
Tees Valley Combined Authority
North East Local Enterprise
Partnership
LA7 Economic Directors
North East Combined Authority
Board
North of Tyne Combined
Authority
North East Local Authorities
Government departments and
civil servants
County Durham and Darlington
NHS Foundation Trust
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys
NHS Foundation Trust
Durham University
Further Education Colleges
Local Ministers of Parliament

Appendix 3

County Durham
Economic Review
Final Report
March 2021

Page 77

Page 78

Contents
1 Introduction............................................................. 4

7 Housing and Communities.................................. 31

Overview................................................................... 4

Introduction............................................................. 31

Context..................................................................... 4

Households............................................................. 31

Report Structure....................................................... 7

Deprivation.............................................................. 32
County Durham Geography.................................... 34

2 Overview of the Economy...................................... 8

Tourism and Cultural Assets................................... 35

Introduction............................................................... 8

Summary................................................................ 35

Economic Performance............................................ 8
Productivity Performance......................................... 8

8 Connectivity and Infrastructure........................... 37

Summary................................................................ 10

Introduction............................................................. 37
Transport................................................................. 37

3 People and Demographics.................................. 11

Digital Connectivity................................................. 37

Introduction............................................................. 11

Labour Mobility....................................................... 38

Population............................................................... 11

Employment Assets................................................ 38

Employment Rate................................................... 12

Summary................................................................ 39

Unemployment Rate............................................... 12
The Claimant Count................................................ 12

9 The Impact of COVID-19 and Brexit.................... 41

Inactivity.................................................................. 13

Introduction............................................................. 41

Resident and Workforce Earnings.......................... 13

COVID-19............................................................... 41

Summary................................................................ 14

Brexit....................................................................... 43
Summary................................................................ 45

4 Employment.......................................................... 15
Introduction............................................................. 15

10 Future Economic Growth..................................... 46

Employment in County Durham.............................. 15

Introduction............................................................. 46

Productivity by Sector............................................ 19

Economic Output.................................................... 46

Key Employment Locations.................................... 20

Gross Value Added per Capita............................... 46

Summary................................................................ 20

Summary................................................................ 46

5 Business and Innovation...................................... 22

11 Recommendations and Investment Priorities.... 47

Introduction............................................................. 22

Rebuilding a Powerful Economy............................. 47

The Business Base................................................. 22

Developing the Pipeline for New Investment.......... 47

Innovation............................................................... 24

The Twin Challenge: Productivity and Jobs............ 48

Summary................................................................ 26

Start Ups ................................................................ 51
Place, Investment and Employment....................... 51

6 Education, Training and Skills............................. 27

Rural Communities and Economy.......................... 52

Introduction............................................................. 27

Skills, Learning and Communities.......................... 52

Skills and Training................................................... 27

Schools................................................................... 53

Occupation............................................................. 27

Communities and Towns........................................ 54

Education................................................................ 29

Maximising Local Opportunities – The Role of
Anchor Institutions.................................................. 54

Future Skills............................................................ 29
Summary................................................................ 30

Delivering New Investment and Jobs..................... 55
Areas for Further Exploration.................................. 56
Two Challenging Years............................................
Page 79 56

3

1 Introduction
Overview
1.1

Ekosgen were commissioned by Durham County Council to produce an Economic Review of County Durham.

1.2

The aim of the report is to provide a strategic overview of the economy and evidence base which will inform
priorities for growth. To maximise the effectiveness of interventions to support the economy, it is vital that
policy and investment decisions are based on a robust understanding of the economy’s current strengths and
weaknesses, and a shared appreciation of the best opportunities to support future economic growth.

1.3

The report seeks to provide a comprehensive overview of the current economic conditions, and to highlight
the economic and social factors which will affect the future growth of the County Durham economy.

Context
1.4

There are a number of factors to consider which will impact upon future economic development. This 		
includes both short and medium term shocks to the economy including the COVID-19 pandemic and the UK’s
departure from the European Union (EU) as well as the rural nature of the county.

1.5

In addition there are important long term major technological and social trends which include:
 Demographic change and an ageing population;
 Digitisation, automation and Artificial Intelligence (AI); and
 The move towards a low carbon economy.

1.6

Each of these will impact on the County Durham economy and need to be considered in regards to future
priorities and interventions.

COVID-19
1.7

The COVID-19 pandemic is having a profound effect on the economy. Sectors which have been worst hit
include the tourism, hospitality and culture sectors, as a result of national lockdowns, social distancing
measures and travel restrictions. While various protection measures and home working have reduced the
immediate impact for many sectors, as government support such as Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme
(CJRS) and Self-Employment Income Support Scheme (SEISS) come to an end increasing unemployment is
likely to be experienced.

1.8

The impacts COVID-19 is having upon the economy is explored in further detail in chapter 9.

Brexit
1.9

The UK left the EU on the 31st December 2020. While to date the main impacts experienced have included
customs and border disruption, significant longer term effects are likely to emerge, including on imports
and exports as the UK diverges from the EU on product standards or other regulations and on skills and
recruitment for health and service sectors which rely on EU labour.

1.10

Chapter 9 reviews the expected impacts of the departure from the EU in more detail.

Digitalisation, Automation and AI
1.11

Digitalisation, Automation and Artificial Intelligence (AI) is likely to cause an increasing number of
operative and lower-skilled jobs to become redundant particularly in transportation, hotels and
restaurants, manufacturing, trade and construction. Analysis of the jobs of 20 million people in
England found that 7.4% are at high risk of automation, although new jobs to support and operate
the technology will reduce some job losses. Digital technology is anticipated to alter conventional
employment structures reducing the demand for large office space, while technological advancements
such as 3D printing will be disruptive to manufacturing and distribution allowing more to be produced in
decentralised smaller facilities (ONS 2019) Which occupations are at highest risk of being automated?
ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/employmentandemployeetypes/articles/
whichoccupationsareathighestriskofbeingautomated/2019-03-25).

Page 80

4

Rural
1.12

Given that County Durham is primarily a rural county, future growth prospects must also seek to achieve
growth in the rural areas. A lack of a fast and reliable broadband connection acts as a constraint to growth
in rural areas. The roll out of superfast broadband provides an opportunity to open up new sectors in these
areas while helping existing sectors including tourism, agriculture and forestry to improve.

1.13

As recognised in the Local Plan the countryside is a constantly changing workplace and there is a need
to balance the protection of the countryside with the need to support the vitality and viability of the rural
economy including through agriculture and tourism.

Ageing Population
1.14

Across many developed countries, an important demographic shift is taking place, as a result of people
living longer and having fewer children, resulting in the increase in the average age of populations. An ageing
population has implications for the labour market, and will require a shift in public expenditure to meet the
rising costs of health and social care. Without improvements to population health, the ageing population will
also result in a larger number of people living with disability and suffering ill-health.

1.15

By 2040 almost 24% of the population will be aged 65 and over, and the old age dependency ratio, defined as
the number of residents at the State Pension age and over for every 1,000 working age residents, is expected
to reach 352.

1.16

The ageing population coupled with the declining working age population, will increase the need to support
people to stay in the labour force for longer and will require employers to focus on retraining and adapting the
workplace to ensure continued employment, removing barriers to remaining in work, and enabling workers
to adapt to new technologies. Increased technological investment and greater automation is likely to occur
reducing the dependence on labour as a result of the demographic shift.

The Low Carbon Agenda
1.17

The global shift to ‘clean growth’ through low carbon technologies and the efficient use of resources is
creating new industries and transforming existing ones. The shift to clean growth provides incentives to
use technology to reduce input costs and to develop alternative ‘environmentally friendly’ products. The
Government’s Clean Growth Strategy (2017) highlights opportunities in renewable energy generation,
construction and manufacturing.

1.18

The shift to a low carbon economy is also boosting the circular economy, where high energy using industries
ensure that more by-products of their activities are used productively, with a greater emphasis on recycling.
However, whilst decarbonisation provides many opportunities, it also has a downside for some businesses, with
those that are heavily energy-intensive likely to come under pressure to reduce dependence on oil and gas.

Policy Context

The UK Industrial Strategy
1.19

The UK Industrial Strategy ‘Building a Britain Fit for the future’ identifies ‘Five Foundations’ which the
Government argues are the “essential attributes of every successful economy”. These are:
1. Ideas – Research and Development (R and D) and innovation
2. People – skills, retraining and the labour market
3. Infrastructure – transport, digital and housing
4. Business Environment – increasing small and medium sized enterprises (SME) productivity and 		
encouraging start-ups
5. Places – tackling regional disparities in productivity and economic performance

1.20

The strategy also introduces a number of ‘Grand Challenges’ which overarch the Foundations and represent
areas in which the UK has the opportunity to play a leading global role. Reflecting the long-term economic
drivers identified above, these include:
1. AI and Data Economy
2. Clean Growth
3. Ageing Society
4. Future of Mobility

Page 81

5

1.21

Funding for economic development is increasingly being focused on Industrial Strategy priorities, with
each Local Enterprise Partnership (LEP) area being tasked to develop a LIS which responds to the national
priorities and reflects local economic strengths.

1.22

The Government has recognised that if living standards are to rise, the challenge is to increase productivity
whilst keeping employment levels high across the UK. In addition to the national framework provided by
the Industrial Strategy, a number of regional responses have been developed to attempt to tackle economic
disparities in the UK economy.

1.23

The North East Local Enterprise Partnership (NELEP) was due to have their LIS published in 2020, however
the publication has been delayed likely due to the COVID-19 pandemic.

North East LEP Strategic Economic Plan
1.24

The Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) was originally published in 2014 and sets out the ambition to increase the
number of jobs in the North East economy by 100,000 by 2024. The plan is split into three distinctive parts:
1. Four areas of strategic importance – digital, advanced manufacturing, health and life sciences, and
energy are areas where the North East can build a stronger economy that continues to contribute to
regional, national and global economic growth.
2. Four service sectors – education, financial, professional and business services, transport and logistics and
construction – these sectors support the wider economy and offer significant opportunity for more and
better jobs in the North East.
3. Five programmes of delivery – business growth, innovation, skills, employment, inclusion and progression,
transport connectivity and investment and infrastructure.

1.25

The SEP recognises the importance of the digital, advanced manufacturing, health and energy sectors within
County Durham’s economy and provides future spaces for investment and expansion. The SEP is due to run
until 2024, whereby the Local Industrial Strategy (LIS) that is aligned to the principles of the SEP will continue
until 2030.

The Northern Powerhouse
1.26

The idea of building a ‘Northern Powerhouse’ was first proposed by the coalition government in 2014. The aim
is to boost economic growth in the North of England particularly in the major cities of Manchester, Liverpool,
Leeds, Sheffield, Hull and Newcastle. The Government is investing in skills, innovation, transport and culture, as
well as devolving significant powers and budgets to directly elected mayors to ensure decisions affecting the
North are made in the North.

County Durham Local Plan
1.27

The County Durham Plan was adopted in 2020 and sets out a range of development proposals and planning
policies for the county until 2035. The plan presents a vision for potential housing, jobs, transport, schools,
healthcare and the environment until 2035.

1.28

The plan aims to:
 Continue economic growth and investment in the county
 Secure more and better jobs in the county
 Address the causes of climate change and adapt to its effects
 Secure the infrastructure to support new development and the relieve congestion and improve air quality
 Protect the historic and natural environment.

1.29

To support the continued economic growth of the county and the aim of more and better jobs for residents, the
plan includes over 302 hectares of new land to be developed for business and industry. This is in addition to
protecting over 1,500 hectares of existing business and industrial land to prevent any other land uses. The plan
also includes policies to support town centres and allow the council to take a more flexible approach to support
businesses in rural areas encouraging the local economy whilst protecting the environment.

Shared Prosperity and Place
1.30

The Government is committed to introducing a Shared Prosperity Fund as a replacement for losing European
Regional Development Fund (ERDF) and European Social Fund (ESF) resources as a consequence of leaving

Page 82

6

the EU. County Durham regularly used both of these funds to invest in a range of prospects. It will be important
that the council has sufficient pipeline proposals to take advantage of the new fund.
1.31

The recent Green Book review included consideration of place in the appraisal of projects. These new
considerations are likely to apply to the levelling up agenda and these now need to be factored into to the
developments of new propositions.

Levelling Up Agenda
1.32

Guidance is now being developed for the new Levelling Up Fund (LUF) and the county will need to have
sufficient resources and a credible pipeline to take early advantage of new arrangements, which are likely to
focus on early delivery.

Report structure
1.33

The report is structured as follows:
 Chapter 2 gives a high level overview of the County Durham economy focusing on its productivity
performance;
 Chapter 3 looks at the key characteristics of the local population and economic activity;
 Chapter 4 considers employment and sectoral strengths;
 Chapter 5 reviews the area’s business and innovation base and environment
 Chapter 6 covers education, skills and training including the occupation profile and future skills needs;
 Chapter 7 reviews housing and communities including housing affordability, workforce catchments,
deprivation and tourism;
 Chapter 8 outlines the current infrastructure position;
 Chapter 9 asses the emerging impacts of COVID-19 and Brexit on the economy;
 Chapter 10 provides forecast economic and productivity forecasts;
 Chapter 11 provides the key strategic investment and policy priorities for County Durham.

Page 83

7

2 Overview of the Economy
Introduction
2.1

County Durham is the largest local authority in the North East and the 8th largest in the country. It is bounded
by: Northumberland, Gateshead and Sunderland to the north; Hartlepool, Darlington, Stockton-on-Tees and
Richmondshire to the south; and Eden to the west. It is located within the NELEP area.

2.2

With a population of 530,100 and an employment base of 183,000, County Durham is a key contributor to
the North East economy, accounting for 20% of the region’s population and 17% of total employment. Its
population is primarily concentrated within the areas of Durham City, Chester-le-Street, Newton Aycliffe,
Bishop Auckland, Consett and Peterlee, while two in five residents live in rural areas with a range of smaller
towns and villages within the rural hinterland.

2.3

County Durham has successfully rebuilt its economy after the reduction in its historical strengths of coal
mining and steel making. The industrial economy remains a strength of the county and provides a significant
source of employment alongside the public sector.

2.4

While the scale of unemployment has fallen and is significantly below peak numbers seen in earlier decades
and the employment rate has been increasing, many communities continue to be affected by low household
incomes and health inequalities.

2.5

County Durham is home to 14,105 businesses, including major employers GSK, Hitachi Rail, Amazon,
Caterpillar UK Limited, Gestamp Tallent Limited and ZF, although business density is below the regional and
national level. The key employment locations are within Durham City, the A1 Corridor and the A19 Corridor.

Economic Performance
2.6

In 2018, County Durham contributed Gross Value Added (GVA) of £8.8 billion to the UK economy, accounting
for 16% of the North East total (compared to 17% of the employment base and 20% of the regional
population). Between 2008 and 2011 GVA growth flat lined, marking the aftermath of the financial crisis,
however since then GVA has grown strongly.

2.7

County Durham’s annual GVA contribution has grown by £2.6 billion, 43%, over fifteen years, marginally
above the North East rate of growth (42%) but significantly below the national level (64%). The national
growth rate has been supported by a number of sectors where the North East as a whole is less well
represented: for example professional, scientific and technical, finance and insurance, and information and
communication activities.

2.8

The number of jobs has also increased over the past 10 years, with County Durham now recording an
additional 10,500 jobs.

Productivity Performance
2.9

GVA and employment growth are good indicators of economic performance, while productivity – the amount
of output produced from a given level of inputs – is an important determinant of prosperity. Productivity is
the key determinant of both wages and profit, with the latter essential to allowing companies to maintain
employment and finance re-investment. Productivity is of national interest given that productivity in the UK
has fallen behind international comparators over the past decade.

2.10

Looking at the main measures of productivity used at local level in the UK, County Durham performs poorly
on all measures:
 GVA per hour worked is 84% of the England average
 GVA per job is 81% of the England average
 GVA per FTE is 82% of the England average

2.11

Prior to the recession and up until 2010, the gap in levels of GVA per hour between County Durham and
England was narrowing. However, since then the gap has widened.

2.12

GVA per head (per capita), which measures the overall prosperity in society (and takes into account children
and older people not in the workforce) is used as a measure of regional disparity. It is affected by a number of
Page 84

8

factors: the proportion of the local population in work, how many hours they work and what sectors they work
in, levels of productivity (per hour or per job) within those sectors, as well as the numbers and proportions of
dependent children and older people. County Durham’s GVA per capita figure is 57% of the England average,
at £16,763 compared to £29,356 nationally, indicating a much bigger gap in prosperity levels than there is
in levels of productivity (with GVA per job and GVA per hour worked 81% and 84% of the England average
respectively).
2.13

The major influence on the GVA per capita figure is high levels of older people and working age economic
inactivity. The changing demographics, with regard to older people making up a much larger proportion of the
resident population in future years, will increase the challenge of increasing the prosperity of County Durham
communities.

2.14

GVA per capita has grown by 34% over the past 15 years, below the national growth rate (47%), increasing
the performance gap. If GVA per capita had grown at the national rate, it would now be £18,328.

2.15

Geographical disparities in productivity are a result of a number of factors including:
 Workforce skills and health
 Capital investment and technology
 Productive assets and infrastructure
 Local geography, access to markets and institutions

2.16

Productivity disparities can arise because of geography, local culture, governance and infrastructure,
which impact upon the economic activities and sectoral make-up of a place, shaping its workforce, while
agglomeration and clusters of economic activity can have productivity benefits, leading to disparities with
co-location of businesses driving knowledge sharing integrated supply chains. In addition, the impact of high
skilled workers choosing to live in places with populations reflecting themselves can result in ‘brain drains’
in some locations while in others serving to increase productivity and attract investment (Industrial Strategy
Council, UK Regional Productivity Differences: An Evidence Review, 2020.)

2.17

The average productivity statistics are skewed by a small number of highly productive places, particularly
Inner London. It is worth noting that the most productive NUTS2 region (West Inner London) has an income
per hour which is 70% higher than the median area’s GVA per hour.

2.18

Economic and political uncertainty, regarding Brexit (and more recently COVID-19) may have dissuaded firms
wishing to invest in profitable projects from doing so, impeding growth in the amount of capital per worker.

2.19

As noted by the Bank of England, slower manufacturing productivity growth can in part explain the UK’s
productivity gap with other comparable countries. Another potential reason is capital shallowing – where in
manufacturing in particular, capital investment has not kept pace with increases in labour input. Given County
Durham’s large manufacturing base, this may help to explain the disparity between the national average.

2.20

Some of the factors explaining the different levels of performance include:
 Potential labour supply: County Durham’s population has a marginally lower proportion of working age
residents than England as a whole. In 2018m 62.2% of the population was of working age (16-64),
compared to 62.6% in England as a whole, accounting for £65 million of the gap in GVA levels. Recent
data suggests the working age population is expected to decline at a faster rate than the national
population.
 Real employment rate: Amongst the working age population, the employment rate is lower than the
national average with 73.8% of the working age population in employment, compared to 74.7% nationally,
accounting for £105 million of the gap in GVA levels.
 Productivity - sectoral mix: Despite County Durham having a much lower share of workers in typically
high productivity sectors than nationally – such as information and communication, finance and insurance,
and professional, scientific and technical services sectors – the manufacturing sector which accounts for
14% of County Durham’s workforce compared to 8% nationally and has a high GVA per employee of
around £89,000, means that its sectoral mix is more productive given its GVA per employee by sector than
if it had the same sectoral mix as the national population. This therefore narrows the GVA gap.
 Productivity – sectoral performance: Across all sectors, levels of output per job in County Durham are
81% of the England average. This accounts for the majority of the gap in GVA levels, £2.0 billion.

2.21

GVA per head is also impacted by the net outflow of residents commuting to other areas to work, where
their GVA contribution is recorded in other local economies. While productivity is not the only indicator of
Page 85

9

economic performance, high-productivity regions also tend to perform well along many other economic and
social indicators (UK Regional Productivity Differences: An Evidence Review, 2020).

Summary
2.22

While increasing productivity is a national and County Durham priority, one consequence is that encouraging
companies to introduce technologies such as robotics, will in the short term reduce the need for labour. These
types of new technology investment are, however, essential if companies are to remain competitive.

2.23

County Durham benefits from some very productive sub-sectors and companies in its industrial economy.
These sectors will face the challenge of having to recruit skilled and experienced personnel to take account of
an ageing workforce. Recruiting a skilled workforce will be essential to maintaining and improving productivity
in these high value added sectors, and may be more challenging given the UK’s exit from the EU.

2.24

It does, however, have a much lower representation in the high value service sub-sectors such as digital and
ICT. The county will need to strengthen a number of high growth service sub-sectors to create more jobs and
increase productivity and increase the private sector’s contribution to the economy.

2.25

An underlying priority, in terms of addressing economic challenges, is for County Durham to increase its
working age population through jobs growth in its priority sectors, supported by increased housing provision
to accommodate an incoming skilled workforce.

2.26

County Durham also needs to provide the locations which will attract companies, making full use of new
technology, operating in national markets in addition to supporting its current business base to adopt new
technology and invest in innovation and introducing new products to strengthen their competitiveness
and reach new markets. More broadly, the county needs to invest in the economic infrastructure, notably
transport, with a proven link to increased productivity.

Page 86

10

3 People and Demographics
Introduction
3.1

This section of the report provides an overview of County Durham’s resident population. The availability of
labour plays an important role in the function and performance of local economies. Understanding the scale
and composition of County Durham’s population, as well as the economic contribution that residents make,
provides the basis for understanding both the challenges and opportunities to be considered in planning
future interventions.

Population
3.2

As of 2019, the population of County Durham stood at 530,094, 19.9% of the North East region’s population.
The population has grown steadily since 2000, experiencing an uplift of 34,956 residents (7.1%), ahead of the
North East’s rate of growth (5.0%) but behind the national rate (14.3%). Had County Durham’s population grown
in line with the national average, it would now be home to 566,076 people – an additional 35,982 residents.

3.3

Within the North East, County Durham has experienced the second highest local authority population growth
rate since 2000, behind Newcastle upon Tyne where the rate was 10.8%; an uplift of 29,400 people.

3.4

Over the next 20 years (2019 to 2039), the population of County Durham is expected to grow by 5.4%
(+28,484 people) to exceed 558,000 people. This is a much higher growth rate than forecast across the North
East at 3.3% but remains below the national rate of 8.4% and will be a reduction on the last 20 years growth,
reflecting the trend across all three geographies.

Population Projections, Total Population (in thousands), 2018
2019
County Durham

529.7

North East
England

2,667.1
56,343.1

2024

2029

2034

2039

2019 to 2039 Change
No.

%

539.7

548.0

553.9

558.2

28,484

5.4

2,698.7

2,723.7

2,741.9

2,755.8

88,682

3.3

57,816.9

58,969.5

59,989.0

60,961.8

4,681,733

8.4

Source: Sub-National Population Projections, 2018 based

Age Profile
3.5

Between 2009 and 2019, the working age population as a proportion of the total population shrank by 0.5
percentage points, whilst the proportion of those aged 65+ increased by 4.2 percentage points. This reflects
the ageing population being recorded nationally and has implications for levels of economic dependency,
although many residents may choose to continue to work into later life, in part due to changes in pension
entitlement but also reflecting extended healthy life expectancy.
This trend is expected to continue over the next 20 years, with the dependency ratio growing as the workforce
declines relative to those of retirement age. By 2039, it is estimated that 26.4% of the population will be over
65 compared to 17.6% in 2009. The proportion of the population aged under 25 is also forecast to decline
(from 29.4% of residents in 2009 to 27.2% in 2039), with implications for future workforce supply.

3.6

ONS population estimates suggest there will be an additional 36,850 people aged 65 and over (+33.3%)
resident in County Durham by 2039, while there will be 9,400 fewer people across the key working age groups
of 25-34, 35-49 and 50-64 (-3.5%), revealing the extent of the shift in demographic.

An Ageing Population
3.7

By 2039 the old age dependency ratio, defined as the number of residents at the State Pension age and over
for every 1,000 working age residents, is expected to reach 400 in County Durham above the North East (387)
and national (349) ratios.
Page 87

11

3.8

An ageing population is highlighted as one of the Grand Challenges in the UK’s Industrial Strategy, noting that
the demographic shift will “create new demands for technologies, products and services, including new care
technologies, new housing models and innovative savings products for retirement”.

3.9

This illustrates the growing challenge of an ageing population, with implications for the labour market and
health and care. Despite the raising of the state pension entitlement age and more people continuing to work
beyond 65 than has been the case to date, there are still expected to be fewer workers over time supporting
an increasing number of retired people, resulting in a higher dependency ratio.

3.10

There is a challenge to ensure older residents who wish to work longer are supported to do so and are
equipped with the necessary skills and flexible employment opportunities to allow them to continue to work
into later life.

3.11

As the population ages there is likely to be significant skill losses as a large number of the workforce moves
into retirement, especially in manufacturing jobs.

3.12

Alongside economic considerations, the data highlights the need to ensure appropriate health and social care
provision and a sufficient range of housing is available to cater for the changing demographic, e.g. for those
downsizing and those with mobility restraints. It is important that local and national government strategy
responds to this challenge. Current housing supply and trends are considered in chapter 7.

Employment Rate
3.13

Over the past ten years, County Durham’s employment rate has broadly tracked the North East average and
remained consistently below the national rate. Since the year ending September 2017, the employment rate
in County Durham has remained above the regional rate peaking at 74.5% in 2017/18. Since 2009/2010, the
number of people in employment within County Durham has increased by 13,200.

3.14

According to the Annual Population Survey (APS), the employment rate for the year ending September 2020,
has dropped from its peak to 71.9%. This is similar to the regional rate. In comparison to the other local
authorities in the North East, County Durham has a lower employment rate than North Tyneside, Darlington,
Gateshead, Stockton-on-Tees and Northumberland.

Unemployment Rate
3.15

Unemployment in County Durham has fallen over the past ten years. Having reached a peak of 11.1% of
the working age population in the year ending September 2012, it fell to a low of 3.8% in 2017/18, although
unemployment has begun to rise in the past two years.
Unemployment has been consistently above the national figure in all but one year - 2017/18. When compared
to the regional rate, County Durham has followed a broadly similar trajectory over the past ten years.

3.16

The 16-24 age bracket typically experiences the highest rate of unemployment, although this may reflect
older groups moving into the economically inactive groups affected by health issues. Unemployment amongst
those aged 16-24 has fluctuated dramatically over the past ten years, from a peak of almost 35% in 2011/12
to a low of 8.7% in 2017/18, while unemployment of those aged 25 and over remained more stable. This is
consistent with the regional and national trends. However, the level of unemployment amongst young people
in County Durham in the year ending September 2020, at 22.2%, is significantly above the national rate for
this age group (12.9%), with the data showing that the unemployment rate amongst this group was growing
even before the impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic were felt. COVID-19 has disproportionately affected
employment amongst young people, who typically have a high representation in sectors such as hospitality
and leisure.

The Claimant Count
3.17

The Claimant Count captures people claiming Job Seekers Allowance (JSA) and those who are claiming
the unemployment related elements of Universal Credit (UC), providing a more comprehensive view of
unemployment levels.

3.18

As of December 2020, the claimant unemployment count in County Durham was, 20,790, approximately 6.1%
of the working age population, an uplift of 8,045 from the same period in the previous year. Whilst the number
of claimants has been increasing since 2015, the notable spike in 2020 is likely a result of the COVID-19
pandemic. Supporting people to return to work as the economy recovers will be a priority.

3.19 County Durham has consistently had a lower share of claimants in working age population than across the
Page 88

12

region, but a higher share than nationally apart from most recent data from December 2020, which highlights
the impact of COVID-19 where the national proportion (6.4%) is above the County Durham level (6.1%).

Inactivity
3.20

Economic inactivity in County Durham amongst the working age population (i.e. those not in the labour force)
is estimated at 23.8% for 2019/2020. The inactivity rate has been on a downward trajectory since 2009/2010,
consistent with the regional and national trend, with the exception of a spike in 2014/15 in County Durham.
The rate of inactivity follows a similar trend to the North East, but has remained consistently higher than the
national rate over the last ten years.

3.21

Over 22,000 residents in County Durham are economically inactive due to long-term health conditions,
accounting for 29.5% of those classed as economically inactive, exceeding the regional (28.8%) and national
(23.0%) proportions. This highlights the need to tackle health inequalities, which act as a constraint to growth
and influence deprivation among communities.

3.22

The second most common reason for inactivity is looking after family members or the home (24.8%), with
18,600 residents, above the regional (21.4%) and national (21.5%) proportion. There is a lower proportion of
students amongst the economically inactive, with 16,300 residents accounting for 21.8% of those classed as
inactive, despite the existence of a university within the county.

3.23

In County Durham over a quarter (26.0%) of the inactive population would like a job, this is higher than the
regional (24.9%) and national (21.9%) proportion, suggesting in County Durham this group may face more
barriers to entering employment, or lack of training and employment opportunities than elsewhere.

Resident and workforce earnings
3.24

The median earnings for residents of County Durham in 2020 were £28,002 for full-time workers in line with
the median earnings for the North East but more than £3,700 below the national average.

3.25

In contrast, the median earnings for workers within County Durham during 2020 were £26,495 for full time
workers, below both the regional and national median earnings. This suggests residents commuting out of the
county are higher paid on average than those commuting in, in part reflecting the sectoral and occupational
profile of employment.

3.26

Over the past ten years the earnings gap for both residents and workers has declined slightly in County
Durham, although it remains below the national average.

3.27

Looking at low earners, the 10th and 25th percentile of both resident and workplace earnings are below the
regional and national averages. When compared to the national average, the earnings of the 25th percentile in
County Durham equate to less than 90% of the England level on both resident and workplace measures.
County Durham

Resident Earnings – 2020

Workplace Earnings – 2020

North East

England

Median

28,002

27,971

31,766

10th percentile

16,984

17,289

18,065

25th percentile

20,177

20,991

22,932

Median

26,495

27,865

31,777

10th percentile

16,405

17,160

18,070

25th percentile

19,685

20,819

22,938

Source: Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings (ASHE), 2020

Page 89

13

Summary
3.28

While the County Durham population will increase over the next 20 years, the challenge of an ageing
population, with implications for the labour market and health and care, and a reduced number of working age
residents will have implications for both economic growth and the sustainability of local centres.

3.29

There is a challenge to ensure older residents who wish to work longer are supported to do so and are
equipped with the necessary skills and flexible employment opportunities to allow them to continue to work
into later life.

3.30

The data highlights the need to ensure a sufficient range of housing is available to cater for the changing
demographic, e.g. for those downsizing and those with mobility restraints, but also to increase the supply of
family housing to attract a larger working age population from other areas. County Durham needs to increase
family housing in popular locations to help attract the 30 to 50 age group, as part of a strategy to increase its
working age population and reduce in-commuting for higher skilled jobs in County Durham companies and
institutions.

3.31

County Durham has a good employment rate although this is likely to decline in the short term as the full
impact of the pandemic emerges, with a corresponding increase in unemployment, particularly amongst
young people. There is a pressing need to increase job support actions and encourage private sector
investment to offset ground lost during 2020/21.

3.32

While there is a focus on higher skilled and higher paid jobs, many of the replacement jobs needed to offset
pandemic redundancies are at the intermediate skills level, with potential replacement jobs in sectors such as
distribution, logistics and the health sector.

3.33

It is likely that unemployment will remain high and increase most amongst younger people, particularly those
in the tourism, leisure and hospitality sector, and there may be scope for providing training which opens up
other opportunities to them, such as through enhanced digital skills.

3.34

Many younger people would be encouraged to delay entering the labour market in 2021 and would be better
serviced in gaining work related qualifications and looking for new jobs in 2022 when the economic recovery
will be gaining momentum.

3.35

There are likely to be reduced opportunities for longer term unemployed and people seeking to return to work
after an absence over the next two years. New supported employment initiatives and increased social value
activities may be needed to provide additional support.

3.36

While the proportion of the working age population has been falling for some time, the County Durham
inactivity rate is significantly above the national rate and large numbers of residents are unable to work due
to care responsibilities and health related issues. Supporting local people to address these issues could help
over the medium term to increase the size of the workforce and increase household incomes.

3.37

In particular a high proportion of the economically inactive population have long-term health conditions,
highlighting the need to tackle health inequalities, which act as a constraint to growth and influence
deprivation among communities

3.38

New health innovations are helping many people to better manage health conditions and these will help some
people to return to work. The NHS is investing in digital health applications to assist people and County
Durham needs to ensure such new approaches to better healthcare can benefit local residents.

Page 90

14

4 Employment
Introduction
4.1

This section of the report provides an overview of employment patterns in County Durham, including
employment trends, sectoral strengths and key employment locations. Underpinned by historical strengths
and reflecting evolution of the local, national and global economy, a thorough understanding of the
employment base can set the wider economic review findings in context.

Employment in County Durham
4.2

In 2019, 183,000 people worked in County Durham, accounting for 16.6% of total employment in the
North East, a proportion below the county’s share of population. Between 2009 and 2019, employment has
increased by 10,500 (6.1%), above the regional rate (4.9%) but lower than the national rate of employment
growth (12.8%). If County Durham’s employment level had grown in line with the national trend, there would
be 11,600 additional jobs in the county in 2019.

4.3

Approximately two thirds (66.3%) of employees in County Durham in 2019 worked full-time, and a third
(33.7%) part time. This employment split is similar to the regional (66.1% full time) and national averages
(68.1%). Total employment exceeded the number of employees in County Durham by 8,000 in 2019, taking
account of self-employed workers (who are registered for VAT or PAYE).

Workplace Employment, 2019
No.

%

Full-time employees

116,000

66.3%

Part-time employees

59,000

33.7%

Total Employees

175,000

-

Total Employment

183,000

-

Source: Business Register and Employment Survey (BRES), 2019

Sectoral Profile of Employment: A Traditional Employment Base
4.4

Manufacturing and health are County Durham’s most prominent employment sectors, accounting for 13.7%
of employment (50,000 people) each, 4.5% of 1.1m jobs in the North East. Retail and education also account
for a large proportion of employment.

4.5

At broad sector level there are some differences in the sector structure of County Durham’s economy
compared to the national average:
 Sectors which are over-represented include: manufacturing accounts for 13.7% of jobs in County Durham
compared to 8% nationally; education is also over represented within the local economy at 10.5%
compared with the national rate of 8.4%, this is in part likely to be due to the strong presence of Durham
University.
 Sectors which are under-represented include: professional, scientific and technical professions that
account of 4.4% of jobs in County Durham compared to 9.8% nationally.

4.6

The sectoral profile of employment therefore shows a bias towards employment in sectors that are
undergoing a period of change (in the form of manufacturing and retail) and public sector focused elements of
the economy.

Sectoral Employment Change
4.7

Whilst employment has grown overall in County Durham between 2009 and 2019 there have been significant
differences in performance by sector.
Page 91

15

4.8

Considering areas of higher than average growth:
 The arts, entertainment and recreation industry grew by 50%, generating an additional 1,500 jobs, at a time
when the sector grew by 23% across the North East and 15% in England. The sector now accounts for a
similar share of total employment (4.4%) in County Durham as regionally (4.4%) and nationally (4.8%).
 Education employment grew by 2,500 (+14%) compared to the sector’s stagnation across the North East
and nationally.

4.9

Although the growth rate was below the national average, the addition of 1,500 professional, scientific and
technical jobs (+23%) represents significant growth in what remains an under-represented sector in County
Durham. Overall, gains support the growing dominance of a service-based economy.

Significant Employment Growth by Industry between 2009 and 2019
County Durham
Total change

% change

North East

England

% change

% change

Administrative and support service

2,500

38

39

31

Education

2,500

14

2

5

Human health and social work

2,000

9

16

15

Professional, scientific and technical activities

1,500

23

5

36

Arts, entertainment, and recreation

1,500

50

23

15

Wholesale and retail trade

1,000

4

3

3

500

40

22

25

Information and communication
Source: BRES, 2019

4.10

Conversely, some sectors within County Durham have experienced some moderate declines in recent years.
As examples:
 There was a loss of 625 (-26%) jobs in the financial and insurance activities sector – a greater loss than
recorded across the North East (-9%) whilst this sector grew by 1% nationally.
 Whilst there was a loss of 1,000 jobs (-6%) in public administration and defence, this sector fared much
better than regionally (-24%) and nationally (-14%), with the sector remaining a key employer in County
Durham.

Significant Employment Decline by Industry between 2009 and 2019
County Durham
Total change
Public administration and defence

% change

North East

England

% change

% change

-1,000

-6

-24

-14

Financial and insurance activities

-625

-26

-9

1

Manufacturing

-500

-2

-6

1

Construction

-500

-5

-19

8

Source: BRES, 2019

Page 92

16

Sub-Sectoral Strengths and Specialisms
4.11

Sub-sector data provides a more detailed understanding of the structure of the County Durham economy,
including areas of specialism within the employment base. The analysis considers two factors – total
employment, and the concentration of employment as measured by the Location Quotient (LQ). The LQ is
a measure of specialisation compared to the national average. A LQ of 1 indicates that the share of total
employment in a sector locally is the same as its share nationally. A LQ above 1 indicates that the area has a
higher proportion of employment in that sector than the national average. A LQ less than 1 indicates that the
area is under-represented in employment terms.

4.12

In actual terms, the service economy dominates County Durham’s top employment sub-sectors. The
largest sub-sectors of employment are education and retail trade, collectively accounting for 22% of total
employment and with employment levels growing over the last ten years. Public sector administration and
defence is also an important sub-sector of the economy. In all three cases, the LQ exceeds 1. This highlights
the prevalence of the public sector within the County Durham economy.

4.13

Although actual employment levels are lower, the LQ analysis shows that County Durham has notably higher
than average concentrations of employment in residential care activities (a sector that is expected to grow
to support an ageing population), land transport and transport via pipelines and social work activities within
accommodation.

Employment by Sub-sector, 2019
Jobs

LQ

2009 to 2019 Growth

Education

20,000

1.30

2,500

Retail trade

19,500

1.16

2,000

Public administration and defence; compulsory social security

15,000

2.09

-1,000

Food and beverage service activities

11,500

1.05

1,500

Human health activities

11,000

0.82

500

Social work activities without accommodation

7,000

1.36

500

Residential care activities

6,500

1.57

1,000

Specialised construction activities

6,000

1.20

-500

Wholesale trade

5,000

0.69

-500

Land transport and transport via pipelines

5,000

1.37

-500

Source: BRES, 2019

4.14

The industrial economy remains important to County Durham – the primary (extraction of raw material) and
secondary (manufacturing) sectors account for nine of the top ten sub-sectors by LQ. Although mining
employment figures are now low, the sector remains an over-represented area of the local economy. The
manufacture of pharmaceutical products is 8.11 times more concentrated that the national average (driven in
part by the presence of GSK – a major pharmaceutical company) whilst water collection and treatment is 4.24
times more concentrated than the national average (with the Northumbrian Water HQ in the county).

Page 93

17

Employment by Sub-sector, 2019
Jobs
Mining of coal and lignite

LQ

2009 to 2019 Growth

150

63.59

145

Manufacture of basic pharmaceutical products and pharmaceutical
preparations

1,750

8.11

250

Water collection, treatment and supply

1,000

4.24

0

Manufacture of machinery and equipment n.e.c

4,000

3.76

750

Manufacture of fabricated metal products

4,750

2.80

2,250

Manufacture of wood and of products of wood/cork

1,125

2.53

-125

Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply

1,750

2.37

- 250

15,000

2.09

-1,000

2,000

2.05

- 125

850

2.05

-100

Public administration and defence
Manufacture of motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers
Manufacture of electrical equipment
Source: BRES, 2019

Manufacturing
4.15

The County Durham economy has a large manufacturing sector and a number of major world leading
companies established in the county that acknowledge both historic and emerging strengths. The sector
is represented through a diverse range of sub-sectors, including a number where there is both a strong
presence and growth potential.

4.16

The manufacture of fabricated metal products forms the largest component of the manufacturing base within
County Durham accounting for 4,750 jobs, a figure that has grown by 2,250 jobs since 2009. This is followed
by the manufacture of machinery and equipment that accounts for 4,000 jobs and has experienced an uplift
of 750 jobs.

4.17

County Durham is host to an increasing number of key manufacturing employers and assets. For example:
 Hitachi Rail has established a train manufacturing and assembly site at Merchant Park in South Durham
employing around 600 and further sites have been identified within the county to expand operations further.
 GSK is a major international brand that also has a significant facility at Barnard Castle employing around
1,400 within West Durham.
 Gestamp Tallent Limited, a Tier 1 automotive chassis manufacturer, employ around 1,000 in Newton Aycliffe.
 Caterpillar UK Limited are the largest employers in Peterlee with over 1,000 employees and are the only
manufacturer of off-highway articulated trucks in the Caterpillar Group.
 ZF are a Tier 1 automotive manufacturer of sensing equipment for cars, employing around 800 in Peterlee.
 3M UK plc, manufacturers of respiratory masks and PPE, employ over 400 in Newton Aycliffe.
 Husqvarna UK Limited manufacture robotic lawnmowers, employing over 400 in Newton Aycliffe.

4.18

This illustrates how traditional and advanced manufacturing companies have successfully established
themselves within County Durham with potential for further growth to occur.

4.19

While some manufacturers will increase their competitiveness through digitisation, robotics and automation,
reducing the workforce, there is the opportunity to offset these losses through growth in some of the
strongest sub-sectors. This includes those that are able to take up new opportunities in growth markets in the
green economy, clean energy and long-term activities to reach zero carbon and help to meet climate change
objectives.

Page 94

18

4.20

While the pandemic has had a limited effect on the advanced manufacturing sector, Brexit is likely to impact
on those companies which are part of European supply chains and are dependent on the recruitment of high
skilled international migrants. Conversely, over the next five years, new trading arrangements could unlock
new opportunities. Increased advanced manufacturing employment provides an opportunity for increased
employment in skilled, above average productivity roles, therefore increasing the mean productivity in the
local authority.

Productivity by Sector
4.21

As noted in chapter 2, County Durham’s economy generated £8.8 billion of GVA in 2018, accounting for 16%
of the North East total. One key measure of productivity is GVA per full-time equivalent (FTE) worker - the
value of the output that one worker produces. In County Durham in 2018, GVA per FTE was £61,601 20%
less than the national average at £75,149.

4.22

GVA per FTE varies considerably by sector, as shown in the table below. The sectors with the highest
productivity levels in County Durham are manufacturing and agriculture, mining and utilities. While County
Durham is more productive in the primary and secondary sectors of manufacturing and agriculture, mining
and utilities compared to the national average, it is notable that it records a lower output per FTE worker in all
other sectors. The largest disparities are evident in finance and insurance activities (reporting the third highest
level of GVA per FTE within County Durham but a rate that is less than half the figure reported nationally) and
information and communication (where the GVA per FTE contribution is just over half the national average).

4.23

These low levels of productivity impact on business profitability and wage levels, depressing household
incomes and limiting the amount of spending in the local economy. Driving up productivity levels, across all
sectors, is an important priority for County Durham but particularly in those sectors where performance lags
considerably behind the national average.

4.24

Manufacturing, agriculture, mining and utilities and public admin and defence all account for a larger
proportion of GVA than employment, finance and insurance activities and information and communication
account for the same share, while the reverse is true in the case of all other sectors.

Page 95

19

GVA per FTE by Sector, 2018
County Durham
Agriculture, mining, electricity, gas, water and waste

England

£139,956

£118,505

Manufacturing

£92,458

£78,802

Financial and insurance activities

£67,273

£143,805

Public administration and defence

£66,059

£78,763

Information and communication

£59,016

£116,376

Construction

£54,857

£90,860

Education

£46,820

£52,960

Wholesale and retail trade

£40,267

£55,692

Transportation and storage

£39,310

£58,950

Other service activities

£38,857

£63,682

Human health and social work activities

£36,333

£45,754

Arts, entertainment, and recreation

£35,368

£59,557

Professional, scientific and technical activities

£34,476

£64,869

Administrative and support service activities

£31,412

£47,506

Accommodation and food service activities

£29,290

£32,627

Economy wide

£61,601

£75,149

Source: BRES and Office for National Statistics (ONS) Regional Accounts GVA (Balanced), 2018

Key Employment Locations
4.25

The map overleaf, shows the distribution of employment across County Durham, with the darkest purple
areas presenting the location of the highest number of jobs, as of 2019. This highlights concentrations
of employment in Durham City, Newton Aycliffe, Peterlee as well as Bishop Auckland, Barnard Castle,
Spennymoor, Seaham, Chester-le-Street and Consett. The map also highlights the location of some of the
largest public and private sector employers and key business locations and assets. Key employment locations
are covered in more detail in chapter 8.

Summary
4.26

There has been significant employment growth in County Durham, with an additional 10,500 jobs added since
2009. However, the full impact of COVID-19 upon employment is yet to be experienced.

4.27

County Durham has a large industrial and public sector employment base. Manufacturing is a key sector of
the economy with a large and diverse company base supporting 25,000 jobs. It makes the largest contribution
in terms of GVA to the County Durham economy with its contribution per FTE exceeding the national average.
While there is an underlying long term trend of workforce reduction in the sector, and this may be exacerbated
by Brexit, the broad sector and particular sub-sectors have the potential to contribute to the UK Industrial
Strategy, increasing County Durham and national productivity and supporting a move towards clean and
renewable energy as part of zero carbon objectives.

4.28

It is impossible to overstate the importance of manufacturing to the County Durham economy. It is the
largest source of full time, well paid jobs and the workforce productivity easily exceeds the national average.

Page 96

20

Maintaining and, if possible, increasing employment, in the light of many challenges, is the number one
economic priority for County Durham. There is a long term downward trend in UK manufacturing employment,
and County Durham will need to secure new and significant inward investment – an ambition that it has
successfully achieved in recent years – to offset the inevitable jobs losses in some sub-sectors.
4.29

The health sector has a very large employment base in the county and this is likely to continue. Brexit is likely
to lead to recruitment challenges for the care sector while the health sector supply chain is likely to seek to
reduce dependency on international supply chains, in the light of the COVID-19 pandemic. The sector is the
best source of employment opportunities, across a broad range of skill levels, with replacement demand
generating new job opportunities each year.

4.30

The performance of the ICT sector in County Durham is very poor, with GVA per FTE less than half of the
UK figure, as is financial and insurance services. While the latter is not surprising, the ICT figure is worth
further investigation and to take advantage of new trends the development of a strategy to address this issue,
covering all aspects of sector development including place, business premises, business support and new
starts and skills, should be a priority.

4.31

County Durham continues to be over dependent on the public sector for jobs growth and sector specialism.
Increasing private sector employment in the high growth service sub-sectors is a requirement to rebalancing
the economy, increasing employment and improving productivity.

Page 97

21

5 Business and Innovation
Introduction
5.1

This section of the report provides an overview of the business environment in County Durham, including
the business base and key businesses and innovation performance and assets. The business environment
and the ability to attract and cultivate successful businesses as well as the level of innovation is a key to the
success of a local economy, supporting growth and development, higher wages, and productivity.

The Business Base
5.2

As of 2020, there were around 14,105 businesses within County Durham, accounting for 20% of businesses
within the North East, in line with its share of population. Since 2010, the business base has grown by 2,660
businesses; an uplift of 23.2%, compared to 27.9% across the North East and 33% nationally. The strongest
gains have been recorded in the period since 2014. If County Durham had matched the national growth rate,
it would now be home to 15,220 businesses, 1,115 more than the latest statistics show.

5.3

Business density provides a measure of the size of the business base relative to the working age population.
The business density in County Durham has grown between 2010 and 2020, from around 345 businesses per
10,000 working age residents to 430, roughly equal to the North East average, although it remains significantly
below the national average (677). The rate of growth (24.6%) recorded over the period also remains below
that recorded regionally (29.6%) and nationally (28.4%). County Durham would need an additional 8,126
businesses (58% of the existing business base) to achieve the England wide business density.

Business Start-Ups, Deaths and Survival Rates
5.4

In 2019, 1,710 new businesses were created in County Durham, accounting for 17% of start-ups in the
North East that year and 6% of the total business base. In recent years, County Durham’s business birth rate
has remained consistently below the regional and national averages, as a percentage of the business base,
although at 12.4% the numbers are substantial.

5.5

Intelligence shared by Durham County Council suggests that in 2020 the top four industries for start-ups were
construction, real estate, professional services and support activities, and wholesale and retail trade. Sole
traders accounted for over half (52.1%) of start-ups, limited companies accounted for 46.1% and other for
profit start-ups 2.8%.

5.6

Considering business deaths as a proportion of the total business base, County Durham performs well,
although this may be indicative of fewer business births as a share of the business base. On average, 10%
of businesses have ceased per annum over the last five years, which is considerably lower than the regional
attrition rate (which has consistently been more than double the rate recorded in County Durham) and
consistently below the national rate (which has fluctuated between 10% and 13%).

5.7

Data from the ONS details the business survival rates for enterprises created in 2014. In the first year, a similar
proportion of enterprises, more than 9 in 10, survived in County Durham, the region and nationally. Overall,
in the subsequent five years, 43.1% of businesses in County Durham survived, exceeding the rate recorded
across the North East and similar to the proportion in England as a whole.

Businesses by Employment and Turnover
5.8

The majority of businesses in County Durham are micro businesses employing fewer than 10 people (88.1%).
This is slightly above the average proportion for micro businesses for the North East (87.6%) and below the
proportion for England (89.7%). In 2020, there were 40 large organisations in County Durham employing over
250 people representing 0.3% of total businesses, a proportion marginally below the regional and national
averages. Almost 300 businesses in the county employ 50 or more staff.

Page 98

22

Business Size, 2020
County Durham
No.
Micro (0 to 9)
Small (10 to 49)

England

%

%

12,425

88.1

87.6

89.7

1,385

9.8

10.1

8.4

255

1.8

1.8

1.5

40

0.3

0.5

0.4

Medium-sized (50 to 249)
Large (250+)
Total

%

North East

14,105

Source: Business Counts, 2020

5.9

Businesses by turnover data shows that County Durham’s business base broadly mirrors regional and
national trends. Reflecting the focus on micro businesses highlighted above, the majority of businesses in
the county (84.3%) have a turnover of less than £0.5 million per annum. In contrast, there are over 1,230
businesses with a turnover over £1 million, equating to 8.7% of the business base, compared to 9.5%
nationally.

Businesses by Turnover, 2020
County Durham
No.
Micro (0 to 9)
Small (10 to 49)
Medium-sized (50 to 249)
Large (250+)
Total

%

North East

England

%

%

12,425

88.1

87.6

89.7

1,385

9.8

10.1

8.4

255

1.8

1.8

1.5

40

0.3

0.5

0.4

14,105

Source: Business Counts, 2020

Businesses by Sector
5.10

The business base by industry shows that, unlike the share of employment, construction makes up the largest
proportion of businesses (14.7%), followed by professional, scientific and technical; (12.2%) and agriculture
(9.7%).

5.11

Sectors in agriculture and accommodation have larger than typical shares of the business base in County
Durham when compared to the national picture, whilst the number of information and communications firms
is below average.

5.12

County Durham’s largest employment sectors of manufacturing and health account for relatively small
numbers of businesses, suggesting a focus on medium and large employers for employment in the sectors.

Page 99

23

Businesses by Sector, 2020
County Durham

England

Wholesale and retail trade

2,120

15.0%

Construction

2,075

14.7%

Professional, scientific and technical

1,720

12.2%

Agriculture, forestry and fishing

1,375

9.7%

Accommodation and food services

1,225

8.7%

Administrative and support services

965

6.8%

Manufacturing

880

6.2%

Transportation and storage

740

5.2%

Other service activities

685

4.9%

Human health and social work

510

3.6%

Information and communication

470

3.3%

Real estate activities

365

2.6%

Arts, entertainment and recreation

335

2.4%

Education

240

1.7%

Financial and insurance activities

190

1.3%

Public administration and defence

85

0.6%

Water supply; sewerage, waste management and remediation

60

0.4%

Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply

40

0.3%

Mining and quarrying

20

0.1%

Total

14,105

Source: UK Business Counts, 2020

Innovation
5.13

Innovation is a key driver of economic growth. Increasing the level of innovation and the uptake of new ideas
gives businesses a competitive edge and can lead to productivity improvements. The UK’s Industrial Strategy
also highlights the importance of innovation to economic growth and development, bringing benefits across
the economy as a whole.

5.14

The Innovation Readiness Report prepared by Oxford Economics (2019), suggests that County Durham
already has an established reputation for innovation and a specialism in R and D intensive sectors compared
to the remainder of the North East. In 2016, R and D expenditure was estimated at £100m in County Durham,
of which 45% was contributed by the higher education sector (reflecting the presence of research-led Durham
University). The report forecasts that R and D spend will increase by 7% between 2017 and 2025 reaching
£123 million by 2025. The research suggests that if the level of innovation was to match Cambridge and
Oxford there would be £283 million in additional R and D spend and 16,000 additional jobs in innovationorientated sectors by 2025.

Page 100

24

5.15

The UK Government’s Industrial Strategy has a target to raise investment on R and D to 2.4% of gross
domestic product (GDP) by 2027. In 2018, R and D expenditure in the North East (region) was £780 million,
1.2% of GDP, below the national rate 1.8% and the Industrial Strategy 2027 target. R and D expenditure in
the North East accounts for 2.4% of total English expenditure on R and D, including £443 million of R and D
undertaken by businesses (1.9% of the national total) and £250 million by Higher Education Institutions (3.5%
of the England total).

5.16

Reflecting the region’s focus of R and D expenditure within the Higher Education sector, the R and D spend
per employee was just £722 in the North East region in 2018. This is the second lowest amount of investment
per job in the English regions after Yorkshire and the Humber with £661. The average investment per job in
England stood at £1225. To equal this, the North East would need to attract an additional £545m of R and D
investment per annum.

5.17

Limited R and D investment across the business base is impacting on performance. Within the Benchmarking
Local Innovation Report (2019), the North East LEP ranks 28th out of 39 LEP areas for the number of
firms undertaking R and D with less than a fifth (19.3%) of firms undertaking this activity. In comparison,
Oxfordshire is ranked number 1 with 40% of firms undertaking research and development.

Knowledge Intensive Industries
5.18

Knowledge intensive industries, which include High tech and Medium-High Technology Manufacturing and
Knowledge-intensive Services as defined by Eurostat, are based on industries’ use of technology, R and D
intensity and the level of workforce skills and therefor provide one assessment of the level of innovation in an
area. Within County Durham, 91,000 people are employed in knowledge intensive industries – almost half of
total employment (49.7%), marginally below the national level (50.9%).

5.19

Knowledge-intensive service sectors are underrepresented in employment terms, accounting for 43.4% of
employment compared to 48.4% nationally. If knowledge intensive services constituted the same proportion
of jobs in County Durham as across the country, there would be an additional 9,000 jobs in knowledge
intensive services.

5.20

In contrast, County Durham has recognised strengths in high or medium-high technology manufacturing,
which account for 11,500 of jobs in knowledge intensive industries equating to 6.3% of total employment, the
second highest concentration in the North East and notably above the England average of 2.5%, reflecting
clusters of activity, including the manufacture of transport equipment such as at the Hitachi Rail plant in
County Durham.

High/Medium-high Tech Manufacturing Share of Total Employment, 2019
High-technology
Manufacturing

Medium-high-technology
Manufacturing

High and Med-high-tech

County Durham

1.3%

5.0%

6.3%

North East

0.5%

2.1%

2.5%

England

0.5%

3.7%

4.2%

Source: BRES, 2019

5.21

Oxford Economics predicts the GVA for high technology and knowledge-intensive sectors will grow by 5% by
2025, driven by productivity improvements which will help to boost wages in these sectors and make County
Durham more attractive to skilled individuals, as well as contributing to overall economic performance.

Assets
5.22

Two key innovation assets and locations in the county are the University and the North East Technology Park
(NETPark).

5.23

The prestigious Durham University is a key anchor institution for the county. Attended by over 19,000 students
and employing 1,720 academic staff and 2,640 support staff, Durham University is a leading UK centre of
excellence in higher education that forms part of the Russell Group of research-intensive universities.
Page 101

25

5.24

The National Industrial Strategy recognises the key role for universities as suppliers of highly skilled
graduates, drivers of innovation and enterprise and as significant local economic entities in themselves. The
university is ranked in the top 40 universities worldwide for employer reputation, 98% of Durham graduates
were in work or further study three and a half years after graduation (DLHE 2016/17).

5.25

The university has world-class expertise in science, engineering and technology, social science, the arts and
humanities. Around a third of all students are enrolled in STEM related subjects. For teaching, it is ranked first
in the UK for Music, second for English and Chemistry and third for Forensic Science and Archaeology. In the
QS World rankings by subject, Theology and Religion, Archaeology and Geography at Durham University are
in the world top 10.

5.26

Research performance is also strong. Durham University ranked within the top 20 universities in the UK for
research quality in 2021 and the university’s Research Excellence Framework (REF) results for 2014 found that
83% of research was “internationally excellent” or “world leading”. The University has a number of research
institutes including the Wolfson Research Institute, that facilitates research in medicine, health and well-being.

5.27

The 2019 Oxford Economics Innovation Readiness Report suggests the university underperforms in regards
to spin-off/ start-up activity potentially reflecting of an absence of a collaborative network surrounding the
university. This presents an opportunity for development, allowing the County Durham economy to gain
further benefits from the activities of the university.

5.28

NETPark, a leading science, engineering, and technology park, is another key asset which facilitates and
encourages collaboration supporting businesses to innovate and grow. It is the only science park in the UK to
have two Catapult Centres, as well as three national innovation centres for Healthcare Photonics, Formulation
and Printable Electronics. The co-location of the facilities and businesses helps to foster collaboration and
innovation.

Summary
5.29

County Durham has a large business base, with around 2,300 more companies than in 2014. There is a large
pool of small companies, 1,385 in total employing between 10 and 49 people, and some 295 companies
employing between 50 and 249 people. The employment profile is reflected in the business turnover figures
with some 145 companies with a turnover of between £5 million and £10 million and a further 155 with a
turnover in excess of £10 million.

5.30

While the business base by industry shows that construction makes up the largest proportion of businesses
followed by professional, scientific and technical; the county has a very large number of manufacturing
companies, 880 in total and 740 in transport and distribution. The county also has a significant number of
businesses in key service sectors with considerable growth potential. This includes some 470 businesses
working in ICT and 190 in financial and insurance services, although the data suggests employment numbers
and productivity are low. Further investigation of this position could help to develop these two sectors which
have very positive growth prospects.

5.31

In a typical year, some 1,700 new starts are established in County Durham and while the start-up rate is
below the North East average, the survival rate is much better, with a significant proportion still trading after
five years of operation. County Durham should seek to increase the new starts rate to consistently match the
wider North East figure.

5.32

The Durham economy benefits from many established and substantive businesses. Within this pool there are
likely to be a substantive number with growth plans and the potential for expansion over the coming years.
Developing plans to assist these companies, particularly in growth and high productivity sectors, should be a
high priority for business support, skills and innovation funding.

5.33

County Durham has recognised strengths in high and medium high-tech manufacturing, with a relatively high
concentration of employment. However, knowledge-intensive services are underrepresented in the county
– presenting an area for potential growth. While the county benefits from a number of important assets,
including the university, improving the skills level of the workforce is key to driving growth in innovation and
productivity, with a highly skilled local labour force attracting more innovative businesses which then attract
more highly skilled people to the area.

Page 102

26

6 Education, Training and Skills
Introduction
6.1

The education and skills system plays a key role in ensuring County Durham’s young people have the
skills and abilities that they will need to thrive in the labour market, and ensuring employers can access the
workforce they need – across all age groups and career stages – to compete. Improving skills levels can drive
growth, productivity, and the earnings potential of an economy as well as supporting individuals to respond
to changing employer requirements. This section considers the current skills profile of the population and
alignment with evolving skills needs within the economy.

Skills and Training
6.2

The proportion of the working age population in County Durham skilled to Level 2 and above (75.3%) is
broadly in line with the national population (75.7%) and higher than that of the North East (73.5%). Greater
variations are evident at both the high and low skilled end of the spectrum. Data shows that:
 At 31.6%, the proportion of the population with a degree or a higher degree (Level 4+) in County Durham is
considerably below the national average (40.0%), and marginally below the North East average (31.9%).
 At the other end of the skills spectrum, 8.7% of working age residents have no qualifications, above the
national proportion 7.5% but below the regional level 9.4%.

6.3

People with no formal qualifications are likely to find it increasingly difficult to find permanent, secure jobs
paying above the minimum wage, as the structure of employment and employer demands change. With
a significant proportion of the county’s workforce in occupations at Levels 2/3, across both office based
and industrial sectors, where jobs will be lost due to digitisation and automation, there is also likely to be a
persistent demand for updating and refreshing skills to support people to move into new employment.

6.4

Overall, while the skills profile presents a broadly positive picture, these figures reveal that skills in County
Durham are concentrated towards the lower end of the scale than nationally. Given changing skills
requirements, a need for ongoing upskilling and re-skilling is anticipated to impact on all sections of the
workforce over time. Supporting people of all ages to continue to enhance their skills will be important to
facilitating access to and progression in employment, as well as supporting productivity gains across the
economy.

6.5

Within County Durham 56% of businesses offer on and off the job training, exceeding the national rate of
50%. 100% of companies within County Durham offer any form of training, this is comparable to the national
rate.

6.6

During 2018/2019, there were 3,060 apprenticeship starts in County Durham, 22% of the North East
total. Just over 30% were intermediate apprenticeships, 43% were advanced and 24% were higher
apprenticeships. Apprenticeship starts are broadly in line with the main employment sectors with the highest
numbers recorded in business, administration and law; health, public services and care for the health and
social work sector; and engineering and manufacturing technologies for the advanced manufacturing sector.

Occupation
6.7

As of 2020, professional occupations (19.9%) account for the largest share of the working age population
in County Durham, followed by associate professional and technical occupations (13.8%) and caring,
leisure and other service occupations (11.7%). The occupational profile is aligned to the North East, but the
comparison to the national picture reveals some disparities.

6.8

Locally there is a larger share of the workforce working in lower skilled occupations for example: 11.7% in
caring and leisure roles compared to 8.8% nationally; 11.3% in elementary occupations compared to 9.6%
nationally; and 7.9% are plant and machine operatives compared to just 5.6% nationally. This is indicative of
the County’s large industrial employment base. In addition, only 8.7% of the workforce are in managerial and
senior roles compared to 11.8% nationally.

6.9

ONS Analysis from 20195 looked at the occupations most at risk of some tasks being replaced through
automation, which found lower skilled jobs were most at risk (ONS (2019) Which occupations are at
highest risk of being automated? https://www.ons.gov.uk/employmentandlabourmarket/peopleinwork/
employmentandemployeetypes/articles/whichoccupationsareathighestriskofbeingautomated/2019-03-25).
Page 103

27

The analysis suggested 1.5 million jobs in England are at risk of being partially automated in the future, with
women, young people, and those in part time work are most likely to work in jobs which are at high risk of
automation – 70% of the roles at high risk of automation are held by women, and those aged 20-24 are most
at risk.
6.10

Elementary roles and process, plant and machine operatives on average are most at risk of automation, while
managerial and professional occupations are least at risk. The three occupations with the highest probability
of automation are waiters and waitresses, shelf fillers and elementary sales occupations, while medical
practitioners, higher education teaching professionals, and senior professionals of educational establishment
are at the lowest risk of automation.

6.11

Applying these probabilities to County Durham’s occupational profile, suggests around 45% of jobs are at
high risk of being automated, the same proportion as across the North East but above the national proportion
(43%).

Skill Shortages
6.12

The UK Employer Skills Survey provides a comprehensive source of information on employer skills needs.
In 2019, it found that 15% of employers in County Durham reported a skills gap compared with 13% in the
North East and 13% nationally. Skills gaps of 3% are recorded in elementary occupations, skilled trades, and
administrative and clerical staff, this is in line with national skills gaps reported for these occupations.

6.13

County Durham employers reported a lower proportion of hard to fill and skill shortage vacancies than the
North East and national averages in labour intensive to middle-skilled occupations. However, 66% of hard to
fill vacancies are due to a shortage of skills, compared to 67% nationally.

6.14

As noted earlier in the report, there is also the risk of significant skill losses as the population ages and people
move into retirement, particularly in manufacturing industries. There is a need to ensure targeted upskilling on
the workforce including younger generations to combat this challenge.

Young People Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET)
6.15

A young person who is not in education, employment, or training is classed as ‘NEET’ (https://www.gov.
uk/government/publications/neet-and-participation-local-authority-figures). There is strong evidence
that being NEET can have a long-lasting, negative impact on people’s labour market prospects, in terms of
likelihood of experiencing future spells of unemployment and low earning levels, as well as on confidence and
mental health.

Young People Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET), 2020
County Durham

North East

England

% age 16/17 NEET

4.9

5.9

5.5

% female age 16/17 NEET

4.3

5.2

4.7

% male age 16/17 NEET

5.5

6.6

6.2

% age 16 NEET

3.7

3.9

3.5

% age 17 NEET

6.1

7.9

7.5

Source: NEET and participation: local authority figures, 2020

6.16

County Durham performs well in terms of young people not in education, employment or training against the
regional and national rates. Whilst the percentage of 16 year old NEETs at 3.7% is higher than the national
rate of 3.5%, it is lower than the regional rate of 3.9%, and the percentage of 17 year old NEETs at 6.1% is
lower than the regional rate of 7.9% and the national rate of 7.5%.

Page 104

28

Education
6.17

The Department for Education (DfE) implemented Attainment 8 and Progress 8 measures in 2017, creating
a new secondary school accountability system. Attainment 8 measures the average achievement of pupils
in up to 8 qualifications including English and maths. Progress 8 aims to capture the progress a pupil makes
from the end of Key Stage 2 to the end of Key Stage 4. It compares pupils’ achievement – their Attainment 8
score – with the average Attainment 8 score of all pupils nationally who had a similar starting point (or ‘prior
attainment’), calculated using assessment results from the end of primary school.

6.18

Data from the DfE reveals County Durham’s educational attainment is above the national average. Although
between the academic years of 2017/18 and 2018/19 the average Attainment 8 score remained the same in
County Durham, the Progress 8 score in the academic year 2018/19 reveals an improving position for County
Durham. Despite this, the Progress 8 scores reveal that students continue to report poorer progress between
the end of Key Stage 2 and Key Stage 4 compared to the national average.

Secondary Attainment between 2017/18 and 2018/19
2017/2018
Average Attainment 8 Score per
pupil

Workplace Earnings – 2020

County Durham

2018/2019

change

45

45

0

44.5

44.7

+0.2

County Durham

-0.23

-0.2

+0.03

England

-0.02

-0.03

-0.01

England

Source: DfE, GCSEs Key Stage 4 Statistics, 2017/18 to 2018/19

6.19

In 2019, 65% of Key Stage 2 pupils were meeting the expected standard in County Durham for reading,
writing and mathematics, equal to the national share but below the regional average of 67%. This marks a
deterioration in performance locally since 2016, when that rate was at 70%. Although all areas considered
have reported a deterioration in performance across the period, the reduction has been most significant in
County Durham which previously performed ahead of the comparator areas.

6.20

Ofsted scores for 2019/2020 reveal that the majority of County Durham’s primary schools are either
outstanding or good (89%), comparable to 88% nationally. However, a smaller proportion of County Durham’s
primary schools are outstanding (16%) compared to 18% in North East and 17% nationally. One in ten
primary schools in the county require improvement – a proportion that exceeds the rate in comparator areas although just 1% of primary schools are inadequate compared to 3% nationally.

6.21

In comparison, Ofsted results for secondary schools reveal that a larger proportion of County Durham’s
secondary schools are outstanding (22%) than the North East average (16%) and a slightly higher proportion
than nationally (20%). However, a higher proportion of schools require improvement or are inadequate, 38% in
County Durham compared to 24% nationally.

6.22

Outstanding primary schools and high performing secondary schools are an important feature in persuading
families with school age children to move into and remain in the county, potentially reducing in-commuting
and attracting high skilled staff to take up employment opportunities.

6.23

Schools in County Durham continue to improve attainment at all levels and provide older pupils with better
information, advice and guidance to make the transition to further education or employment.

Future Skills
6.24

It is widely recognised that skills requirements are changing across the economy and that there is a need for
the workforce to be adaptable. For example, digitisation will have a significant impact upon employment and
skills at all levels across all sectors and demand for higher level skills is increasing.

6.25

The UK Commission for Employment and Skills The Future of Work Jobs and Skills in 2030 report suggests
there is likely to be a further polarisation of the labour market, with a shift towards higher skilled occupations
and ‘a shrinking middle’ as increasing number of jobs which traditionally occupy middle skill levels and
earnings range become redundant due to technological advance and globalisation. The highly skilled minority
Page 105

29

will have strong bargaining power while low skilled workers will be forced to work more flexibly increasing
inequality. However, the report suggests new types of jobs will emerge to fill the middle ground, this means
there will need to be a focus on ensuring people are retrained and reskilled and supported to moving into new
roles to avoid rising unemployment levels as jobs become redundant.
6.26

The biggest increase in jobs is projected for managers, professionals and associate professionals, driving the
demand for scientific and technical skills. In terms of low skilled roles, caring, leisure and other service jobs
are expected to grow, while mid-level skilled jobs in administration and production are expected to decline.

6.27

Nationally, the workforce is expected to become more highly skilled, with around 54% of people in
employment qualified to Level 4 or above by 2024, reflecting demand and supply-side factors as educational
participation levels are expected to remain strong, older and often less qualified people retire, and demand
grows for higher qualified employees to fill increasing numbers of managerial and professional jobs. This will
have significant implications for the workforce in County Durham, which is concentrated within mid-level
skills.

6.28

The 2019 Oxford Economics Innovation Readiness report suggests in County Durham there will be a
continued shift in occupational profile with the highest skill-based occupations expected to account for
almost half of all net additional jobs in the period up until 2025.

Summary
6.29

The County Durham skills base reflects the structure of the economy, although the presence of major
companies such as Hitachi Rail and GSK show that the county can provide a high skilled labour force to meet
employer demand.

6.30

County Durham is well placed to provide the future workforce for a changing economy, with large numbers of
young people regularly graduating from universities and its ability to attract staff from the wider North East.

6.31

The county has more of a challenge with regard to recruitment issues related to senior and experienced staff,
an issue affecting a number of sectors and affecting the wider North East. Brexit is likely to make the UK a
less attractive destination for international migration and could exacerbate these persistent problems.

6.32

A medium-term solution is the grow your own option and the county has an excellent record in
apprenticeships, including higher level apprenticeships. The recruitment of apprenticeships should remain one
of the most important priorities for the county given the evidence of the benefits to both the company and
individual from investing in young people.

6.33

The occupational structure in County Durham shows much higher proportions employed in lower skilled
occupations including in caring and leisure roles, elementary occupations and plant and machine operative
roles and fewer working in more highly skilled occupations. Many routine jobs will be impacted by new
technology.

6.34

County Durham has significant numbers in occupations which are at risk as digitisation, automation and
robotics replaces jobs in both manufacturing and services. This often unseen but steady erosion of jobs will
impact on efforts to increase employment and respond to the pandemic. Many of those affected will need to
update their skills to take up new employment and the health sector, distribution and logistics are likely to be
an important source of new jobs.

6.35

County Durham schools are underpinning improvements to the potential of pupils to move on to higher
educated further education and employment. There is a small but significant group who do very poorly, with a
serious and long term effect on their life prospects. Improving the educational performance of this group, who
often are in challenging social settings, should be a major priority.

Page 106

30

7 Housing and Communities
Introduction
7.1

This section looks at the housing and communities’ elements of the County Durham economy, including
housing provision and affordability, deprivation and health and the roles different areas of the county play in
the economy.

7.2

Housing plays a vital role in supporting the growth of the area and is key to reversing the forecast decline in
working age population and providing the workforce that will be required to support economic growth.

7.3

In addition, addressing deprivation is key to developing a more inclusive economy, and ensuring areas are
not left behind but can contribute and benefit from growth. There is now a growing body of evidence which
shows that increasing productivity and the number of jobs in an economy are not guaranteed to improve living
standards. Addressing the challenges facing communities, including housing and neighbourhood conditions,
is an important part of the inclusive growth agenda.

Households
7.4

As of 2019, there were an estimated 233,930 households in County Durham, 20% of households in the North
East, with the average household size 2.2 people. ONS household forecasts reveal the number of households
is expected to grow by 21,682 (9.3%) in County Durham by 2039. This rate of growth is marginally above the
North East wide growth (8.8%) but below the national growth rate (17.0%).

Household Projections (in thousands), 2014
2009
County Durham
North East
England

220
1,123
21,919

2019

2029

2039

2019 to 2039 Change
No.

%

234

246

256

22

9.3%

1,182

1,241

1,286

105

8.8%

23,927

26,083

28,004

4,077

17.0%

Source: DCLG Live table 406, 2014 based

7.5

Housing plays a key role in economic development. Successful housing delivery is key to retaining and
attracting people in the area. The anticipated household growth highlights the need to ensure there is a
pipeline of housing delivery to meet growth. Delivering the right sort and scale of housing development can
enhance economic performance and make places more attractive and competitive.

7.6

The housing market can also lead to concentrations of poverty, or act as a constraint on growth. The quality of
housing is a key issue in some parts of the county with an ageing housing stock. There is a need to renew and
replace some housing to ensure it is fit for its residents, serving and uplifting communities, improving quality of life.

7.7

It is important that County Durham’s housing market, and housing growth plans, support its wider economic
growth ambitions. This includes ensuring there is a supply of family housing built in good locations in terms
of employment, schools, services, in order to attract working age people to the area, including those who
currently commute into the county to work, to help to counteract the anticipated decline in the working age
population. In addition, as the county’s population ages, ensuring there is suitable housing for the growing
elderly population is also important, which in turn can help to release family homes for working households.

7.8

In the ten years between 2009/10 and 2019/20, an average of 1,231 new homes were completed each year,
below the level of household growth over the same period. Data from the last two years shows an uplift in the
number of homes completed, with 1,640 homes completed in addition to a further 1,440 homes started in
2019/20. This is above the Local Plan Annual Growth target of 1,308 between 2016-2035.

7.9

The Strategic Housing Land Availability Report 2019 finds there is capacity for 32,388 houses over 375 sites
that are identified as potentially suitable for housing development, of which 234 sites are existing housing
Page 107

31

commitments, some of which are under construction. Within the 1-5 years delivery time frame there is
potential capacity for 18,357 houses across the county and within the 6-15 years delivery time frame there is
the potential capacity for a further 7,747 houses.
7.10

The Local Plan, adopted in 2020, reiterates the need to allocate housing close to jobs and services to ensure
sustainable development by reducing the need to travel and ensuring that existing services are supported.
The key housing allocations identified in the Local Plan match the employment growth locations and are
concentrated within East Durham (20.9%), South Durham (16.4%) and Mid Durham (14.9%), which account
for over half of the total allocations.

Housing Affordability
7.11

Housing affordability is a key strength across County Durham. A commonly used indicator of housing
affordability is the ratio of the median house price to median annual earnings. As of 2019, the median house
price was over four times the median annual salary with a ratio of 4.35, suggesting housing in County Durham
is more affordable than the North East as a whole, which had a ratio of 5.20, and significantly more affordable
than nationally (7.83).

7.12

This is primarily driven by lower median house prices, rather than lower incomes. The median house price in
2019 in County Durham was £120,000, the lowest across all North East local authorities, marginally below the
North East average (£140,000) and significantly below the national figure (£240,000).

7.13

The median housing affordability ratio has fallen since the decade before, similar to the trend across the North
East but contrary to the national trend.

7.14

Housing is also relatively affordable for lower earners in County Durham. The ratio of lower quartile house
price to lower quartile gross annual earnings is the lowest reported across all North East local authorities, at
3.68 compared to a North East average of 4.66, and significantly below the national ratio of 7.27.

7.15

A 2018 independent Residential Market Assessment of County Durham found that the County Durham market
is granular in nature with house prices fluctuating significantly across relatively short geographical distances.

Deprivation
7.16

The Index of Multiple Deprivation (IMD) is the most used measure of deprivation. IMD covers the following
seven domains: income deprivation; employment deprivation; health deprivation and disability; education
skills and training deprivation; barriers to housing and services; living environment deprivation; and crime.

7.17

In 2019, County Durham was the 62nd most deprived local authority in the country (out of 317), down from
75th position in 2015, representing a deteriorating position. Lower level statistics show that 12% of Lowerlayer Super Output Areas (LSOAs) are in the 10% most deprived in England, compared to 20.1% across
the North East as a whole, while exactly a third of LSOAs are in the most deprived 20% across the country.
Within a northern context, particularly when compared to many of the northern cities, County Durham does
not perform poorly by this measure of deprivation.

7.18

The figure overleaf shows there are hotspots of deprivation in the East of Durham and coastal towns of
Seaham and Peterlee, Bishop Auckland and Newton Aycliffe in the South, Stanley in the North and parts of
Durham City.

7.19

There is a need to address longstanding pockets of deprivation which exist within certain localities. This
includes communities disconnected to their housing and labour markets which has a negative impact on
social mobility. As noted by the Joseph Rowntree Foundation, a paradox exists where despite particular
neighbourhoods being located close to key employment sites, the residents continue to be underrepresented
within their local labour market.

7.20

Key interventions include: action to ensure young people are able to gain the qualifications, skills and
capabilities to take up training and employment opportunities; ensuring targeted support is in place for
those with health issues, including mental health, to bring people back into training and employment;
support for those who need multiple interventions before they are ready to take up training and employment
opportunities. In addition, the physical regeneration of deprived and rundown areas will play an important part
in raising aspirations and increasing community confidence.

7.21

Interventions which can help address these issues and foster inclusive growth are key to lifting areas out of
poverty and supporting social mobility. Not all deprived areas face the same issues and barriers, and therefore
policy approaches need to recognise diversity in areas.

Page 108

32

7.22

County Durham performs relatively poorly in the health deprivation and disability and employment domains
– ranked 32nd and 35th most deprived respectively – with around a quarter of LSOAs in the most 10%
deprived for both domains. In contrast, County Durham performs particularly well in the barriers to housing
and services domain and relatively well in terms of the education, skills and training domain.

Index of Multiple Deprivation, 2019
Domain

% of LSOAs in most deprived
10% nationally

Rank of Average Score

Overall Index

62

12.0%

Income

49

12.7%

Employment

35

24.7%

109

9.3%

Health Deprivation and Disability

32

25.3%

Crime

78

14.5%

288

0.9%

Income Deprivation Affecting Children Index

45

16.7%

Income Deprivation Affecting Older People

68

4.9%

Education, Skills and Training

Barriers to Housing and Services

Source: IMD, 2019

Health Inequalities
7.23

As the IMD data suggest County Durham performs poorly in measures of health. Relative to regional and
national levels, County Durham has:
 A lower healthy life expectancy at birth, a measure of the average number of years a person would expect
to live in good health, for both men and women (Public Health England 2016-2018)
 Higher mortality rates from causes considered preventable (across all ages) (Ibid)
 A higher suicide rate and prevalence of mental health disorders (for those aged 16 and over) (Public Health
England 2017-2019)

7.24

In addition compared to the national level County Durham has a higher prevalence of obesity in children (Year
6 aged) (Public Health England 2019/20). Closing these gaps could impact on economic performance as well
as individual enjoyment of life.

7.25

Ill health is the cause of a larger share of those economically inactive than nationally, reducing the size of the
labour force available to local employers, and suppressing household income levels.

7.26

A Northern Health Science Alliance report, Health is Wealth, highlights the importance of health on
productivity and how improving health outcomes can reduce the productivity disparities between the North
and the rest of England. The report highlights how reducing ill health leads to higher employment levels, lower
economic inactivity and higher GVA per head.

7.27

Educational attainment and employment are key predictors for health and wellbeing and vice versa with poor
health and high levels of deprivation impacting on school attendance, educational attainment and productivity
at work and sickness absence. It is therefore key to look at wider determinants of health, including income,
educational attainment access to employment, in order to address long standing health inequalities.

7.28

Given the constraint poor population health has on economic growth, there is a need to prioritise interventions
which tackle deprivation, as discussed above, which results in ill health, in addition to providing services that
promote the health and wellbeing of the workforce and help people manage their long-term health conditions.

Page 109

33

County Durham Geography
7.29

Durham has a diverse geography, with distinct areas having different roles to play in the local economy with
different opportunities and aspirations for growth.

Durham City
7.30

Durham City lies at the heart of County Durham, economically, socially and culturally. Durham City is the main
employment centre for the county, accounting for around a quarter of the county’s employment, providing
access to employment and education, health and retail services for communities across the county. The City
offers strong public transport and rail links, with Durham railway station and bus station, providing access to
large potential labour pools.

7.31

Durham City Centre is the county’s main office location. The city centre and businesses parks within the town
represent a distinct offer within the county. The Aykley Heads site forms a prominent, high profile, gateway
site, within close proximity of Durham Railway Station.

7.32

Durham City is also a key draw for visitors. Home to Durham Cathedral and Castle World Heritage Site, the
city was named as one of the best cities in the world to visit in 2020 by The Independent.11

7.33

There has been significant investment in Durham City including the £30m redevelopment of The Riverwalk
Shopping Centre including an improved retail offer, a multiplex cinema and associated leisure uses and new
public realm opening up the riverside walkways. The £120 million re-development of the former Milburngate
House site to deliver mixed-use commercial, leisure and residential development will help to regenerate a
historic part of the city. Recently, New Durham City bus station was awarded a further £3.6 million towards a
total £10.4 million cost to deliver a new bus station increasing footfall into the city centre.

Towns
7.34

County Durham’s towns also play an important role in supporting its communities. There are several larger
towns which play an important role in the county’s economy including Barnard Castle, Chester-le-Street,
Consett, Spennymoor, Peterlee, Stanley, Bishop Auckland, Newton Aycliffe, Seaham and Crook, all of which
have a population over 6,000 and are key locations for employment, retail and local services.

7.35

An ambitious masterplan for Bishop Auckland town centre has been developed capitalising on significant
investment at Auckland Castle, to reposition the town as a major tourist destination within the county.
The recent Future High Streets Fund award of almost £20m will play an important role in supporting the
programme of change.

7.36

There is a level of decline occurring within town centres in County Durham, similar to what is happening in
town centres across the country, particularly in the North. COVID-19 has accelerated the decline caused by
the rise of online shopping as well as out-of-centre retail parks.

7.37

Diversification of the offer will support the county’s town centres to have a sustainable future, reducing the
reliance on declining retail and introducing new uses including housing, health and leisure, entertainment,
education, arts, business/office space.

Rural Communities
7.38

County Durham is a rural county with two in five residents living in rural areas. Rural areas can make a
significant economic contribution, although dispersed populations and a lack of employment concentrations
can at times mask their value. Many rural areas face challenges in providing a diverse range of employment
opportunities, notably offering sufficient higher paid employment whilst retaining their working age population.
Often there is a cycle of out-migration from rural areas of younger working age people as a result of a lack of
local employment and progression opportunities.

7.39

A key objective of the Local Plan is to “Support and improve the rural economy by encouraging
diversification, retaining and enhancing key facilities, infrastructure and services while promoting appropriate
new development in rural settlements.”

7.40

It is important to ensure rural communities have a balance of ages and are supported to grow while
respecting the landscape and natural assets, ensuring they are providing quality environments for people to
live and visit. Public transport networks are of key importance to rural communities, connecting people to
employment and services and allowing young people to access education.

Page 110

34

Tourism and Cultural Assets
7.41

County Durham is the second most visited local authority in the North East after Newcastle by international
visitors. It has seen significant growth in international visitors with an uplift of 76% over the past ten years
compared to growth of 30% in Newcastle.

7.42

While the City of Durham is a major destination for UK and international visitors, the county has a strong
tourism offer across the geography with an attractive coastline and countryside offer with the North
Pennines Area of Outstanding Natural Beauty (AONB) incorporating much of the Durham Dales. There are
approximately 70 regionally, nationally and internationally recognisable visitor attractions in the county.

7.43

According to data from VisitBritain, three of the county’s visitor attractions rank in the top five destinations in
the North East. The most visited are Durham Cathedral (more than 619,000 visitors and worshippers in 2016)
and Beamish Museum (797,203 paying visitors in 2017). Other attractions with significant visitor numbers
include Hamsterley Forest, Hardwick Park, Locomotion (National Railway Museum at Shildon), Palace Green
Library, The Oriental Museum, the World Heritage Site Visitor Centre, The Bowes Museum, Bowlees Visitor
Centre, Auckland Castle, Raby Castle, Durham Castle, Diggerland, Crook Hall and Gardens, Barnard Castle,
The Botanic Gardens and the Durham County Cricket Club.

7.44

In addition, the county boasts a number of historic townscapes as well as local and national walking, cycling
and riding routes which link beyond County Durham’s borders. The county hosts major events which attract
large visitor numbers such as Lumiere Durham and the Durham Brass Festival. A major new attraction at
Eleven Arches, Bishop Auckland has recently added to the county’s tourism offer, linking to the wider art and
heritage based tourism opportunities being realised at Auckland Castle and Bishop Auckland Market Place.

7.45

There remains considerable scope to increase visitor numbers and length of stay. The main challenge is
developing and promoting the variety and quality of the county offer, on a par with the high-profile North
Yorkshire offer, with both a natural environment and heritage offer in many smaller towns.

7.46

Tourism and the leisure market have a role to play in regenerating many of the smaller town centres which
have declined as consumers have moved to online shopping and major chains have closed shops in many
smaller high streets.

Summary
7.47

Housing delivery has typically been below household growth in the past decade although in recent years
there has been a notable uplift in the number of homes completed. It will be important to maintain high levels
of housing completions, with the added bonus of providing local jobs in the construction industry. Housing
delivery needs to balance meeting the needs of an ageing demographic as well as retaining and attracting a
young and skilled workforce including through the provision of family housing in high demand locations.

7.48

As well as ensuring new good quality housing is delivered in the right locations to attract and retain working
age population, there is an ageing housing stock and in some areas there is a need to renew and replace poor
quality to housing to ensure it is fit for residents and does not continue to lead to concentrations of poverty
and deprivation. There is also a need to make the housing stock more energy efficient as a contribution to
the low carbon agenda. This is likely to require Government support and could provide opportunities for local
employment.

7.49

Housing affordability is a key strength of the county: the median housing affordability ratio in 2019 in County
Durham stood at 4.35 compared with the national ratio of 7.83, driven by lower median house prices, rather
than lower incomes. In IMD deprivation indicators, County Durham performs well in the Barriers to Housing
and Services domain.

7.50

In a northern context, relatively speaking County Durham, does not perform poorly in regard to levels of
multiple deprivation, ranking 62nd nationally. In the North East, it is the 5th least deprived out of the 12 local
authorities. However, there remains pockets of deprivation in certain communities across the County in the
East of Durham and coastal towns of Seaham and Peterlee, Bishop Auckland and Newton Aycliffe in the
South, Stanley in the North and parts of Durham City.

7.51

County Durham performs relatively poorly in the health deprivation and disability and employment domains.
There is a strong link between health inequalities and high rates of economic inactivity. Poor health is linked
to low educational attainment, absence and poor productivity. Multiple deprivation has affected many
communities for many years, and various targeted initiatives have been tried over the past 20 years. There is a
need to develop new solutions to make more progress.
Page 111

35

7.52

County Durham town centres are likely to face major challenges as retail declines and online shopping and
home deliveries increase. The pandemic is likely to lead to further high street closures while initiatives to help,
such as the Future High Streets Fund, provide limited support to a small number of towns. There may be
some benefit from looking across the UK for examples of community and business led successful town centre
regeneration, focusing on smaller towns.

7.53

The diverse geography with Durham City, attractive towns and its rural communities have important and
differing roles to play in the County Durham economy.

7.54

County Durham is a predominantly County with two in five residents living in rural areas. Ensuring there
are suitable employment opportunities and transport links to key employment locations can help to retain
younger working residents within rural communities, supporting the area to grow. It is also important that new
development is delivered in a way which protects the natural environment and landscape.

7.55

Durham City plays a central role, home to key employers, anchor institutions and key cultural and heritage
assets. The city is a key tourist destination with Durham Cathedral and Durham Castle, within a UNESCO
World Heritage Site. The Bishop Auckland tourist offer is further being strengthened. As lockdown and
travel restrictions are eased, tourism will help to play a key role in supporting the economic recovery postCOVID-19.

Page 112

36

8 Connectivity and Infrastructure
Introduction
8.1

The quality of the economic infrastructure is a key factor determining competitiveness and impacts on the
productivity levels of local areas, as highlighted in the UK Industrial Strategy. Infrastructure helps to connect
people and businesses to markets, increasing earning power, attracting inward investment and driving
productivity.

8.2

Economic infrastructure covers a wide range of facilities and structures that an economy needs to operate
successfully, including the transport network, broadband connectivity, and the availability and quality of
employment land and commercial premises.

Transport
8.3

County Durham benefits from direct access to the A1(M), A19 and A66, connecting the county to the rest of
the country. The A1 plays an important role in the economy, providing the North East access to Scotland and
the south of England, while the A19 connects the east of the county to Tyne and Wear and Tees Valley and
the A66 in the south of the county provides an east-west link. Significant investment over recent years has
improved capacity on the A1(M) and A19, benefitting manufacturers and exporting firms.

8.4

There are three airports within one hour of County Durham, providing access to Europe and the rest of the
world. County Durham also benefits from access to ports on the North East coast including Teesport and Port
of Tyne.

8.5

The rail network is key to the economy with regular direct fast links to Newcastle, Edinburgh, Glasgow,
York, Manchester, Liverpool, London, the West Midlands and the South West. County Durham benefits
from services on the East Coast Main Line (ECML) stopping in Durham City and Chester-le-Street linking
Edinburgh and London, providing connectivity to key locations. In total, there are seven train stations across
the county which had a total usage, defined by the number of entries and exits, of 3.4 million between April
2019 and March 2020. Durham Train Station, accounted for the majority of total station usage and was the
second busiest train station in the North East, with 2.7m entries and exits. Between 2009/10 and 2019/20,
total station usage in County Durham, increased by 0.8m (32.2%), indicating growing demand for train travel
in the area (Office of Rail and Road).

8.6

There are capacity issues on the ECML which could be partially relived by reinstating the Leamside Line,
which would also support a more regular service between Durham City and Chester-le-Street and Newcastle
and York, as well as allowing this part of the ECML to be HS2 ready and support the vision for the Northern
Powerhouse Rail network.

8.7

The county benefits from a network of bus routes which connect residents throughout County Durham,
Teesside and Tyne and Wear. Given the dispersed and ageing population and the 27% of households in
County Durham who do not have access to a car (Census 2011), the bus network is highly important,
particularly within rural communities and the most used form of public transport in the county. There is an
extensive network of services with around 175 services and over 3,000 stops.

8.8

The Local Plan references the potential for the Tyne and Wear Metro to reach County Durham in the longer
term.

8.9

While much of East and mid Durham are well connected, transport connectivity in the rural parts of West
Durham remains an area of concern. Given that County Durham is primarily a rural county it is important to
address connectivity issues ensuring communities can access education and employment opportunities. Poor
connectivity can also impact upon its attractiveness as a business location and place to invest.

Digital Connectivity
8.10

Good broadband coverage is an increasingly important economic asset, enabling businesses and residents
to connect to the information economy, work remotely and benefit from electronic commerce and new ways
of working. As of January 2021, superfast broadband (over 30Mbps) coverage is approaching 100% of
premises (96.5%) in the county, marginally below the UK average (96.6%). However only 27.3% of premises
have ultrafast broadband speed over 100Mbps, compared to 64.63% across the UK as a whole (https://labs.
thinkbroadband.com/local/councils).
Page 113

37

8.11

Within rural parts of the county a lack of reliable broadband connection remains a key issue that acts as a
constraint to the economy in these areas.

8.12

The COVID-19 pandemic and lockdown measures has significantly increased the importance of digital
connectivity, with a drastic move to home working across many parts of the economy. 5G is now available
in some parts of the county, around Durham City and the A19 corridor, although coverage lags behind
Newcastle and parts of the Tees Valley.

Labour Mobility
8.13

Data from the 2011 Census show that 127,525 people (66%) of County Durham residents remained in the
county for work while 65,161 residents (34%) worked elsewhere. The County Durham labour market is closely
connected to the surrounding areas in the North East, with the majority of those commuting in and out of
neighbouring local authorities. There were relatively insignificant amounts of commuter travel along the west
boundary of the county, particularly towards Cumbria and south into Richmondshire, corresponding with the
concentration of population in the east of the county.

8.14

Around nine in 10 of those commuting out of County Durham are going elsewhere in the North East
(89%). The majority of those commuting out of the area work in neighbouring Sunderland and Gateshead,
which accounts for 40% of those working outside of County Durham. The next most common workplace
destinations for County Durham’s residents were Newcastle and Darlington, each accounting for 13% of
commuters.

8.15

In 2011, 35,193 people commuted into County Durham for work. Residents in the neighbouring local authority
of Sunderland accounted for the largest number of those commuting into the county (27%), followed by
Darlington and Gateshead who together with Sunderland accounted for over half of all in-commuters.

8.16

In 2011, County Durham was a net exporter of labour with a net outflow of almost 30,000. In 2017, data
from Oxford Economics suggests this figure has risen to over 40,000. Out-commuting can be advantageous
to support the economic success of the borough’s residents by offering the required scale and breadth of
opportunities that contribute to the county’s higher residence-based than workplace-based earnings.

8.17

The net out-migration to work emphasises the importance of connections to other local authority areas to
ensure residents have access to both the scale and variety of employment opportunities they require and
demonstrates the quality and employability of the resident labour force.

8.18

However, it does suggest County Durham is not as successful at being an attractive place to work as it is to
live, with insufficient employment options available to retain its residents and/or attract those from outside,
meaning there could be untapped potential for local labour to be utilised in higher wage and more productive
uses if the opportunities were available in the county.

Employment Assets
8.19

Durham City is a key employment centre, with the largest office market, home to significant public sector
occupiers, including the County Council, Passport Office, Land Registry, Northumbrian Water, Durham and
Darlington Primary Care Trust (PCT) and Durham University as well as attracting private sector occupiers
such as Atom Bank. However, the City is constrained by a lack of available sites which limits private sector
investment.

8.20

The North East England Chamber of Commerce identified a lack of high-quality office space in and around
Durham City as a constraint to growth in financial and professional services. Significant high quality office
development at Aykley Heads, located within close proximity to Durham Train Station, will help to meet this
gap and attract inward investment. In addition, Milburngate – the 450,000 square foot mixed use development
on the banks of the River Wear – will deliver significant office, leisure and retail space as well as new
apartments.

8.21

The A1 Corridor (including sites around Durham City) is the county’s principal industrial location. It has a
number of major employment locations including:
 Aycliffe Industrial Estate, Newton Aycliffe – A 400-acre industrial estate in the south of County Durham
located close to the A1 with over 500 businesses and 10,000 employees, home to Hitachi Rail, Gestamp
Tallent, 3M, Inovyn, Husqvarna among others. The arrival of Hitachi Rail has supported large scale job
creation and helps to position Durham as a key location for inward investment in advanced manufacturing.
There is potential for further expansion of the Estate.

 NETPark, Sedgefield – in South East Durham is one of the UK’s premier science, engineering and
Page 114

38

technology parks, home to several high-tech companies specialising in fields such as nanotechnology,
X-Ray technology, forensics and semiconductor technology. NETPark has strong links with Durham
University, with NETpark research institute housing part of the University’s Centre for Advanced
Instrumentation. It is also home to two National Catapult Centres – The High Value Manufacturing Catapult,
managed by CPI, and the North East Centre of Excellence for Satellite Applications, and three national
innovation centres including National Formulations Centre, National Centre for Healthcare Photonics and
National Centre for Printable Electronics. Plans for Phase Three will deliver a 26-acre expansion, supporting
grow-on businesses wanting to expand and scale-up, and attracting further inward investment.
8.22

Other key employment sites on the A1 corridor include the Drum Industrial Estate, although the availability of
land is very limited and Belmont Industrial Estate.

8.23

Within the A1 corridor, Phase 1 of Integra 61, Bowburn, has recently been completed. The £300m mixed use
employment development will provide a total of three million square foot of industrial and logistics space,
300 new homes and 50,000 square foot of roadside opportunities, including a family pub/restaurant, hotel,
drive-thrus, trade counter units, car showrooms, a care home and a nursery. Amazon has located its second
robotics fulfilment centre in the North East at the site, one of the largest distribution centres in the UK,
creating around 1,000 jobs.

8.24

The A19 Corridor in the east of the county is also a key employment location. The A19 Corridor has
experienced strong levels of development, as a result of its Enterprise Zone Status, however it is noted within
the Employment Land Review that this has led to an oversupply of larger office space with limited demand in
part due to lack of public transport hubs.

8.25

The A19 historically has been a key industrial location with estates such as Peterlee North West and South
West. Peterlee is home to a number of major national and international manufacturers, including Caterpillar
and TRW.

8.26

The JADE Business Park, Seaham, is located within a designated Enterprise Zone. Phase 1 has delivered
155,000 square foot for distribution, technology and advanced manufacturing businesses. The Business Park
is strategically located for businesses involved in the automotive construction supply chain, falling within the
catchment area for Nissan supply chain companies. Phase 2 has the capacity to deliver a further 400,000
square foot.

8.27

Bishop Auckland and surrounding areas, in the south of the county to the west of the A1, has a more localised
employment market, offering typically lower cost and lower quality office and industrial premises than found in
Durham City and the A1 corridor. Bishop Auckland Town Centre is a key retail centre in the South and South
Church Enterprise Park offers industrial space.

8.28

Consett and Stanley in the north of the county serve a more localised, self-contained market. Lack of
connectivity to the strategic road network is often seen as a key barrier to locating in the area by larger
prospective occupiers.

8.29

Barnard Castle is the main employment and service centre for the rural western area of the county. Harmire
Enterprise Park and Stainton Grove are the two key employment locations. Barnard Castle contains a major
industrial facility operated by GSK which has seen significant investment.

8.30

The Lichfield’s Employment Land Review (2018) indicated that a large proportion of industrial space is no
longer fit for purpose, contributing to high vacancy rates in certain size bandings including in locations such
as Consett, Peterlee and Newton Aycliffe.

Summary
8.31

Transport and connectivity is linked to increased productivity and inward investment. The economy benefits
from good connectivity within the county via the road, rail and bus networks as well as being well-connected
to elsewhere in the North East and further afield, with three airports within one hour drive and easy access to
ports on the North East Coast including Teesport and Port of Tyne. The potential for the Tyne and Wear Metro
to reach County Durham would further strengthen the public transport links.

8.32

County Durham benefits from a good strategic road network, which has supported corridors of growth
along the A1 and A19, establishing them as key employment locations, helping to attract inward investment
targeted at advanced manufacturing, logistics and distribution.

Page 115

39

8.33

There is a need to continue to invest in transport infrastructure and developing robust business cases for
agreed transport priorities should be a priority, along with more local improvements to take advantage of new
funding.

8.34

Digital connectivity is increasingly important to the economy, while almost 100% of premises have access to
superfast broadband (over 30Mbps) coverage, only 27.3% of premises have ultrafast broadband speed over
100Mbps. Improving broadband connections in rural areas can open up new opportunities for businesses and
residents.

8.35

The key employment sites are concentrated within:
 Durham City – the key office market
 A1 Corridor – the key industrial location
 A19 Corridor – secondary industrial and office location

8.36

In addition, there are concentrations of employment in more localised markets around Bishop Auckland and
Consett and Stanley. Barnard Castle, in the rural west of the county, also contains some large employment
sites and employers including GSK.

8.37

Employment space in County Durham is dominated by industrial uses, accounting for 89% of all
commercial floorspace, indicative of the large manufacturing base. The 2018 Employment Land Review
suggests industrial space in some locations is no longer fit for purpose, contributing to high vacancy rates.
Consideration should be given to strengthening two major locations for advanced manufacturing and
logistics/distribution as part of a strategy to attract large scale inward investment.

8.38

While office space is underrepresented in Durham, within the North East it is the second biggest market
for office space after Newcastle with Durham City being the key office location. However, there is an
identified lack of quality office space in Durham City which acts as a constraint to the growth of finance and
professional services, which are underrepresented in the county’s economy. Development at Aykley Heads
and Milburngate will help to meet this gap in the market. In contrast, there is a reported oversupply of office
space in the east of the county leading to high vacancy rates.

8.39

There is a need to modernise a large part of the business stock, in terms of both industrial and office space,
to ensure County Durham can continue to support its small and medium sized businesses to grow and attract
inward investment.

Page 116

40

9 The Impact of COVID-19 and Brexit
Introduction
9.1

County Durham and the UK as a whole are facing two key challenges – the COVID-19 pandemic and the UK’s
departure from the EUropean Union. The dual effects of COVID-19 and Brexit are likely to continue to have
a significant impact upon County Durham’s economy in the short and medium run and is likely to result in
an immediate increase in unemployment and more challenging conditions for many businesses in both the
service and industrial economy.

9.2

Sectors most exposed to the impacts of COVID-19 are not the sectors most at risk to Brexit, although the
at-risk Brexit sectors are the high value added parts of the County Durham and include a number of major
employers. The at-risk COVID-19 sectors are dependent on a robust rebound when lockdown restrictions end
and are pre-dominantly enterprises that have been unable to trade over a 12 month period.
Brexit at risk sectors (*LQ 1 or above in County Durham)
 Life Sciences*

 High Value Manufacturing*
 Chemicals*
 Logistics
 Food and Drink
 Agriculture and Aquaculture*
 Creative Industries
 Financial and Business Services
Most affected COVID-19 sectors (*LQ 1 or above in County Durham)
 Accommodation and food services
 Arts, Culture and Recreation
 Construction
 Education*
 Transport and Storage
 Retail and wholesale
 Other Services

COVID-19
9.3

The COVID-19 pandemic has caused a traumatic shock to the whole economy, with the impacts likely to
continue to be borne out deepening many of the socio-economic challenges already being faced. Although
various protection measures and home working have reduced the immediate impact on many sectors, there
have been profound impacts on some sections of the economy.

North East Impacts
9.4

In May 2020 Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales (ICAEW) published the expected
regional COVID-19 impacts produced by Oxford Economics. The research suggested in terms of both output
and employment, the North East is likely to be worse hit than the UK average in 2020 and recovery in 2021
may be slower than elsewhere.

9.5

The research suggests in the North East, the largest job losses will have been in accommodation and food
services (circa -12,000) followed by manufacturing (circa -9,000) and wholesale and retail trade (circa -8,000).

9.6

The research highlighted the region is more exposed to the impacts of COVID-19 in regards to poorer internet
connectivity and the sectoral structure meaning that fewer people are able to work at home. In addition, the
North East is more vulnerable due to exposure to impacts on trade and the proportion of the population over
65.
Page 117

41

Oxford Economics Structural Vulnerability
Scorecard North East, May 2020
UK=0*
Trade

1.1

Population +65

0.5

Hospitality

-0.2

Retail

-0.6

Manufacturing

1.2

Self-employed

-1.3

Work from Home

1.6

Small firms

-2.3

Internet

2.2

Hospital beds

-1.8

Population Density

0.0

*Greater than 0 indicates it is more exposed than the UK average
Source: Oxford Economics ICAEW, May 2020 Economic Outlook

Redundancies and Unemployment
9.7

The number of people claiming JSA and UC in County Durham was 20,185 in December, an increase of 7,420
compared to the year before. The number of claimants rose by 67% between March 2020 and May 2020 and
has remained high, in an area that already reported unemployment levels above the national average. In terms
of age groups, there has been the largest growth in claimants aged over 50. There has also been a sharp
rise in unemployment amongst young people, who typically have a high representation in sectors such as
hospitality and leisure, as well as more young people becoming economically inactive.

9.8

Data collected by Business Durham suggests there have been around 1,000 redundancies across the county
since the onset of the pandemic.

9.9

The latest CJRS Statistics (December 2020, reporting figures as of 31st October) show there were 12,500
furloughed in County Durham, equal to 7% of employment in the county, down from 32,400 furloughed in July
2020 (17% of the employment base). The government have announced an extension of the furlough or CJRS
until the end of March 2021, however concerns remain that as support comes to an end, redundancy and
unemployment levels will start to rise.

9.10

The impact of COVID-19 has hit the self-employed particularly hard. The latest figures for the SEISS to the
31st October 2020 show there were a total of 13,200 claims made in County Durham, 20% of the North East
total, equating to £30.6 million being claimed.

9.11

Unemployment is likely to increase further in the summer/autumn of 2021 as the furlough support ends and
many businesses re-open with fewer staff.

Sector Analysis
9.12

Data from the APS suggests 76,000 people (33.1% of working population) in County Durham are in key
worker occupations.

9.13

The tourism, hospitality and culture sectors have been severely impacted by the national lockdowns,
social distancing measures and travel restrictions. County Durham has a lower share of employment within
accommodation and food sector and the arts, entertainment and recreation sector than nationally, although
there are 1,560 businesses and almost 18,000 jobs which are likely to have been impacted. While these
Page 118

42

sectors are forecast to rebound strongly in 2022, and possibly the second half of 2021, with tourism expected
to support economic recovery, there will be significant job losses and company closures in the short term.
Recently, a UK Hospitality survey reported that 41% of businesses surveyed suggested that their business
would fail by mid-2021.
9.14

Manufacturing has not been hit as hard as other sectors. Business Durham intelligence suggests the majority
of manufacturers were operating at near normal capacity as of November 2020.

9.15

While financial, professional services and digital businesses, have largely been able to transition to home
working , it is expected there will be hidden job losses in certain business and professional services and
digital and creative sectors, unseen to date.

Schools
9.16

There is a significant challenge facing all the school age population as a result of the pandemic and the
educational loss from the unprecedented disruption to school education. DfE research has shown that poor
educational performance impacts directly on lifetime earnings and the pandemic risks damaging a generation
of young people.

9.17

Without intervention, long term educational and employment inequalities are likely to be exacerbated by
school disruption and as work placement opportunities fall. Resources are likely to be made available to allow
pupils to catch up and a significant proportion of these need to be targeted on the most disadvantaged pupils
from low income households, who are likely to have fallen further behind. The disruption to schools and the
educational consequences are likely to take several years to address.

9.18

There is an immediate need to provide training and job search support to respond to the considerable job
losses arising from the pandemic as well as the reduced opportunities from companies and organisations
changing or postponing recruitment plans. The scale of the challenge will fully emerge throughout 2021 as
Government job support measures end.

Interventions
9.19

Supporting existing businesses is key to ensuring County Durham makes a strong recovery. The Government
have delivered a range of schemes aimed at supporting businesses. In addition, Durham County Council has
distributed over £104 million in grant to over 9,500 beneficiaries to support business resilience in the face of
unprecedented challenges. There is also The Durham Business Recovery Grant, a £5 million fund, designed to
help County Durham businesses to recover from the effects of COVID-19.

9.20

While there is likely to be a strong bounce back, from a lower base, as restrictions are lifted, many hospitality
and leisure related business may not reopen, while others may continue but with fewer staff. There is likely to
be an increase in new starts and re-configured businesses. A number of centres will see increased vacancy
rates and there are long term implications for commercial landlords and a number of high streets.

9.21

The loss of typical annual recruitment will affect young people and 2021 is a very poor time to enter the labour
market. Many young people would benefit from remaining in training and education to improve their skills and
qualifications and look for better opportunities in 2022 and 2023.

9.22

While support for those seeking employment and businesses is likely, directed through national programmes,
it will be important that County Durham businesses and training organisations access these funds, with a
need to focus training on the future skills needed.

Brexit
9.23

While the UK left the EU on 31st December 2020, the full consequences of Brexit are likely to take a number
of years to be fully felt, with uncertainty around the nature of future trade deals. The implications of leaving
the EU depends on various factors including: trade and migration policy including access to the European
market; the risk of complex customs processes; the possibility of tariffs on European trade; and gaps in skills
availability.

9.24

As the UK formally left the EU in the midst of a global pandemic, it is likely that it will be some time before the
full impacts of Brexit are visible. A recent forecast suggested that Brexit will reduce growth in the economy by
1%-2% in 2022.

Page 119

43

Business Impacts
9.25

Those businesses reliant on importing and exporting – who benefitted from free and frictionless trade with the
EU – will be significantly impacted by Brexit. There is likely to be a reduction in exporting activity relative to
the current position before leaving the EU as a result of the potential tariff and non-tariff barriers.

9.26

The early signs are that many businesses and agents have been prepared for the increased time and costs
of importing and exporting, although the added delay to the process has considerably increased the friction
for a number of sectors. The new arrangements are a disincentive for both exporters and importers and have
provided an incentive for EU companies to look for other EU based suppliers.

9.27

In addition, there is also likely to be a reduction in the attractiveness of County Durham and the North East as
a place to invest and re-invest relative to other cities and regions in the EU. The UK’s previous promotion of
the UK as a base for European markets no longer applies.

9.28

There is no experience (yet) of the benefits of any new trading arrangements with other countries and trading
blocs.

Workforce and Skills
9.29

Every sector of the UK economy recruits higher skill personnel from the EU. This reflects skills shortages and
the free movement of labour, with the UK an attractive destination with an excellent quality of life.

9.30

Arrangements have been put in place to allow EU residents in the UK to continue to work in the UK and
to introduce new entry requirements for higher skilled workers globally to come to the UK. These new
arrangements are not on a par with the former rights of EU citizens.

9.31

The UK is now likely to be a less attractive destination for many EU citizens and this could impact on both
manufacturing and the health services, where highly skilled personnel have previously been recruited from the
EU in substantial numbers.

9.32

The consequences for lower skilled and paid occupations which depend on economic migration, such as
health and care and parts of food production and processing, are likely to be more severe and could result in
a shortage of labour.

9.33

While the hospitality sector also depends on regular lower paid recruitment internationally, the job losses from
the pandemic are likely to lead to a large group of people seeking new employment as the recovery builds
momentum.

Sectoral Impact
9.34

The industrial sector (excluding extraction) is the most exposed to Brexit, with manufacturing and
construction likely to have the largest losses according to research by Oxford Economics.

9.35

Services such as finance and communications are also amongst the most exposed sectors to Brexit, due to a
potential reduced ability to recruit EU higher skilled professionals and potential for post transition agreements
to restrict UK access to European finance markets. These sectors however account for a much smaller share
of County Durham’s economy than across the country, together accounting for 2% of total employment
compared to 8% nationally, leaving it less exposed to the adverse impacts.

Manufacturing
9.36

Manufacturing is at risk due to tariff and non-tariff barriers and integrated supply chains with the EU,
with some manufactures relying on ‘just-in-time’ delivery of parts or inputs, who may be experiencing
disruptions in their supply chains caused by increased or uncertain processing times for goods at the border.
Manufacturing is one of the largest sectors in County Durham with 25,000 jobs accounting for 14% of total
employment.

9.37

The sub-sectors manufacture of automotive, transport equipment, chemicals and chemical products and
textiles, in particular, are expected to be impacted the most. These together account for over a third of
County Durham’s manufacturing sector, compared to 26% across the country, and 4.8% of total employment
compared to 2% nationally.

Page 120

44

Brexit: Most at Risk Manufacturing Sub-sectors, 2019
County Durham
No.

LQ

North East

England

No.

No.

Manufacture of textiles

400

1.1

1,125

53,000

Manufacture of chemicals and chemical products

800

1.5

7,500

81,000

Manufacture of machinery and equipment n.e.c.

4,000

3.8

11,500

158,000

Manufacture of motor vehicles, trailers and semi-trailers

2,000

2.1

15,000

144,500

Manufacture of other transport equipment

1,500

1.9

2,750

116,500

Total sub-sectors

8,700

2.3

37,875

553,000

34.1%

34.7%

26.2%

4.8%

3.4%

2.0%

% in total manufacturing
% in total employment
Source: BRES, 2019

Health and Social Care
9.38

There are three major risks to the health sector arising from Brexit and the consequences may have the
greatest impact on the care sector. These are:
 Reduced ability to recruit EU higher skilled medical professionals. Although arrangements are in place to
allow the economy to recruit higher skilled workers, the UK may now be less attractive to EU citizens.
 Reduced ability to recruit lower and medium skilled health workers, including care staff. There is likely
to be a reduction in workers who qualify for entry to the UK, impacted by lower skills and wages, below
the threshold. This has a potential impact on the cost of providing care, in the context of challenging Local
Authority and NHS budgets.
 Delays at ports and limited warehousing facilities for medicines and health supplies may disrupt service
and lead to higher costs.

Summary
9.39

Over the 2020-25 period, economic growth in the North East is expected to be the weakest of any region,
while unemployment at the end of the period could be the highest of any region (Oxford Economics ICAEW
May 2020 Economic Outlook). Regional disparities therefore may grow over the next four years, highlighting
the importance of prioritising the ‘levelling up’ agenda.

9.40

This outcome in not inevitable and could be mitigated by early actions and new private and public sector
investment, including new investment from the Shared Prosperity and LUFs.

9.41

The major challenges are:
 Increased unemployment, particularly for young people, and fewer job opportunities as companies adopt a
cautious approach to new recruitment.
 The educational damage to a generation of school students and the challenge of making up lost ground,
particularly for pupils from low income households.
 The medium-term effect of Brexit on the county’s large manufacturing sector, including recruitment
difficulties and increased friction for companies importing and exporting.
 The challenge to the NHS and care sector with regards to international recruitment (a key element in the
workforce strategy) at a time when the sector is under intense pressure.

9.42

These challenges are compounded by uncertainty of when travel and social distancing measures will end and
the likelihood that new post Brexit market opportunities may take several years to emerge.
Page 121

45

10 Future Economic Growth
Introduction
10.1

The future economic outlook for County Durham is considered in this chapter, using published data to inform
forecasts.

Economic Output
10.2

Forecast GVA growth for County Durham has been assumed to follow regional levels, as it did historically
between 2006 and 2018.

10.3

Forecasts have been informed by Oxford Economics national and regional forecasts published in a House of
Commons Briefing Paper in December 2020, which suggest:
 GVA would decline by 11.4% in 2020 across the country, and fall by 12.2% in the North East; and
 between 2019 and 2030 the average compound annual growth rate (CAGR) will be 1.1% nationally and
0.6% in the North East (House of Commons Briefing Paper: Regional and Country Economic Indicators,
December 2020, Oxford Economics).

10.4

National GVA forecasts for 2021 have been informed by the HM Treasury Forecasts for the UK economy: a
comparison of independent forecasts published in January 2021 which reviews 20 new forecasts from a range
of sources. This suggests GDP growth of 4.4% in the UK in 2021. A Monetary Policy Report by the Bank of
England published in November 2020 has been used to inform national GVA forecasts for 2022 and 2023.

10.5

Where regional forecasts have not been available for the years 2021, 2022 and 2023, 86% of national annual
growth rate has been applied following the CAGR trend in the North East compared to England between 2000
and 2018.

10.6

Between 2024 and 2030, an average growth rate has been applied so that between 2019 and 2030 the CAGR
is in line with Oxford Economics forecasts for the North East and nationally for that period (CAGR of 0.6%
and 1.1% respectively) (Ibid).

10.7

Using these forecasts suggests the levels of GVA in the North East and County Durham will not recover to
pre-COVID-19 levels until 2027, while the country as whole will make a faster recovery with GVA above 2019
levels by 2025.

GVA per Capita
10.8

If GVA in County Durham had grown at the national rate since 2010 and continues to grow at this level in the
future, GVA per capita would be at the regional level by 2030. Although the gap between the national GVA per
head would still be greater than it was in 2010, suggesting a greater up-lift in GVA is needed to move toward
this level.

Summary
10.9

The economic forecasts are likely to be revised as the national lockdown ends and the speed of economic
recovery becomes clearer. The forecasts are typical in that the North East and County Durham lag behind
the national recovery, although such as outcome is not inevitable. In particular, the success of the county is
securing new inward investment and supporting businesses to recover and grow will have a major impact on
the recovery trajectory for County Durham.

Page 122

46

11 Recommendations and Investment 			
Priorities
Rebuilding a Powerful Economy
11.1

County Durham faced the challenge of rebuilding its economy after many years of job losses in coal mining
and steel making. The scale of job losses, taking out full time and well-paid employment, affected every
community. Since 2000, County Durham has rebuilt and transformed its economy, and the resilience of its
manufacturing base has ensured that it continues as an important industrial economy, even as it builds a
strong service base.

11.2

While the scale of unemployment is well below the peak numbers seen in earlier decades and the
employment rate has been increasing, many communities continue to be affected by low household incomes
and health inequalities.

11.3

The successes of the past 5 years, including the arrival of new inward investors such as Hitachi Rail and
Amazon, are now being affected by two new challenges - the COVID-19 pandemic and the UK’s departure
from the EUropean Union.

11.4

The full effect of both factors is likely to result in an immediate increase in unemployment and more
challenging conditions for many businesses in both the service and industrial economy.

11.5

The immediate challenges are compounded by the long term (20 year) population forecasts, which suggest
that County Durham will experience a fall of some 7,000 people in its working age population and an increase
of 35,000 in its older population. The outcome of this demographic change will lead to a reduction in local
spending power, further undermining the viability of local centres across the county. This is in addition to the
challenges for the health and care sector to provide support for a much larger elderly population.

11.6

Many of the successful changes to the economy in the past 20 years were shaped by important investment
in infrastructure, industrial and commercial property, business support, skills training and inward investment
sponsored by the County Council and supported by a range of regional and national funds. This scale of
investment is now required over the next ten years to help the county respond to both the immediate and
medium-term challenges and restore the economic momentum which resulted in new investment and
employment.

Developing the Pipeline for New Investment
11.7

Durham is part of the North East Combined Authority (NECA), along with Gateshead Metropolitan Borough
Council (MBC), South Tyneside MBC and Sunderland City. NECA does not yet have access to devolved powers
and funding, unlike the North of Tyne Combined Authority area and Tees Valley Combined Authority. Since 2015
the Council has been involved in discussions about the possibility of a North East devolution deal that would
provide a long-term investment fund and devolve powers to help drive economic growth in the region.

11.8

The North East Local Authority 7 have put proposals to Government to provide significant additional
resources to support the economic recovery over the next five years. These proposals are in addition to the
support provided by a number of new funds.

11.9

The selection of suitable projects will be influenced by the final guidance for new funds and it is important
that the county is prepared to act quickly, working with local partners, with processes to ensure only highquality prioritised propositions are put forward. In anticipation of future opportunities officers are developing a
pipeline of projects that fit within a long-term economic strategy and would benefit for support from regional
and national opportunities including devolution, LUF and the shared prosperity fund.

11.10 The potential new funds include:
 Devolution
 Regional COVID-19 Recovery Asks
 Shared Prosperity Fund
 LUF
 Community Renewal Fund

Page 123

47

11.11 In addition the Government’s recently published Build Back Better: our plan for growth sets out plans
for high quality infrastructure linked to productivity growth; technical and basic adult skills priorities; and
maximising innovation linked to transforming ideas into new products and services, all of which are relevant to
opportunities for the county. In addition, some of the Grand Challenges set out in the UK Industrial Strategy,
notably ageing society and clean growth, are directly relevant to the county.
11.12 External funders are increasingly using the 5 stage Business Case model outlined in the UK Treasury’s
Green Book. A recent review has concluded that the major weakness in project submissions has been
underdeveloped strategic cases, the first stage of the Business Case. The accompanying refresh of the Green
Book introduced a place dimension, while reinforcing a Benefit to Cost Ratio metric to determine value for
money. The calculation of benefits has become very technical and many projects struggle to justify a good
BCR score.
11.13 The county council would benefit considerably from investing time in staff training and identifying a member
of staff to act as a Green Book expert and support other organisations.
11.14 The workload of the county council’s Economic Development function is likely to increase markedly through
2021 and 2022. Dealing with the consequences of the pandemic and the unfolding outcome of Brexit will be
accompanied by the introduction of major new funds, with a Government preference for competitive bidding
and an onerous business case and appraisal process.
11.15 The county has the opportunity to secure significant new investment although considerable staff resources
are needed to submit convincing proposals, respond to external appraisers and subsequently agree contract
conditions.

The Twin Challenge: Productivity and Jobs

11.16 One of the challenges facing County Durham is the level of productivity of the workforce, with productivity the
key determinant of wages and, ultimately, household incomes.
11.17 The key measures of productivity suggest County Durham underperforms compared to the national average.
GVA per hour worked is 84% of the England average while GVA per job is 81% of the England average and
GVA per FTE is 82% of the England average.
11.18 There are four criteria which influence productivity:
 The skills and health of the workforce;
 The capital investment and technology which support business and workforce activity;
 The products and services which the workforce provide; and
 The market for goods and services provided – local, regional, national and international.
11.19 While companies such as Hitachi Rail and GSK demonstrate that County Durham can provide a productive
workforce to match the best in the country, there are too few companies using the latest technologies and
producing high value products in national and international markets.
11.20 While inward investment could help boost productivity, and increase the proportion of jobs in high productivity
sectors, there is a need to work across all sectors – industrial and services – to help County Durham outproduce their competitors and increase efficiency to maintain competitiveness.
11.21 At the same time as improving the competitiveness and productivity of the current business base and
workforce, a significant number of jobs will be impacted by robotics, automation and digitisation, making a
number of intermediate skilled jobs redundant. Providing new employment at the intermediate skills levels, in
sectors such as distribution and logistics will be important in maintaining employment levels, a challenge now
exacerbated by the pandemic.
11.22 An underlying factor for the County Durham economy is the need to strengthen the private sector. The county
has a large public sector employment base, although this primarily reflects the large population. It has,
however, too small a private sector, partly a legacy of an industrial economy that was driven by nationalised
industries, rather than the private sector.
11.23 In order to provide replacement jobs for a changing economy, maintain current employment rates and
increase productivity and household incomes, County Durham needs to focus on its strengths, assets and
growth sectors, with the potential to deliver more and better jobs.
Page 124

48

11.24 These are:
 Advanced Manufacturing and Engineering
 Logistics and Distribution
 Digital Industries and Business Services
 Tourism
 Health Economy
11.25 These sectors can deliver the range of occupations needed to provide opportunities for all parts of the
workforce.

Advanced Manufacturing and Engineering

11.26 The Durham economy has a large manufacturing sector and a number of major world leading companies
established in the county. There is a diverse range of sectors including a number where there is both a strong
presence and growth potential.
11.27 While some companies will increase their competitiveness through digitisation, robotics and automation,
reducing the workforce, there is the opportunity to offset these losses through some of the strongest subsectors most able to take up new opportunities in growth markets in the green economy, clean energy and
long term activities to reach zero carbon and meet climate change objectives.
11.28 In addition, the county remains a competitive location for inward investment, and the prospects for securing
new industrial investment and significant numbers of new jobs are very positive. The county offers a range of
locations that are attractive to industrial companies, including small and medium sized companies requiring
affordable premises. There is an opportunity to develop a major, regionally significant and high-quality
industrial park to successfully compete for the major inward investment opportunities.
11.29 While the pandemic has had a limited effect on the advanced manufacturing sector, Brexit is likely to impact
on those companies which are part of European supply chains and the recruitment of high skilled international
migrants. Conversely, over the next five years, new trading arrangements could result in new opportunities.
However, the most recent forecasts suggest that leaving the EU will result in a 1%-2% reduction in the
national economy.

Logistics and Distribution

11.30 County Durham is a competitive location for logistics and distribution. There are now 8,500 jobs in the
transportation and storage sector, an increase of 1,500 since 2015. The growth reflects a range of factors
which have transformed the logistics sector, including the distribution of imports and home deliveries from
the major supermarkets and the likes of Amazon. The increase in internet shopping and commitments to
timely home deliveries has increased the regional super hubs for the leading companies. While many logistics
related jobs are at the intermediate skills level, a significant proportion are technical jobs, and supervisory and
managerial roles.
11.31 County Durham benefits from its strategic road network and its location between north and south, as well as
providing easy access to the North East and Tees Valley ports and markets.
11.32 As with the industrial premises offer, the county offers a range of locations, attractive to small and medium
sized distribution and transport companies requiring affordable premises. There is also an opportunity to
develop a major, regionally significant and high quality logistics park, offering regionally significant capacity to
accommodate a number of company super hubs at the top of the supply chain, to successfully compete for
the major logistics investment opportunities.

Digital Industries and Business Services

11.33 Digital industries and business services have been major drivers of employment growth in the UK for many
years. The county has benefitted from increases in employment, although these sectors favour major urban
locations such as Leeds, Manchester and Birmingham.
11.34 The move towards digital applications is driving growth in every sector of the economy, including
manufacturing, retail, logistics, professional services and health. The pandemic has further highlighted the
importance of the digital economy.

Page 125

49

11.35 The GVA per FTE figures for ICT in County Durham is very low which suggests that the area does not have
sufficient numbers in higher value added sub-sectors.
11.36 From a County Durham perspective, embedding digital skills in the education and training system is an
important priority for making the future workforce employment ready. There is a further opportunity to
prioritise support for new and micro digital businesses to take advantage of the range of product and market
opportunities.
11.37 Major cities have benefitted from a combination of apartment living for younger workers, the attraction of an
urban lifestyle, and a supporting eco-system to drive new opportunities. There is an opportunity to review
the current City of Durham offer and identify new proposals which could provide a competitive alternative to
the large cities, particularly as households re-evaluate their housing and location priorities as a result of the
pandemic.

Tourism and Leisure

11.38 County Durham has a growing tourism and leisure sector based on major heritage assets and an outstanding
natural environment. The City of Durham with its world-renowned Cathedral is a must visit centre along with
York and Edinburgh, while new investment in Bishop Auckland has further strengthened the historical tourism
offer.
11.39 The sector has been badly affected by the pandemic, with bars, cafés and restaurants forced to close for long
periods and accommodation providers severely affected by travel restrictions. While the sector is forecast
to rebound strongly in 2022, and possibly the second half of 2021, there will be significant job losses and
company closures in the short term.
11.40 In the medium term, further growth in tourism and leisure will be based on quality, with further investment in
accommodation, restaurants and cafés likely needed to support increased visitor numbers and expenditure.
There is an opportunity for towns such as Barnard Castle and Bishop Auckland to increase visitor numbers.
11.41 Further investment in culture and heritage assets and the natural environment should be a priority for further
strengthening the county’s offer for extended breaks to maximise leisure expenditure. Consideration should
be given to developing a pipeline of proposals for cultural and natural environment projects.

Health and Care Economy

11.42 The health economy provides a substantial employment base in the county and with an increasing number of
elderly residents, health and care will continue to play an important role in both local economic potential and
community health and wellbeing.
11.43 The NHS continues to face recruitment challenges for many occupations and the care sector also struggles to
recruit personnel. Brexit is expected to make the UK less attractive as a place to work for skilled international
labour and there is both a need and opportunity to increase local recruitment at both intermediate and higher
skilled occupations.
11.44 As the integration of health and care services accelerates, new job opportunities will open, and the combined
workforce will face both recruitment and staff retention issues.
11.45 The impact of health inequalities in terms of both communities and workforce productivity is now a national
policy priority and increasing funds are being channelled towards health innovation in areas such as
diagnostics, med tech, digital health applications and mental health. These new approaches are in addition to
public health initiatives in areas such as smoking cessation and healthy eating in response to obesity.
11.46 COVID-19 has led to a number of new challenges, notably a need to address mental health issues amongst
young people, including school students and within the wider workforce, with many employers now focused
on the wellbeing of their workforce.
11.47 The county should develop its role in the health supply chain, considering the potential for a health campus
and the further development of technical equipment and digital opportunities to benefit existing County
Durham companies and support new inward investment opportunities.
11.48 There would be merit in the county developing a strategic economic framework for the health and care
economy focused on workforce needs and development, linking opportunities to young people in schools and
colleges, business start-up and supply chain opportunities and developing the anchor institution’s role.

Page 126

50

Start Ups

11.49 County Durham has a consistently good track record in generating new business starts each year. While
inevitably many of these will not survive the opening years, others will go on to provide jobs for some time,
with a small number growing quickly and employing 20-30 people.
11.50 The need to provide more jobs in the economy means that new starts have an important role to play over the
next ten years, with a combination of one and two person businesses and increasing numbers in digital and
leisure adding directly to the business base.
11.51 In the light of the economic impact of the pandemic, there is likely to be an increase in new starts in 2021
and 2022 as individuals seek new routes to employment or re-launch businesses closed by the national
lockdowns.

Place, Investment and Employment

11.52 Connectivity is central to the economic competitiveness of the county economy and the strong link between
transport and improved productivity requires a rolling programme of transport investment.
11.53 The North Durham Economic Corridors enhancements on the A693, A691, A167 and A692 corridors is central
to facilitating economic growth at key employment and housing sites in the north of the county, as well as
improving journey times and reliability towards Durham and Tyneside. Investment in rail lines/stations as well
as smaller local transport schemes are needed to open up more opportunities across the geography.
11.54 Durham City is a key employment centre, with the largest office market and home to significant public sector
occupiers, including the county council, Passport Office, Land Registry, Northumbrian Water, Durham and
Darlington PCT and Durham University.
11.55 The city is constrained by a lack of available sites which limits private sector commercial investment and
limited high-quality office space in and around Durham City is a constraint to growth in business and
professional services. The train station is located close to the city centre but the topography provides a poor
route to the centre and no commercial development close to the station has been undertaken to provide the
offices and hotels which major railway stations typically support.
11.56 Although complex, increasing the supply of modern office space close to the station can be an important
element of increasing the business service and digital industries business space which is a key feature
of strong urban economies. Aykley Heads, a partnership with Durham University linking research and
development with the digitally enabled business sector creating more and better jobs in County Durham with
fintech specialisms, and Milburngate schemes will help to address this requirement.
11.57 The A1 Corridor (including sites around Durham City) is the county’s principal industrial location, containing a
number of major employment locations including:
 Aycliffe Industrial Estate, Newton Aycliffe – A 400-acre industrial estate in the south of County Durham
located close to the A1 with over 500 businesses and 10,000 employees, which is home to Hitachi
Rail, Gestamp Tallent, 3M, Inovyn and Husqvarna among others. The arrival of Hitachi Rail has supported
large scale job creation and helps to position Durham as a key location for inward investment in advanced
manufacturing. There is potential for further expansion of the Estate.
 NETPark, Sedgefield – In South East Durham is one of the UK’s premier science, engineering and
technology parks, home to several high-tech companies and home to two National Catapult Centres –
The High Value Manufacturing Catapult, managed by CPI, and North East Centre of Excellence for Satellite
Applications. NETPark Central is a new proposal for an iconic building at new entrance gateway providing
incubation and office space including an amenity hub and to provide physical location for North East
Space Hub.
11.58 Within the A1 corridor, Phase 1 of Integra 61, Bowburn, has recently been completed. The £300 million mixed
use employment development will provide a total of three million square foot of industrial and logistics space,
300 new homes and 50,000 square foot of roadside opportunities, including a family pub/restaurant, hotel,
drive-thrus, trade counter units, car showrooms, a care home and a nursery. Amazon has located its second
robotics fulfilment centre in the north east at the site, one of the largest distribution centres in the UK, creating
around 1,000 jobs.
11.59 The A19 Corridor in the east of the county is also a key employment location. The A19 Corridor has
experienced significant development over the past two decades, although there now exists an oversupply of
larger office space with limited demand, in part due to lack of public transport hubs. The A19 historically has
Page 127

51

been a key industrial location with estates such as Peterlee North West and South West. Peterlee is home to
several major national and international manufacturers, including Caterpillar and TRW.
11.60 The JADE Business Park, Seaham, located within a designated Enterprise Zone. Phase 1, has delivered
155,000 square foot for distribution, technology and advanced manufacturing businesses, and is strategically
located for businesses involved in the automotive construction supply chain, sitting within the catchment area
for Nissan supply chain companies. Phase 2 has the capacity to deliver a further 400,000 square foot.
11.61 While the two Corridors and other towns allow the county to offer a range of locations, attractive to industrial
companies, including small and medium sized companies requiring affordable premises, a large proportion
of industrial space is no longer fit for purpose, contributing to high vacancy rates in certain size bandings
including in locations such as Consett, Peterlee and Newton Aycliffe.
11.62 There is the potential for Industrial Property Development Fund to provide gap funding for public and private
industrial new build across the county including sites at Drum and Stella Gill (Chester le Street), Jade (Murton),
South Church (Bishop Auckland) and Merchant Park (Newton Aycliffe) .
11.63 There are also two major opportunities to significantly improve the quality of industrial premises in the county.
These involve building on strong locations to develop:
 A major, regionally significant and high-quality industrial park to successfully compete for the major inward
investment opportunities.
 A major, regionally significant and high-quality logistics park, offering regionally significant capacity to
accommodate a number of company super hubs at the top of the supply chain, to successfully compete
for the major logistic investment opportunities.
11.64 It is equally important to continue to modernise both office and industrial space across the county to provide
business space which meets the demand of changing work practices in locations where companies are
keen to locate, including the many smaller businesses which make a valuable contribution to the county’s
economy.
11.65 County Durham needs to modernise its major business locations to compete successfully with its neighbours
in terms of industrial and office space. New investment is needed to deliver more and better jobs, improve
productivity and increase its Business Rates income as a means of generating funds for re-investment in
economic development across the county.

Rural Communities and Economy

11.66 In relation to rural communities, actions centred on new and affordable housing, business and tourism
support and town centre renewal need to be underpinned by digital connectivity, working with the private
sector to bring cutting edge broadband services to rural parts of the county to enable more people to work
and access services from home.
11.67 Improved broadband to rural communities will underpin efforts to increase working from home, support new
business starts up and help diversify the rural economy. It will also strengthen the visitor and leisure economy.
The government has announced the first stages of its plans to get ultra-fast broadband to the majority of
homes in the UK and the first to benefit will be homes and businesses in Cambridgeshire, Cornwall, Cumbria,
Dorset, Durham, Essex, Northumberland, South Tyneside and Tees Valley. A former voucher scheme is also
being relaunched to provide more immediate help to those struggling with poor broadband coverage, with up
to £210 milliom being made available.
11.68 Other important considerations for rural communities will be the strengthening public transport services and
health as well as other public e-services which will help reduce rural isolation. Further improvements to village
and town centres will play an important part in strengthening the vitality of rural centres.

Skills, Learning and Communities

11.69 The proportion of the working age population skilled to Level 2 and above in County Durham (75.3%) is above
the North East as a whole (73.5%) and marginally below the England wide average (75.7%).
11.70 While this is a very positive profile, those outside this group will find it increasingly difficult to find permanent,
secure jobs paying above the minimum wage, as the structure of employment and employer demands
change.
11.71 The county also has a significant proportion of its workforce in occupations at Levels 2/3 across both office
Page 128

52

based and industrial sectors, where jobs will be lost due to digitisation and automation. There is likely to be a
persistent demand for updating and refreshing skills to support people to move into new employment.
11.72 The proportion of the population with a degree or a higher degree (Level 4+) in County Durham is 31.6%,
considerably below the national average (40.0%), and marginally below the North East average (31.9%). This
proportion is likely to change as new employment opportunities in growth sectors change overall demand.
The 2019 Labour Market Information (LMI) toolkit analysis for the North East, reported demand for workers
with higher level qualifications (Level 3 and 4) and apprenticeships, while demand for workers with no and
lower level qualifications is expected to continue to fall, in line with national trends.
11.73 While County Durham is well placed to provide the workforce needed to support its employment ambitions,
there are three major skills challenges:
 Improving the proficiency of the least well qualified cohort to increase their employability and work
readiness and addressing barriers to moving into employment.
 Assisting those in vulnerable occupations to update their skills and move into new sectors and
occupations.
 Addressing skills shortages and recruitment challenges in sectors such as manufacturing, construction and
health.
11.74 The county has a strong training and further education sector and an excellent track record in
apprenticeships. It is well placed to address skills challenges, although significant Government support will be
required to put in place medium term programmes not dependent on annual or intermittent funding.
11.75 There is an immediate need to provide training and job search support to respond to the considerable job
losses arising from the pandemic, as well as the reduced opportunities from companies and organisations
changing or postponing recruitment plans. The scale of the challenge will fully emerge throughout 2021 as
Government job support measures end.
11.76 Given the increasing numbers of young unemployed and the likely reduction in employer recruitment there
is a need for a range of interventions to support young people gain skills and take opportunities presented
by economic growth. Potential projects include establishment of employment/youth hubs in areas of high
unemployment, communicating information on support available across the provider base in the county
and enhanced marketing and communication of support available through DurhamWorks, DurhamAdvance,
L!NKCD (mentoring programme for 18+ County Durham residents with complex barriers into work), National
Careers Service and Reaching Out Across Durham (ROAD).
11.77 It will be important to increase adult employment support services providing wrap around support and
progression opportunities for residents 25+ and, if possible, increasing the adult education budget within a
localised commissioning framework to better supporting the training needs of residents.

Schools

11.78 The DfE implemented Attainment 8 and Progress 8 measures in 2017, creating a new secondary school
accountability system. DfE data reveals County Durham’s educational attainment is above the national
average.
11.79 Ofsted scores for 2019/2020 reveal that most of County Durham’s primary schools are either outstanding or
good (89%), comparable to 88% nationally, with 10% requiring improvement. A higher share of schools in
County Durham are outstanding (22%), than across the region as a whole (16%) or nationally (20%).
11.80 Outstanding primary schools and high performing secondary schools are an important feature in persuading
families to move into the county, potentially reducing in-commuting and attracting high skilled staff to take up
employment opportunities.
11.81 Schools in County Durham continue to improve attainment at all levels and provide older pupils with better
information, advice and guidance to make the transition to further education or employment. There are three
challenges which schools in County Durham now face:
 Ensuring that pupils in receipt of free school meals match the performance of their wider peer group in
terms of educational outcomes and progression.
 Assisting pupils in areas of very high multiple deprivation.
 Addressing the new challenge facing all the school population because of the pandemic and the
educational loss from the unprecedented disruption to school education.
Page 129

53

11.82 DfE research has shown that poor educational performance directly impacts on lifetime earnings and the
pandemic risks damaging a generation of young people.
11.83 Resources are likely to be made available to allow pupils to catch up and a significant proportion of these
need to be targeted on the most disadvantaged pupils from low income households, who are likely to have
fallen further behind.
11.84 The disruption to schools and the educational consequences are likely to take several years to address.

Communities and Towns

11.85 The IMD is the most commonly used measure of deprivation. IMD covers the following seven domains:
income deprivation; employment deprivation; health deprivation and disability; education skills and training
deprivation; barriers to housing and services; living environment deprivation; and crime.
11.86 In 2019, County Durham ranked 62nd out of the 317 local authorities in England. Lower Super Output Area
(LSOA) data shows that 12% of LSOAs are in the 10% most deprived in England, compared to 20.1% across
the North East as a whole, while exactly a third of LSOAs are in the most deprived 20% across the country.
11.87 There are hotspots of deprivation in the East of Durham and coastal towns of Seaham and Peterlee, Bishop
Auckland and Newton Aycliffe in the South, Stanley in the North and parts of Durham City.
11.88 While County Durham does not have the scale of deprivation seen in the major cities and conurbations across
the country, particularly in the North of England, it does perform relatively poorly in the health deprivation
and disability and employment domains – ranked 32nd and 35th most deprived respectively – with around a
quarter of LSOAs in the most 10% deprived for both domains.
11.89 There is a strong link between health inequalities and high rates of economic inactivity, as well as
unemployment and low GVA per head. There is an increased focus on the early identification and better
management of cancer, cardiovascular and respiratory conditions and increasing efforts to reduce obesity
and diabetes. Other innovations are assisting people to manage conditions more effectively.
11.90 It is also important to seek to address wider determinants of health, including income, educational attainment
and access to employment, in order to address long standing health inequalities. New approaches need to
be supported by continuing investment in long term public health initiatives including healthy eating, active
lifestyle and smoking cessation.
11.91 While County Durham needs to continue to provide a range of targeted initiatives regarding housing, training
and employment, the prioritisation of reducing health inequalities could have a major influence on reducing
multiple deprivation in many communities.
11.92 Housing development has an important role to play in local regeneration, including the renaissance of smaller
towns centres and rural areas. There is a need to deliver more affordable homes, specifically using brownfield
land and also including a rural programme and introduce new support to bring forward brownfield sites.
11.93 While there is a continuing challenge of regenerating many town centres across the county there is an
opportunity to widen local regeneration plans through the more flexible range of complementary initiatives
now available through the LUF and the Community Renewal Fund.
11.94 Given the importance and scale of the housing challenge a more substantive Strategic Housing Growth is
required to take forward the high quality housing within the development of the Durham Economic Growth
Corridor.

Maximising Local Opportunities – The Role of Anchor Institutions

11.95 The three anchor institutions – Durham County Council, the Durham and Darlington NHS Trust and Durham
University – are the three largest employers, each rooted in the county. In addition to the large workforce,
each has an extensive supply chain, increasing their economic role in the wider economy.
11.96 As well as providing important services to the community, the council and trust are central to community
wellbeing, and both have an important role to play in reducing social and health inequalities.
11.97 The University – a leading UK centre of excellence in higher education – already supports a number of
research and commercial activities which link the county to the UK Industrial Strategy, as well as providing
thousands of new graduates and postgraduates each year.
Page 130

54

11.98 The county council is a very large employer and the provider of a number of key services. Each year it
indirectly supports a large number of local companies through its supply chain expenditure. The council
is one of the largest Local Authorities in England and although under considerable financial pressure, its
work on social value provides a sound platform for further actions to link local businesses and residents to
opportunities.
11.99 There is an opportunity for the three anchor institutions to collectively review their role in the economy, with
the potential to leverage more benefits for residents and businesses, provide supported employment places
for residents in areas of high deprivation and provide a new range of actions to support young people.
11.100 This review could usefully tap into the university’s postgraduate capacity to examine best practice and new
initiatives from across the UK to build the evidence base for a new approach.
11.101 All three anchor institutions already invest in social value and actively collaborate at a senior and operational
level. There is a need and opportunity to move to a new level and present County Durham as an exemplar
location in this field.
11.102 In addition to developing the role of the major anchor institutions, there are several other public sector
organisations with the potential to contribute to social value activities. While many are less resourced,
providing support to these organisations to develop local initiatives, possibly in collaboration, would provide
additional opportunities.
11.103 There is now a growing commitment in the private sector to increase their corporate social responsibility
actions, and again this presents another opportunity for the county to increase social value activities.

Delivering New Investment and Jobs

11.104 County Durham needs significant external public sector funding to meet its objectives of increasing
employment and employability to fully contribute to the National Industrial Strategy and the levelling up
agenda set out by Government.
11.105 It also needs to ensure that Government funding aimed at reducing unemployment, increasing participation,
and tackling poverty are delivered in a way which meet the needs of County Durham residents and
communities. This also applies to all Government support being provided to businesses, schools, training
institutions and workers to respond to the pandemic.
11.106 The current Government approach to economic development and levelling up involves either national
competitions (with winners and losers) or a time-consuming process to agree “deals”, with final funding
uncertain and detailed negotiations to conclude contractual arrangements.
11.107 More positively, the recent Green Book Review re-stated the Government commitment to the levelling up
agenda and introduced an emphasis on understanding the benefits of investment within a place-based
theme.
11.108 Considerable resources are needed to fully advance the economic development ambitions of the county. This
will involve:
 Working with regional networks and agencies and engaging with Government to influence policy and shape
additional delivery plans across a range of departments.
 Developing credible propositions with other county organisations and agencies and the private sector
to produce compelling propositions with regard to residential and commercial development, transport and
infrastructure, sectoral and innovation propositions and place based, inclusion and social value initiatives.
 Developing Green Book compliant business cases in line with the Green Book Review to secure new
investment.
11.109 While there is uncertainty over how new funds will be made available, the county needs to progress
development work in advance of formal funding announcements to allow a pipeline of proposals to be ready.
11.110 Specific to the county council, there is an imperative for the county to successfully compete for new external
funding over the next five years to meets its economic objectives and this will require both staff and resources
to deliver the scale of new investment needed to attract the scale and nature of private sector investment
required to create new and better jobs and increase productivity.

Page 131

55

Areas for Further Exploration

11.111 There are a number of areas where the county would benefit from new research and exploration. These are:
 New responses to addressing poverty and areas of multiple deprivation
 Local opportunities in the move to clean energy and zero carbon
 New opportunities from changing procurement arrangements
 Business and community led small town centre regeneration

Two Challenging Years

11.112 The next two years are likely to be the most challenging that the economy has faced since the turn of the
century. COVID-19 and Brexit are compounding long term trends which are impacting on many sectors.
11.113 Establishing economic momentum will need a range of public and private investment in the early recovery
period. The county offers multiple opportunities and these need to be pursued alongside increased activity
to support residents to improve their employment prospects. The County Durham economy needs to recover
quickly or any downturn may turn out to be permanent.
11.114 While the county faces a number of challenges – the impact of automation and digitisation, the costs of
supporting an ageing population, the move to a low carbon economy – each challenge also creates new
economic and employment opportunities, emphasising the need for a pro-active and innovative policy
approach by leading stakeholders.

Page 132

56

Appendix 3

Economic Review Update Report
for County Durham

December 2021

Page 133

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

_________________________________________________________________________________

Contents

1

Introduction and Context ...................................................................................... 1
Purpose of the Report ............................................................................................. 1
The Latest Context .................................................................................................. 1

2

Updated Statistical Position ................................................................................. 5
Introduction ............................................................................................................. 5
Core People Statistics ............................................................................................. 6
Core Economy and Enterprise Statistics ............................................................... 10
Overarching Observations .................................................................................... 15

3

Impact of COVID-19 and Brexit Review............................................................. 16
Introduction ........................................................................................................... 16
The Impacts of COVID-19 ..................................................................................... 16
The Impacts of Brexit ............................................................................................ 21

4

Page 134

Implications for the March Report Recommendations ....................................... 24

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

_________________________________________________________________________________

1

Introduction and Context

Purpose of the Report
This report provides an overview of County Durham’s latest economic conditions
against a series of key indicators. The analysis considers the latest position relative to
that reported at the time the County Durham Economic Review was completed in
March 2021 with consideration also given to how changes compare to change
reported England wide.
Published data sets under the themes of People and Economy and Enterprise have
been considered to provide the most up-to-date picture of the resident population,
labour market, employment trends, sector performance, business base, economic
output, and productivity.
In addition, a review of the impacts of COVID-19 and Brexit is also set out, considering
what has happened since the Economic Review was prepared compared to expected
trends at the time of its completion. The section provides an updated analysis for the
County, drawing on recently published insights and forecasts to consider the future
outlook in relation to key expected challenges and impacts.
In all cases, the updated analysis is intended to provide stakeholders with an up to
date understanding of the latest circumstances evident in County Durham and provide
the basis for development of the Economic Strategy.

The Latest Context
There have been several changes in the political and economic context over the past
8 months which will – directly or indirectly – have played a role in shaping County
Durham’s economic performance and outlook. The primary factors to acknowledge
are:
New local political leadership and opportunities
•

County Durham has seen a change in political leadership since the Economic
Review was prepared. The arrival of a new Council Leader – Amanda Hopgood –
in May 2021 reflects the introduction of a coalition of Liberal Democrats,
Conservatives, and independents, replacing long term Labour leadership in the
County. The new leadership may lead to a shift in priorities for the Council.

•

Discussions around a potential County Durham devolution deal have continued,
providing scope for the County to secure new powers, as part of the Levelling Up
agenda (considered further below).

A changing economic outlook
•

1

The UK economy contracted sharply in 2020 by 9.8% but has shown signs of a
strong recovery in 20211, with insights suggesting the UK will have grown by 7.3%
House of Commons, Coronavirus: Economic Impact, September 2021

1
Page 135

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

_________________________________________________________________________________

in 20212. Both sectoral and regional imbalances are however anticipated.
Forecasts for the North East are included within Section 3.
•

The strength of the rebound in demand in the UK in 2021 has led to supply
constraints in several markets with the supply bottlenecks exacerbated by changes
in the migration and trading regimes following Brexit.3

•

While emerging data looks promising, there are fears that the outlook remains
uncertain. For example, the Institute of Fiscal Studies (October 2021)4 expect “a
combination of lingering public health concerns, income losses and supply
impairments to all drive a further fading of growth momentum over the winter”. In
addition, the Omicron coronavirus variant might dampen the expected rebound in
growth in response to heightened uncertainty.

•

The latest insights from the House of Commons suggest the labour market is
continuing to recover. Nationally employment levels have risen as of September
2021 while unemployment levels have been falling, although the publication notes,
increases in unemployment are forecast for late 2021.5 The PwC UK Economic
Outlook for December 2021 suggests that although the short-term outlook for the
labour market is cautiously optimistic, there may be a rise in the inactivity rate as
workers are discouraged from entering the workforce after so long out of work.

A strengthening Levelling Up narrative
•

The Levelling Up agenda has remained a priority for Government. A £4.8 billion
Levelling Up Fund was launched in March 2021 investing in town centre and high
street regeneration, upgrading local transport, and investing in cultural and heritage
assets, with £1.7 billion allocated to places in the first round. Round one allocations
suggest ambitions are broader than closing the productivity gap between the north
and south, with activity supported across the country. Timescales for round two
bids remain to be confirmed.

•

County Durham were successful in securing £20 million in the first round of the
Levelling Up Fund to reopen Whorlton Bridge, deliver the A68 Toft Hill bypass and
to create a heritage corridor along the Stockton and Darlington Railway line. These
investments support the priority identified in the Economic Review to secure further
investment in culture and heritage assets to strengthen the leisure economy.

•

The rebranding of the Ministry for Housing, Communities and Local Government
to the Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities and the
appointment of Michael Gove MP as Secretary of State for Levelling Up, Housing
and Communities in September 2021 has been seen by many as an indication that
a refreshed approach is coming. The impacts are, however, yet to be realised.

•

The Autumn Budget and Spending Review 2021 launched the UK Shared
Prosperity Fund (UKSPF), worth over £2.6 billion, to help people access new
opportunities in places of need. Detailed proposals for the coverage and
administration of the UKSPF still remain to be disclosed. While Community

2

House of Commons Research Briefing: Regional and National Economic Indicators, November 2021, Oxford Economics.
https://obr.uk/efo/economic-and-fiscal-outlook-october-2021/
4
https://ifs.org.uk/uploads/2-UK-economic-outlook-the-future-isn%E2%80%99t-what-it-used-to-be-.pdf
5
House of Commons, Coronavirus: Impact on the labour market, October 2021
3

2

Page 136

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

_________________________________________________________________________________

Renewal Fund (UKSPF’s predecessor) allocations have provided some short-term
support to pilot projects, a clearer strategic focus around future funding streams is
required.
•

The long-awaited Levelling Up White Paper was expected before the end of the
year but has been delayed until 2022 with ongoing speculation about the scope of
proposals. This will remain a publication to keep under review over the coming
year.

The continued impacts of COVID-19
•

During the first part of 2021, restrictions caused some sectors of the economy,
including hospitality, tourism, and leisure, to be severely impacted. Easing of some
restrictions on 12th April allowed non-essential retail, hairdressers, public
buildings, and outdoor venues (including food and drink) to open, further easing on
17th May allowed indoor venues to open, and the 19th July saw all legal limits on
social distancing removed allowing all sections of the economy to fully open up.

•

Additional pressure on public sector budgets and the delivery of key local services
has continued to be evident as a result of COVID-19.

•

The Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme (CJRS) and the Self-Employment Income
Support Scheme (SEISS) ended on 30th September 2021.

•

The anticipated sudden rise in unemployment as the furlough scheme concluded
has not yet materialised, although the true impacts on unemployment may not be
seen until 2022. This may in part be due to those who have been made redundant
being included in the payroll data whilst serving notice periods. Demand for labour
does, however, remain strong.

•

Impacts and the speed of recovery have, however, been inconsistent across the
economy. For example, some leisure and hospitality focused businesses are yet
to see trade return to pre-pandemic levels (e.g. town and city centre businesses
who are dependent on office worker footfall at a time when working from home or
hybrid working has remained popular) and it is these sectors of the economy that
are also expected to experience the greatest impacts of current high and rising
infection levels and the scope for further restrictions in later months (although the
impact of this will not be evident in data for some time).

Growing understanding of the impacts of Brexit
•

The transition period ended on 31st December 2020 and the UK left the EU single
market and customs union with the EU-UK Trade and Cooperation Agreement.
This has increased the bureaucratic burden on importers and exporters including
as a result of checks on UK exports on the EU side, while implementing full checks
on imports from the EU have been delayed in the UK for much of 2021. Therefore
in 2022 the impact of these checks on imports is expected to be fully understood.

•

While some businesses have begun adapting to the new trading arrangements
with the EU, for others the longer-term impacts in competitiveness are yet to be
felt.
3
Page 137

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

_________________________________________________________________________________
•

Early implications of changes to labour supply are already being experienced in
some sectors of the UK economy which disproportionately rely on EU workers
including transportation, hospitality, and food-processing.

•

In 2020, the first net outflow of EU migrants in three decades was recorded for the
UK.

•

Based on County Durham’s latest Gross Value Added (GVA) performance – which
would allow it to qualify for a higher tier of support – the impact of the loss of EU
funding is expected to be more significant than previously anticipated, with no
commitment evident that equivalent resource will be made available.

4

Page 138

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

2

Updated Statistical Position

Introduction
The latest data for indicators under the themes People and Economy and Enterprise
have been explored in this section. When selecting indicators, a focus has been placed
on those measures where changes may have been expected to occur over a relatively
short period of time. In many cases, change will only be evident over a longer period.
Data for comparator geographies have also been presented to consider County
Durham’s relative performance compared to the North East and England.
The data presented in the March report for County Durham has also been presented
for each indicator, while the column titled ‘change since March review’ indicates
whether there has been an increase, decrease or no change in the measure. Change
in County Durham’s performance relative to the national indicator is also considered
in the tables below.
It is worth noting some changes in economic circumstances are also captured under
section 3 of this report, which looks specifically at data and insights relating to the
impacts of COVID-19 and Brexit.

5
Page 139

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

Page 140

Core People Statistics
Indicator and period
covered

March report
position
County
Durham

Latest
position
County
Durham

Latest
position
North East

Latest
position
England

Change in County
Durham position
relative to national
since the March review

6.5%
(year ending,
September
2020)

6.6%

6.8%

5.2%

Improved

Claimant Count, total
claimants
(November 20217)

20,790
(December
2020)

14,950

87,780

1,650,840

Improved

Claimant Count as a
proportion of working
age adults
(November 20218)

6.1%
(December
2020)

4.5%

5.3%

4.7%

Unemployment Rate
(year ending June
2021)6

Unchanged

Commentary
The unemployment rate in County
Durham remains above the national
average, and marginally below the
regional rate. However, since the year
ending September 2020, unemployment
has remained broadly consistent
(+0.1%) for County Durham, while both
regionally and nationally it has
increased (by 0.5 and 0.8 percentage
points respectively) causing the
performance gap to reduce.
The number of claimants in County
Durham has fallen from 20,790 in
December 2020 to 14,950 in November
2021, a fall of 28%, compared to a 25%
decline in the North East and 26%
nationally.
The claimant count, as a proportion of
the working age population, has fallen
by 1.6 percentage points since
December 2020, to 4.5% in County
Durham in November 2021. The change
is in line with rate reductions both
regionally and nationally (where the rate
fell by the same amount).

6

ONS Annual Population Survey via Nomis on 06/12/21
ONS Claimant Count by sex and age via Nomis on 14/12/21
8
Ibid, via Nomis on 14/12/21.
7

6

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

Indicator and period
covered

Claimant Count of
those aged 16-24 as a
% of population aged
16-24 (November
20219)

March report
position
County
Durham

Latest
position
County
Durham

Latest
position
North East

Latest
position
England

Change in County
Durham position
relative to national
since the March review

7.2%
(December
2020)

4.6%

5.5%

4.6%

Improved

Economic Inactivity
(year ending June
202110)

75,400
(year ending
September
2020)

76,200

395,300

7,382,400

Improved

Economic Inactivity as
a % of working age
residents
(year ending June
202111)

23.1%
(year ending
September
2020)

23.7%

24.3%

21.2%

Unchanged

Commentary
Claimant count amongst young people
as a proportion of the population aged
16 to 24 in County Durham has fallen
from 7.2% in December 2020 to 4.6%
as of November 2021, a drop of 2.6
percentage points, broadly in line with
the national trend (-2.5 percentage
points). Youth unemployment using this
measure remains below the North East
level.
There are 800 more residents classed
as economically inactive in County
Durham than reported within the
Economic Review, an uplift of 1.1%,
marginally below the uplift in inactivity in
the North East (+1.9%) and nationally
(+2.4%).
Economic inactivity has risen by 0.6
percentage points. in County Durham,
and is marginally below the North East
rate, whilst remaining consistently
higher than the national rate.

9

Page 141

ONS Claimant Count by sex and age via Nomis on 14/12/21
Annual Population Survey via Nomis on 06/12/21.
11
Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21
10

7

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

Page 142

Indicator and period
covered

Employment rate as a
% of the working age
(year ending June
202112)

March report
position
County
Durham

Latest
position
County
Durham

Latest
position
North East

Latest
position
England

Change in County
Durham position
relative to national
since the March review

71.9%
(year ending
2020)

71.3%

70.5%

74.7%

Worsened

No. residents on
furlough
(September 202113)

12,500
(October 2020)

7,600

38,100

964,000

Worsened

Take-up rate of
furlough14
(September 202115)

6.0%
(October 2020)

3.7%

3.6%

4.0%

Worsened

Commentary
In line with an increase in economic
inactivity and unemployment, the
employment rate has fallen by 0.6
percentage points since the March
report. County Durham continues to
perform below the national average
(with the national rate remaining at a
similar level) although the employment
rate is marginally above the regional
average.
The number of residents claiming
furlough fell by 4,900 (-39.2%) from the
end of October 2020 to the end of
September 2021, as the scheme came
to a close, a smaller rate of decline than
across the North East (-45.9%) and
nationally (49.2%). Of those furloughed
in County Durham, 29% were in the
manufacturing sector (compared to 10%
nationally and 23% in the region)
highlighting the dominance of the
sector.
The take-up rate of furlough fell from
6.0% in October 2020 to 3.7% in
September 2021 (-2.3 percentage
points) a smaller decline than seen
across the North East (-2.9 percentage
points) and nationally (-3.7 percentage
points)

12

Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21
HM Revenue and Customs Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme statistics, on 06/12/21
14
Of eligible employments
15
HM Revenue and Customs Coronavirus Job Retention Scheme statistics, on 06/12/21
13

8

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

Indicator and period
covered

Page 143

16
17

March report
position
County
Durham

Latest
position
County
Durham

Latest
position
North East

Latest
position
England

Change in County
Durham position
relative to national
since the March review

Median Annual
Resident Earnings
Full-time
(202116)

£28,002
(2020)

£28,259

£27,646

£31,490

Improved

Median Annual
Workplace Earnings
Full-time
(202117)

£26,495
(2020)

£26,354

£27,515

£31,480

Improved

Commentary
The median resident earnings have
increased marginally since the March
report, from £28,002 to £28,259, while
regionally and nationally they have
fallen, marginally reducing the gap with
the national average.
The median workplace earnings have
decreased marginally since the March
report, from £26,495 to £26,354 in
County Durham, a fall of 0.5%
compared to a decrease of 1.3% in the
North East and 0.9% nationally.

ONS Annual Survey of Hours and Earnings via Nomis on 06/12/21
Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21

9

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

Page 144

Core Economy and Enterprise Statistics
Indicator and period
covered

Total employment
(202018)

March report
position
County
Durham

183,000
(2019)

Latest
position
County
Durham

177,000

Accom. &
food: +2,000
Top 3 sectoral
employment gains
(absolute terms) (2019
to 202019)

-

Education:
+1,000.
Admin. &
support: +500.

18
19

Latest
position
North East

1,074,500

Accom. &
food: +9,500.
Human
health &
social work:
+5,500.
Education:
+2,500.

Latest
position
England

26,671,500

Change in County
Durham position
relative to national
since the March
review

Worsened

Human health
& social work:
+70,000.
Education:
+34,500.
Transport &
storage:
+24,500.

Not Applicable

Commentary

Between 2019 and 2020 total
employment in County Durham
declined by 6,000 jobs or 3.3%,
compared to a fall of 2.5% across the
North East and 1.8% nationally. County
Durham’s employment accounts for
16.5% of total employment in the
region, which is a marginal decrease of
0.5 percentage points since 2019.
Since 2019 the accommodation and
food service activities sector has grown
considerably by 15% with an additional
2,000 jobs in 2020 in County Durham.
In comparison, nationally this sector
saw the largest overall decline in
employment. Education has maintained
an upward trend, with an additional
1,000 jobs (+5%), in line with growth in
the education sector across the region
(+3%) and nationally (+2%).

ONS Business Register and Employment Survey via Nomis, 06/12/21
Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21

10

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

Indicator and period
covered

March report
position
County
Durham

Latest
position
County
Durham

Manufacturing:
-2,500.
Top 3 sectoral
employment losses
(absolute terms)
(2019-202020)

-

Wholesale &
retail: -2,000.
Construction: 1,500.

Latest business
counts
(202121)

Page 145

20
21

14,105
(2020)

14,565

Latest
position
North East

Wholesale &
retail: 15,000.
Profess.,
scientific &
technical: 12,000.
Construction:
-7,000.

72,525

Latest
position
England

Change in County
Durham position
relative to national
since the March
review

Accom. &
food: 141,500.
Wholesale &
retail: 107,000.

Not Applicable

Manufacturing:
-89,000.

2,405,965

Improved

Commentary

In County Durham, employment in
manufacturing (previously the largest
sector for County Durham) has fallen
by 2,500 jobs, representing a
significant 10% decline, consistent with
the national picture (-4%), although to a
greater extent. Employment in
wholesale and retail trade has declined
by 2,000 jobs since 2019 in County
Durham, representing a 7% fall, in line
with regional and national losses within
the sector, (-9% and -3%, respectively).
Employment in the construction sector
declined by 14%, a similar scale of
decline seen across the North East
(-13%).
Between 2020 and 2021 there has
been a 3.3% uplift in the number of
businesses in County Durham, a
greater rate of growth than reported
across the North East (+0.6%) and
nationally (+1.5%).

Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21
ONS UK Business Counts via Nomis, 06/12/21

11

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

Page 146
Indicator and period
covered

March report
position
County
Durham

Latest
position
County
Durham

Latest
position
North East

Latest
position
England

Change in County
Durham position
relative to national
since the March
review

Business density
(per 10,000 working
age population,
202122)

430
(2020)

441

435

683

Improved

Business start-ups as
a % of business base
(202023)

12.4%
(2019)

12.6%

12.3%

12.1%

Improved

Business survival rate
(five years from 2015
to 202024)

43.1%
(five years
from 2014)

40.9%

38.3%

39.5%

Improved

Commentary

Business density in County Durham
has increased since the March report
from 430 to 441, marginally above the
North East average. While the gap
between County Durham’s business
density and national business density
has fallen marginally, the difference is
still substantial, if County Durham
matched the national business density
rate it would have almost 8,000
additional businesses – a 54.9% uplift
on the business count outlined above.
The number of start-ups has increased
from 1,710 in 2019 to 1,840 in 2020, an
uplift of 7.6%. Business start-ups as a
proportion of the business base
increased by 0.2 percentage points
between 2019 and 2020. The rate is
above both the North East, and
national average. This reflects an
improvement in the relative position
since 2019, in which County Durham
was below both the North East and
national business start-up rate.
The five-year business survival rate in
County Durham has fallen by 2.2
percentage points This is, however, a
smaller reduction than reported
nationally (-3 percentage points).

22

Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21
Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21.
24
ONS UK Business Counts - enterprises by industry and turnover size band via Nomis, 06/12/21
23

12

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

Indicator and period
covered

March report
position
County
Durham

Business survival rate
(one year from 201925)

91.9%
(one year
from 2018)

Business deaths as a
% of the business
base
(202026)

Total GVA
(201927)

GVA per capita
(201928)

Latest
position
County
Durham

Latest
position
North East

Latest
position
England

Change in County
Durham position
relative to national
since the March
review

92.1%

91.0%

88.2%

Improved

10.1%
(2019)

9.2%

10.1%

10.7%

Improved

£8,834
(2018)

£8,972

£55,339

£1,702,078

Worsened

£16,763
(2018)

£16,925

£20,727

£30,239

Worsened

Commentary

County Durham, as with the five-year
rate, remains above the North East and
national rates for business survival
after a year and had risen marginally,
while nationally the one-year survival
rate has fallen.
Business deaths as a proportion of the
business base have fallen in County
Durham between 2019 and 2020.
Consistent with 2019 data, County
Durham has a lower rate of business
deaths than the North East and
nationally.
Between 2018 and 2019 annual GVA in
County Durham has increased by
3.2%, marginally above the rate of
growth in the North East (+3.0%) but
below the national growth rate (+3.7%).
GVA data is not yet available for 2020
to understand the full impact of COVID19 on economic output for County
Durham.
GVA per capita in 2019 has increased
by 1.0% since 2018 in County Durham,
compared to growth of 0.8% in the
North East and 3.0% nationally. It
remains considerably below the rate for
both the North East and England.

25

Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21.
Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21.
27
ONS Subregional Productivity July 2021, via Nomis 06/12/21
28
ONS Subregional Productivity July 2021, via Nomis 06/12/21
26

Page 147

13

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

Page 148
Indicator and period
covered

GVA per job
(201929)

GVA per hour worked
(201930)

March report
position
County
Durham

£45,259
(2018)

£28.831
(2018)

Latest
position
County
Durham

Latest
position
North East

Latest
position
England

Change in County
Durham position
relative to national
since the March
review

£45,602

£47,504

£57,583

Worsened

£29.0

£30.3

£35.7

Worsened

Commentary

GVA per job has increased marginally
by 0.8% between 2018 and 2019,
similar to North East growth rate (0.7%)
and marginally below the national level
(1.0%). The figure remains marginally
below the average for the North East
and significantly below the rate for
England.
GVA per hour worked has risen
marginally in County Durham between
2018 and 2019, slightly below the
increase recorded across the North
East (+0.8%) and England (+1.0%)
during this time. GVA per hour worked
remains below the North East level and
nationally. The performance gap
between County Durham and England
has increased from 6.5 per hour in
2018 to £6.7 per hour in 2019.

29

Ibid, via Nomis 06/12/21
Ibid, 06/12/21
31
Due to updates in the most recent sub-regional productivity dataset the 2018 GVA per hour worked has fallen marginally from £30.0 (the value reported in the March report) to £28.8
30

14

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

Overarching Observations
On balance, there appears to be an improving picture for the key economic indicators
considered above. Statistics for County Durham show small improvements locally
across 15 indicators compared to seven which have displayed a deteriorating position
and two showing no change since the Economic Review report was produced. In a
series of instances, the County has outperformed the trends reported regionally and
nationally, helping to close the performance gap.
Key points of note are:
Positive changes:
•

A reduction in claimant unemployment levels and youth unemployment, during a
period of great economic uncertainty.

•

Small increases in resident earnings, with a marginal reduction in the gap with
earnings nationally reported in both resident and workplace statistics.

•

A small rise in business start-ups with the rate now exceeding the regional and
national averages and business survival and death rates moving in a positive
direction, relative to the national picture.

Continued need for attention:
•

Overall employment losses have exceeded the rate of change reported regionally
and nationally.

•

Monitoring the continued level of manufacturing job losses and the implications this
has for County Durham, a key sector of the local economy and a source of higherthan-average GVA.

•

Further growth in the productivity gap relative to the national average, exacerbated
by further manufacturing job losses, despite a positive change in the GVA figures
reported locally.

15
Page 149

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

3

Impact of COVID-19 and Brexit Review

Introduction
As reported at the time of the March review, COVID-19 and Brexit remain important
challenges facing the UK as a whole which are likely to continue to have a significant
impact upon County Durham’s economy in the short and medium term. This section –
which draws on published statistics and research papers produced in recent months
– considers trends that have been reported since the Economic Review was prepared
relative those anticipated at the time of its production. The findings are presented
overleaf.

The Impacts of COVID-19
The key themes relating to the economic impact of COVID-19 as set out in the March
report, have been revisited, considering whether predictions have been realised and/or
whether forecasts suggest a continuation of the anticipated position.
Economic Output
Anticipated impact at the time of the March review
• GVA would decline by 11.4% in 2020 across the country and fall by 12.2% in the
North East32. Between 2019 and 2030 the average compound annual growth rate
(CAGR) will be 1.1% nationally and 0.6% in the North East.
Updated position / reported trends
• While published 2020 GVA data for England and the North East is not yet available,
a House of Commons Briefing Paper suggests Gross Domestic Product (GDP)33
for the UK declined by 9.8% in 202034, a lesser rate than first forecast although still
representing a sharp contraction.
• The latest national and regional forecasts published in a House of Commons
Briefing Paper suggest that GVA for England in 2021 will increase by 7.2% and by
8.6% in the North East, a greater rate of growth than previously anticipated for the
year.
• The Institute of Fiscal Studies had forecast GDP growth of 4.4% in 2022 in the UK.
• From 2020 to 2030 the latest forecast CAGR is 1.4% nationally and 1.2% for the
North East,35 up from previous forecasts.
• The UK’s recovery in 2021 was stronger than anticipated, supported by a better
public health outlook, easing restrictions and the extension of fiscal support.36
Summary findings / direction of travel
• Although the measures used are not directly comparable, the impact on economic
output appears to have been slightly better than anticipated with future forecasts
also appearing positive.
• The CAGR forecasts have increased since the Economic Review was prepared.

32

House of Commons Briefing Paper: Regional and Country Economic Indicators, December 2020, Oxford Economics
In the absence of a reliable and up to date GVA figure, GDP has been used (with GVA being a good proxy for GDP)
34
House of Commons Briefing Paper: Coronavirus: Economic Impact, September 2021
35
House of Commons Research Briefing: Regional and National Economic Indicators, November 2021, Oxford Economics.
36
https://ifs.org.uk/publications/15691
33

16

Page 150

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

2. Redundancies and Unemployment
Anticipated impact at the time of the March review
• Unemployment is expected to increase in Summer/ Autumn 2021, particularly as
furlough ends. Redundancy level expected to increase, Summer/ Autumn 2021
Updated position / reported trends
• Contrary to the expected trend, since the first quarter of the year (when claimant
count as a proportion of the working age population averaged 6.1% in County
Durham) the claimant count has continued to fall month on month. As of November
2021, there were 14,950 claimants of unemployment related benefits, equating to
4.5% of the working age population, compared to 5.3% in the North East and 4.7%
nationally37.
• As the furlough scheme was ending at the end of September 2021, the number of
residents claiming furlough in County Durham was 7,600, a take-up rate of 3.7%
of eligible employment, compared to 4% nationally.
• Recent data and surveys suggest that many workers who were still furloughed in
September remain in employment. Although there is expected to be a lag before
the full impact is understood, due to furloughed employees that have been made
redundant still being included in payroll data whilst serving notice periods. 38
However, record high vacancy rates might minimise the number of people
registered as unemployed after being made redundant.39
• Unemployment could still increase at the start of 2022 as more people return to the
labour market and the effects of the end of furlough are felt, according to recent
Institute of Fiscal Studies insights.40
• While in September to November 2020 the recorded level of redundancies in the
UK was at the highest since records began at 402,000, data for June to August
2021 suggests there were 99,000 redundancies, below pre-pandemic levels. In the
North East from September to November 2020, redundancies peaked at 14,000
whereas the most recent figures for August to October 2021 are 4,000
redundancies.
Summary finding / direction of travel
• Unemployment rates have not recorded the significant uplift anticipated at the end
of the furlough scheme. Ongoing review of this indicator is however recommended
as the future position remains uncertain. The anticipated uplift in redundancies has
not materialised. There does, however, remain scope for figures to rise over
coming months as redundancies work through the data.

37

ONS Claimant count by sex and age via Nomis on 14/12/21
PwC UK Economic Outlook December 2021
39
Commons Library Briefing Paper: Coronavirus: Impact on the labour market, October 2021
40
https://ifs.org.uk/publications/15691
38

17
Page 151

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

3. Business Base
Anticipated impact at the time of the March review
• Many hospitality and leisure related business were anticipated not to reopen due
to COVID-19 impacts.
• An increase in new starts and re-configured businesses anticipated.
Updated position / reported trends
• Hospitality has been one of the sectors most affected by lockdowns and
government restrictions throughout the coronavirus pandemic. The hospitality
sector adapted to the changing restrictions, with the proportion of businesses
temporarily closed in the UK falling from 81% in the spring 2020 lockdown to 54%
in the early 2021 lockdown41. Across the UK the restaurant net openings/closures
per year for 2019 was -4.5% (-273 units net change), while in 2020 the net change
was -11.2% (-670 units net change)42. Between March 2020 and the end of May
2021, Britain had 9,379 fewer licensed premises, representing a decline of 8.1%
compared to the pre-COVID total.43
• Despite the challenges faced, between 2019 and 2021 the number of businesses
in the accommodation and food and arts, entertainment, and recreation sectors,
has continued to grow in County Durham, with business counts up by 155, an uplift
of 10.3%, above the growth in businesses seen across the region (+6.1%) and
nationally (+5.1%).
• This is in line with employment data between 2019 and 2020 for County Durham
where employment in accommodation and food service activities sector saw an
uplift of 2,000 job, while nationally the sector declined by 7%.
• In County Durham, the number of start-ups has increased from 1,710 in 2019 to
1,840 in 2020 while business start-ups as a proportion of the business base has
increased from 12.4% to 12.6% (above the regional and national rate, of 12.3%
and 12.1% respectively) in line with the prediction of an increase in new starts.
Summary findings / direction of travel
• While data on the number of business closures for County Durham is not available,
data on both business counts and employment show a positive picture for the
sector, with a growing number of businesses and employment compared to the
pre-pandemic level. Keeping a check on trends as trading conditions continue to
present a challenge for the sector will however remain prudent.
• An increase in start-ups has been recorded, as anticipated.

41

ONS, Coronavirus and its impact on UK hospitality: January 2020 to June 2021
PwC Store openings and closures: hospitality and leisure commentary.
43
UKHospitality & CGA Future Shock Report - Issue Nine - Hospitality: COVID and beyond, July 2021
42

18

Page 152

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

4. Tourism, hospitality, and culture
Anticipated impact at the time of the March review
• Expected to recover strongly in 2022, and possibly the second half of 2021
Updated position / reported trends
• The sector has begun to recover from Spring 2021 as restrictions have eased,
although the sector is still performing below pre-COVID-19 levels.44 UK
Hospitality’s chief executive states “The anticipation was that the recovery would
have been stronger than it has been”, “It underlines the fragility of the sector.
Businesses are not operating at full capacity and full strength.”45
• Recent PWC insights from December 2021 suggests that growth in the hospitality
sector is projected to continue accelerating in a fully opened economy, forecasting
growth of between 16% to 20% in 2022.46
• The tourism sector is forecast to rebound in 2022, with VisitBritian forecasting visits
and spend to have recovered to around 68% of pre-COVID levels by the end of
2022, although forecasts are contingent on travel restrictions not being tightened
significantly, as well as a gradual return of traveller confidence.47
• Growing recruitment challenges are evident in the hospitality sector, with a rapid
increase in job vacancies recorded throughout 2021. There were an estimated
165,000 job vacancies recorded in the UK in the sector in September to November
2021, with the highest ratio of vacancies to 100 employee jobs across all sectors,
around twice the pre-pandemic number of vacancies and around 5.7 times the
number recorded in the same period a year prior.48
Summary findings / direction of travel
• Sector forecasts remain positive for 2022, although recent developments with the
Omicron coronavirus variant might yet impact upon the sector’s recovery.

44

https://www.ft.com/content/ac6266ed-3977-4d51-88bf-d60768ee8c7a
https://www.ft.com/content/ac6266ed-3977-4d51-88bf-d60768ee8c7a
46
PwC UK Economic Outlook December 2021
47
https://www.visitbritain.org/2022-tourism-forecast
48
ONS Vacancies by industry
45

19
Page 153

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

5. Health and Care
Anticipated impact at the time of the March review
• Recruitment challenges anticipated within the sector.
Updated position / reported trends
• In the UK there has been a persistent shortfall of around 100,000 health workers
for several years across NHS trusts. Over the past year the number of vacancies
has in human health and social work sector has risen persistently to 198,000 in
the UK in September to November 2021, up from 123,000 in the same period in
2020.49
• A thinktank predicts that vacancies in the sector could hit 350,000 by 2030 –
leaving one in six posts unfilled.50
• During lockdowns new people were attracted to the sector as unemployment rose
in the hospitality sectors, however this did not continue as restrictions were eased
in spring/summer 2021 there has been an exodus away from healthcare again,
and a return to pre-pandemic shortage levels.51
• Skills for Care (an independent charity partnered with the Department of Health
and Social Care in England) report that vacancies for adult social care roles in
England had risen above pre-pandemic levels since March 2021 and are
anticipated to reach an all-time high.52
• The requirement for health and care staff to be vaccinated has generated additional
staff recruitment and retention challenges.
Summary findings / direction of travel
• Recruitment challenges have been reported and are expected to persist,
exacerbated by demands placed on the system by COVID-19 and workers leaving
the sector due to the pressures being placed on them.

49

Ibid.
(https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/health-care-workforce-england
51
https://tribepad.com/article/the-6-biggest-challenges-healthcare-recruitment-faces-in-2021/
52
https://www.skillsforcare.org.uk/adult-social-care-workforce-data/Workforce-intelligence/publications/national-information/Thestate-of-the-adult-social-care-sector-and-workforce-in-England.aspx
50

20

Page 154

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

The Impacts of Brexit
The key impacts of Brexit as considered in the March report have been revisited below,
providing an updated position, and considering whether predictions have been
realised and/or whether forecasts remain consistent with the anticipated position at
the time the previous report was produced.
1. Economic Output
Anticipated impact at the time of the March review
• Brexit anticipated to reduce growth by 1% to 2% by 2022
Updated position / reported trend
• Recently published insights are consistent with predictions that Brexit will lead to a
reduction in growth although data is not available for a comparable period. The
OBR latest forecasts (October 2021) suggest leaving the European Union will
reduce GDP by around 4% in the long run.
Summary finding / direction of travel
• Recent insights are consistent in suggesting that growth will be restricted although
comparable data is not available to allow for an updated assessment.

21
Page 155

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

2. Manufacturing
Anticipated impact at the time of the March review
• Manufacturing sector at risk and recruitment difficulties anticipated. Increased
friction for companies importing and exporting.
Updated position / reported trend
• Brexit has resulted in significant disruption to supply chains for manufacturers
during 2021, impacting upon the sector.
• In addition, recruitment challenges in the sector have been recorded. There were
93,000 vacancies recorded in the UK in September to November 2021, up from
43,000 in the same period a year ago, with 3.8 vacancies for every 100 employee
jobs. In 2019, 11% of workers in the sector were EU nationals, with 19% overall
born outside the UK, presenting a risk.
• In County Durham between 2019 and 2020, there were 2,500 less people
employed in manufacturing, representing a decline of 10.0%, compared to 3.6%
across the North East and 4.2% nationally. However, between 2020 and 2021 the
manufacturing business base in County Durham has grown by 5% - an additional
40 businesses.
• Increased trade barriers as a result of leaving the single market and customs union
at the start of 2021 have resulted in disruptions to both the import and export of
goods between the UK and the EU, as well as issues around rules of origin which
have all impacted upon the sector.
• Insights suggest larger firms have found it easier to adjust and cushion themselves
against disruption, while small and medium sized enterprises are more likely to
have struggled. CEO of Make UK, a body that represents manufacturers from the
country, outlines how British businesses have been coping since Brexit came into
play. “[British manufacturers] are falling into two groups at the moment,” he says.
“Larger companies are generally coping with the impact because they have got the
resources to be able to work through it. Smaller companies, and supply chain
companies in particular, don’t have the same resources.”
• Estimates suggest the additional costs of non-tariff barriers such as filling out
import and export declarations range from £7.5 billion to £15 billion per year.
• Survey data reported British manufacturers’ export sales declined, with
respondents commenting on “difficulties fulfilling orders to existing clients in the EU
due to higher costs and transportation delays”
• Office for National Statistics (ONS) data reported in January 2021, goods exported
between the UK and the EU fell by 40.7% while imports also fell by 28.8%.
Summary finding/direction of travel
• Recruitment challenges are impacting the manufacturing sector with a notable rise
in vacancies over the past year across the UK. Job losses in the sector in County
Durham suggest that wider challenges are also being faced.
• Businesses are reporting barriers to trade with a clear impact evident on trade
statistics to date.

22

Page 156

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

3. Health and Care
Anticipated impact at the time of the March review
• Problems with recruitment as flexible labour movements across the EU come to an
end.
Updated position / reported trend
• The shortfall of health workers has persisted in 2021, with ONS data as
presented above recording 198,000 vacancies in health and social work sector
September to November 2021, up 61% on the year before. The Health and Care
Visa, a fast-track visa scheme with a reduced visa fee for health and care worker,
has helped to minimise impacts of new immigration system. However, this has
not benefitted the social care sector where the majority of social care workers are
not eligible for the Health and Care Visa and many will fail to meet the salary and
skill level thresholds put in place under the new rules.
• Data published in September 202153 shows that 5.4% of NHS staff in England
are NHS nationals, a proportion that has continued to decline since the 2016 EU
referendum. In June 2021 there were around 110,000 job vacancies in care in
England and more than 3 in 10 staff are leaving each year54. The care sector
continues to have a reliance on EU nationals, accounting for more than 104,000
care jobs with fears that staff will continue to leave the sector.
• Outside the health and care sector, the challenges Brexit has presented for the
food production sector and transportation has become increasingly evident since
the Evidence Review was prepared.
Summary finding / direction of travel
• A series of labour supply challenges are now evident in health and care as well
as wider sectors of the economy.
• Although exact figures for the number of EU nationals leaving professions are not
known in many instances, there is a concern about the impact to date and potential
for it to continue to grow.

53
54

https://commonslibrary.parliament.uk/research-briefings/cbp-7783/
https://www.careindustrynews.co.uk/2021/06/what-brexit-means-for-our-valuable-eu-care-workers/

23
Page 157

Economic Review Update Report for County Durham

4

Implications for the March Report Recommendations

While data presented in this report suggests the impacts on the economy and
unemployment in 2021 may not be as severe as initially feared as a result of the
COVID-19 pandemic and Brexit, and in some cases County Durham has reported
improved performance, the short term outlook for the economy suggests challenges
still lie ahead. County Durham has successfully supported communities and
businesses, as well as securing new investment over the past year, helping to facilitate
its economic recovery. Long term trends including automation and digitisation, the
costs of supporting an ageing population and the move to a low carbon economy, do
however remain creating both challenges and new economic and employment
opportunities.
The recommendations set out in the Economic Review in March 2021 remain valid in
light of the assessment outlined in the sections above. While limited progress has been
made in some areas, the overarching priorities for intervention remain unaltered and
can be further summarised as follows:
•

Develop a pipeline of new investment and compete for external funding to deliver
new investment and jobs.

•

Seek to improve productivity and jobs in key sectors including:
o Advanced manufacturing and engineering.
o Logistics and distribution.
o Digital industries and business services.
o Tourism and leisure.

•

Support start-ups as a route into employment and to expand the business base.

•

Enhance connectivity to support places, investments, and employment.

•

Support the rural economy with improvements to connectivity and local services.

•

Use skills, learning and school services to support people of all ages into work.

•

Tackle the multiple determinants of deprivation to support communities and towns.

•

Harness the powers of large anchor institutions to maximise local opportunities.

•

Explore local opportunities in the move to clean energy and zero carbon.

Further consideration of how these points may be actioned will be explored through
the Economic Strategy development process, including by securing the perspectives
of local stakeholders.

24

Page 158

Appendix 4

Rebuilding A
Powerful Economy
County Durham
Economic Statement

Page 159

Purpose
Over the coming months we will develop a new Economic Strategy – this
statement sets out some headline economic strengths and challenges and a
direction for discussion with partners and stakeholders across County Durham.
This statement and the development of the strategy will help us to:
 Balance economic growth with the need to reduce carbon emissions and 		
improve socio-economic sustainability.
 Define priorities for growth and recovery from COVID-19.
 Take advantage of the opportunities emerging from Brexit.
 Align with the County Durham Vision 2035, which sets the ambition of 		
generating more and better jobs across the county by:
 Delivering a range of accessible employment sites.
 Having a strong, competitive economy and being a premier place to do 		
business.
 Broadening the experience for residents and visitors to the county.
 Ensuring young people have access to good quality education, training, 		
and employment.
 Helping people into rewarding work.
 Ensuring fewer people are affected by poverty and deprivation.

Page 160

2

Economic Performance
Economy

Students

Workers

Jobs

Average Wages

Self-Employed

Residents

Businesses

£9 billion 18,800
254,000

174,000
30,100

30,100

14,565

533,100
Highly Skilled Workers

101,800
3

Page 161

Gross Value Added Per Filled Job
The Gross Value Added (G V A) of our economy has grown by £2.6 billion over
the last fifteen years to £9 billion, which is a 44% rate of growth but significantly
below the national rate of 64%. National growth has been driven by the business
services sector, which is weaker in County Durham. The overall gap between the
county’s performance and national performance is growing.
At £16,925 our G V A per capita is 56% of the national average of £30,239. If we
had matched national levels of growth in the last fifteen years, it would be around
10% higher at around £18,400. It is vital that we attempt to close the gap with
national performance in order to improve local wages and quality of life.
G V A per capita includes the whole
population such as children and
retired people and is a measure
of prosperity. In contrast, G V A per
filled job reflects the productivity
of the workforce and is a measure
where the county’s performance
is closer to the national average.
Using this measure the county’s
G V A is almost £46,000 per job
compared to a national average
of more than £57,000. Although
County Durham’s performance around 80% of the national average, the
businesses, sectors, and opportunities in the county could help to close this gap.
Our overall ambition is to support the creation of more and better jobs across
the county, and it is proposed that our high level target is to bridge the gap with
national performance across the following key measures. This ambition and these
measures will be considered during the development of the Inclusive Economic
Strategy and as evidence of the economic impacts of COVID-19 and Brexit become
clearer.

Page 162

4

Employment
County Durham’s employment
rate is typically 2 to 3 percentage
points below the national average
and a little above the regional
average. Over the last 3-5 years
the employment rate has averaged
around 72%.

Unemployment
County Durham’s unemployment
rate is typically around one
percentage point higher than
the national rate but around 0.5
percentage points lower than the
regional rate. Over the last 3-5
years the rate has averaged around
5.5% but tends to fluctuate.

Higher Level Skills
County Durham has a far lower
proportion of residents with
higher level skills than the
national average. This means that
residents have lower wages and
less disposable income, are less
able to secure higher-level jobs,
and are less innovative than the
national average. This significantly
affects the overall performance
of the economy. Furthermore,
the gap between the county’s
performance and national rates is
growing.

5

Page 163

Higher Level Occupations
Similar to the county’s skills
profile, we have a lower
proportion of higher level jobs;
those requiring a high level of
skill, education, and experience.
Correspondingly, we also have a
high proportion of routine jobs,
which are particularly at risk of
being automated in the medium
to long-term future. Lowerlevel jobs are also more at risk
during economic recessions and
downturns and may involve zero
hour contracts where work is less
secure.
Bridging the performance
gap in the employment and
unemployment rates will lead
to more than 10,000 more
residents in work. Supporting
residents to achieve higher level
skills and occupations will lead
to productivity improvements,
wage growth, and new business
opportunities across the county
and more innovation. It will also
make the county’s economy more
stable and more resistant to
future economic recessions.

Page 164

6

Employment in Key Business Sectors
We have a range of multinational businesses located throughout the county
including Hitachi Rail Europe, Husqvarna, Glaxo Smith Kline, Caterpillar, Ineos,
Gestamp, Thorn Lighting, and have recently secured a new Amazon Fulfilment
Centre.
Our key locational strengths are that we sit between Tyne and Wear and Tees
Valley and have good north-south national connectivity with the A1 M, A19
and East Coast Mainline running through the county. The demand for land and
premises is greatest in these corridors and has seen escalating demand in the last
decade or so. We also have numerous businesses that have a growing national
and international presence based in the county including Kromek, Elddis, Thomas
Swan, G T Group, Atom Bank, Honcho, Great Annual Savings, The Banks Group,
The Vardy Group, The Esh Group, Crafters Companion, and many others.
Our business sector profile differentiates us from many parts of the UK, with
manufacturing and engineering being a particular strength. The business services
sector is under-represented in our economy and has potential for significant
growth, with fintech being a niche opportunity. Within the public services we have
specific strength in education which will be harnessed to support labour market
improvements and economic growth.

7

Page 165

Proposed Priorities
In order to develop this statement and a new Inclusive Economic Strategy we
commissioned a high-level economic profile of the county which recommended a
range of actions for discussion and agreement. The recommendations were to:
 Rebuild a powerful economy.
 Develop a pipeline of new investment.
 Improve productivity and jobs in key sectors.
 Support start-ups as a route into employment and to expand our business 		
base.
 Enhance connectivity to support places, investments, and employment.
 Support the rural economy with improvements to connectivity and local 		
services.
 Use skills, learning and school services to support people of all ages into 		
work.
 Tackle the multiple determinants of deprivation to support communities 		
and towns.
 Harness the powers of large anchor institutions to maximising local 			
opportunities.
 Compete for external funding to deliver new investment and jobs.

Page 166

8

Proposed Economic Strategy Framework
We have developed a framework to simplify our overall approach to economic
growth and demonstrate to stakeholders and investors where and how we expect
to drive change. We will test this framework via the development of the Inclusive
Economic Strategy.
1. People: Supporting people
into education, training, jobs,
and to excel in business and
their careers.
2. Prosperity: Supporting 		
business innovation, 		
growth, and higher levels of
productivity.
3. Places: Developing, evolving,
and protecting places and
infrastructure so people and
businesses can thrive.
4. Promotion: Promotion of
the county and our assets to
visitors, investors, and 		
developers.
5. Partnerships: Working in
partnerships to develop an
inclusive, greener economy.

9

Page 167

This page is intentionally left blank

Appendix 5

Health & Wellbeing Board
County Durham Inclusive Economic Strategy
Our Big Econ-versation

Page 169

Page 170

The interdependence of health and the
local economy

3-Stage Development Process…
 PROCESS AGREED by Durham County Council Cabinet in December
1. Economic Review  COMPLETED
Independent evidence base
2. Economic Statement  COMPLETED
Summary of issues, evidence & structure
3. Inclusive Economic Strategy
To be developed based on Our Big Econ-versation
Page 171

Page 172

Proposed Framework…
People

Supporting people into education, training, jobs, and to excel in
business and their careers

Prosperity

Supporting business innovation, growth, and higher levels
of productivity

Places

Improving places and infrastructure so people and
businesses can access opportunities

Promotion

Promotion of the county and our assets to visitors,
investors, and developers

Partnerships

Working in partnerships to develop an inclusive, greener
economy

Planet

Timescales…
January to April

Our Big Econ-versation
•
•
•
•
•

Website
Surveys
Email
Post
Telephone

www.durhamecon-versation.co.uk
General | Businesses | Youths
Econ-versation@durham.gov.uk
Freepost ECON-VERSATION
03000 260 000

May to July

Analysis of feedback and drafting of strategy

Summer to Autumn

Consultation and feedback on draft strategy

Late 2022

Adoption of strategy

Page 173

Page 174

The Inclusive Economic Strategy will…
• Balance economic growth with the need to reduce carbon
emissions and improve social and economic sustainability
• Define priorities for growth and recovery from Covid-19
• Enhance and create opportunities across the county
• Align with the County Durham Vision 2035, which sets the ambition
of generating more and better jobs across the county
• Align with the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy

Current economic issues…
• The Economic Review and Update identified the following issues relating to
health and wellbeing and the economy:
• More than 22,000 residents (30%) in the county are economically inactive
due to long-term health conditions, compared to 29% in the North East and
23% nationally.
• Healthcare is one of the largest sectors of employment in the county, with
50,000 people (14%).
• At 12%, the county has a high proportion of people working in caring and
leisure jobs compared to 9% nationally
• 5,500 jobs created in health and social care sector in the North East between
2019 and 2020.
• A series of labour supply challenges are now evident in health and care as
well as wider sectors of the economy.
• Although exact figures for the number of EU nationals leaving professions
are not known in many instances, there is a concern about the impact to
date and potential for it to continue to grow.
Page 175

Page 176

Health and wellbeing feedback so far…
• High numbers of care worker jobs are available but few in other sectors
• Awareness of young people that the care sector is a valid career option
• Homeworking is an opportunity for people with long-term sickness issues,
disabilities, people with caring responsibilities, and young people
• The costs and time needed for childcare impact on the ability of people to
access education
• Mental health issues identified by young people as a potential barrier to work
• The high levels of anti-social behaviour by young people in town centres
potentially having an impact on people’s mental health
• Access to doctors and dentists is identified regularly and the need to match
these services to new housing and ageing population has been identified

Some questions…
• How can you help us to promote the conversations?
• How can we speak to people that are facing barriers to work?
• What support do people need in order to overcome health and
wellbeing issues and obtain jobs or set-up businesses?
• What priorities should the strategy focus on?

Page 177

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 9

Health and Wellbeing Board
29 March 2022
Healthwatch County Durham annual
report 2020/21 and workplan 2021/22

Report of Christopher Cunnington-Shore, Chair, Healthwatch
County Durham
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

The purpose of the report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board
with the Healthwatch County Durham (HWCD) annual report 2020/21
and the priorities for 2021/22. The annual report is attached as
Appendix 2 of this report.

Executive summary
2

The annual report covers the highlights from 2020/21, how we set our
priorities, how we’ve made a difference, how we have helped people to
find the answers they need and how our volunteers support the work we
do. It also provides details of our priorities for the coming year.

3

779 people gave feedback about their experiences of health and social
care and 246 contacted us for information, advice and signposting. 24
volunteers gave 1843 hours of their time, which is the equivalent of
around 245 days.

4

Our work has been significantly impacted by the COVID-19 pandemic,
especially our inability to conduct our Enter and View visits, although we
have continued to provide our signposting, advice and information
service without disruption.

5

We used social media and our e bulletins to regularly share lots of
useful information from reliable sources throughout the pandemic.
Providing up to date national and local advice and information about
COVID 19. Last year, we shared 206 messages of advice relating to the
pandemic across our social media platforms

6

The annual report was available on our website from 28 June 2021 and
shared with Healthwatch England, the Care Quality Commission, NHS
England, Clinical Commissioning Groups, Adult, Wellbeing and Health
Overview and Scrutiny Committee and Durham County Council
Page 179

Recommendations
7

Page 180

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are recommended to:
(a)

Receive the HWCD annual report for 2020/21.

(b)

Note the ongoing workplan priorities and the engagement topics
for inclusion in the new workplan for 2022/23, which is currently
out for public vote.

(c)

Provide comment on the future work areas for HWCD to ensure
further alignment to the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

Background
8

HWCD is the consumer champion for health and social care and
delivers an evidence based workplan agreed by an independent board.

9

The workplan comprises our core functions of information and
signposting, Enter and View visits and volunteering, public priorities and
workplan requests that have been agreed by the HWCD board.

10

Healthwatch County Durham is hosted by the Pioneering Care
Partnership.

Key events over the last year
11

Healthwatch County Durham published 4 reports about the
improvements people would like to see with their health and social care,
and from this, we made 17 recommendations for improvement

12

The published reports included:
• Access to GP services
• Pharmacy services
• Life in a Domestic Abuse refuge during the COVID 19 pandemic
• COVID-19 vaccination programme
Our reports can be found on the Healthwatch County Durham website
News and reports | Healthwatch Countydurham

13

Healthwatch County Durham successfully completed the selfassessment, utilising the Healthwatch England Quality Framework. The
framework is a self-assessment tool which Healthwatch boards and
leaders can use to explore key questions such as:
 Which aspects of our work are more effective?
 Where can we improve things?
 What barriers do we need to address?
 What factors drive our success?
 What impact are we making?
This has helped us recognise our strengths and weaknesses, identifying
any changes we need to make to improve the way we deliver the
service. The framework has helped us strengthen our governance
arrangements, ensuring they are robust and fit for purpose.

Page 181

14

COVID-19 has continued to have an impact on service provision and
our ability to engage with the community we serve. Staff continue to
work with volunteers and support service users through our signposting
and advice service. Following guidance from the government and
Healthwatch England we are considering new approaches to our
engagement with public in the future.

15

The top 4 areas that people contacted us about though our advice and
signposting service were,
 GP services (31%)
 Dental services (19%)
 COVID-19 vaccinations (19%)
 Mental Health services (8%)

16

Pre-COVID-19, HWCD used to hold an annual event, which gave us an
opportunity to engage with the public and stakeholders. This year we
held the event online and although it was on a much smaller scale we
were able to provide feedback on our work and had two excellent
speakers, namely, Michael Laing, Director of Integrated Community
Services and Pauline Fletcher, Senior Primary Care Manager (Dental
Commissioning Lead – North East and North Cumbria).

Choosing our priorities
17

The Board review all the thematic priorities at the end of each year and
use what the people of County Durham tell them, to drive continuous
improvement in the health and social care services. We follow national
policy in determining our work planning.

18

They combine consultation, signposting enquiries and engagement
work with assessment of national issues to make sure views and
priorities are always balanced.

Our priorities for next year
19

We have ongoing workplan priorities carried forward from last year,
these include
 Gathering the experiences of children and young people
accessing Mental Health support
 Gathering the experiences of people accessing Home Care
Services

Page 182

 Undertaking targeted work with seldom heard groups accessing
primary care
 Publishing the results of the survey we conducted into registering
with an NHS dentist
 Following up the recommendations made in our reports to see
which recommendations have been adopted by service providers
 Undertaking a dedicated piece of work with volunteers and the
public creating some video diaries, highlighting their experiences
accessing Health and Social Care Services
20

Whilst our focus remains at Place, continuing to support local health
and social care decision making, we are involved in the changes to the
Integrated Care System (ICS) being implemented in 2022. We are
working with our colleagues in the 12 other local Healthwatch within the
ICS. We have a key role ensuring the voices of the residents of the
county are heard at a regional level.

21

We are in the process of undertaking a survey, asking the public to
prioritise 5 further workplan items we want to take forward in the next 12
to 18 months. The 5 topics are,
 Hearing about the experiences of people visiting loved ones in care
homes and the impact of Covid restrictions on the Mental Health of
people living in care homes
 The experiences of patients being discharged from hospital,
including accessing patient transport from hospital to home. We are
currently in discussions with CDDFT about working together and
have joined the Hospital Discharge Group.
 COVID-19 has had a significant impact on hospital waiting times and
we want people to share their experiences of what it has meant for
them being on hospital waiting lists.
 Are patients getting information in an easy to understand way? Is
the accessible information standard being used in Health and Social
Care services?
 What are the experiences of patients accessing GP appointments
and healthcare services. Are things improving?

Conclusion
22

This has been a year of continuing challenges for HWCD, including
COVID 19 and staff shortages. However, we have continued to
represent the views of our community and engage positively with our
partners. Although engagement out in the community has been scaled

Page 183

back, we have continued to gather the views of the public and share our
findings both regionally and nationally.
23

We recognise with the implementation of the North East and North
Cumbria ICS there will be both challenges and opportunities, however
we are committed to ensuring the voice of local people in health and
social care service delivery is still heard. We will continue to work
closely with our partners in the county to improve outcomes for the
members of the public in County Durham.

Authors
Christopher Cunnington-Shore (Chair)

Tel: 07786 667805

Denise Alexander (Interim Project Lead)

Tel: 07756 654222

Page 184

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Local Healthwatch have been set up in every local authority in England by the
Health and Social Care Act 2012. This details the statutory duties of each
Healthwatch, which include:
 Promoting and supporting the involvement of local people in the
commissioning, provision and scrutiny of local care services.
 Enabling local people to monitor the standard of provision of local care
services and whether and how local care services could and ought to be
improved.
 Obtaining the views of local people regarding their needs for, and
experiences of, local care services and importantly to make these views
known.
 Making reports and recommendations about how local care services
could or ought to be improved. These should be directed to
commissioners and providers of care services, and people responsible
for managing or scrutinising local care services, and shared with
Healthwatch England.
 Providing advice and information about access to local care services so
choices can be made about local care services.
 Formulating views on the standard of provision and whether and how the
local care services could and ought to be improved, and to share these
views with Healthwatch England.
 Making recommendations to Healthwatch England to advise the Care
Quality Commission to conduct special reviews or investigations (or,
where the circumstances justify doing so, making such recommendations
direct to the CQC); and to make recommendations to Healthwatch
England to publish reports about particular issues
 Providing Healthwatch England with intelligence and insight to enable it
to perform effectively.
 Each local Healthwatch must produce a report in relation to their activities
at the end of each financial year
 All local Healthwatch are required to publish an annual report by 30 June
each year and submit to Healthwatch England and local commissioners

Page 185

Finance
HWCD is commissioned by DCC and the finances managed by Pioneering
Care Partnership, the contract holder

Consultation
Engagement and consultation is the core work of HWCD

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
HWCD adheres to PCP’s equality and diversity policy and training.

Climate Change
N/A

Human Rights
N/A

Crime and Disorder
N/A

Staffing
HWCD has 4.5 FTE staff.

Accommodation
N/A.

Risk
N/A.

Procurement
The current contract runs till March 2022 + 3yrs.

Page 186

Appendix 2

On equal terms
Then and now

Healthwatch County Durham Annual Report 2020-21

Page 187

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

Contents

Message from our Chair

2

About us

3

Highlights from our year

4

Theme one: Then and now

5

Theme two: Then and now

7

Responding to COVID-19

9

Volunteers

11

Finances

13

Next steps & thank you

14

Statutory Statements

15

Page 188

1

2

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

Message from our Chair
‘Unprecedented’ has been an often-used word this past twelve months, but that's really
how it has been for all of us. Who could have predicted how responsive services would
have to be to manage the extraordinary circumstances we have faced?
None of us have escaped the impact of the last year and for those who have lost a
loved one, we extend our sincere condolences to you. To those who have been working
under extreme pressure, we extend you our admiration and gratitude.
Some changes meant we could not see our loved ones or our GP face-to-face, but the
speed of developments to safeguard us and services, was remarkable.
The volunteers and staff at Healthwatch County Durham have continued working to
make sure that we keep in touch with your experiences of health and care services and
continue to answer your enquiries. We have been making new links with some of the
seldom heard groups in the county so we can gather their views too.
“Paraphrasing Sir Tom Moore ‘Next year will be a better year’ and we
will endeavour to continue to remain the ‘people’s champion’ acting on
your behalf to ensure service providers recognise the independent
voice that we bring.”
Looking ahead
We have also been thinking ahead and planning, in terms of what is important to you.
Our public vote has taken place and we will be building our work programme around
those key areas. How we engage and meet in future will be really important and we will
be looking to introduce new technology to make sure we can continue to provide you
with a responsive, yet modern service.
As always, my thanks to the people of County Durham who share their experiences, our
staff team, volunteers and Board who have continued to work on your behalf this year.
We hope to have our usual annual event this year and plan to work with other agencies
so that the event will be even more interactive. We look forward to seeing you there.

Chris Cunnington-Shore
Chair of Healthwatch County Durham
Page 189

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

3

About us
Here to make health and care better
We are the independent champion for people who use health and care
services in County Durham. We’re here to find out what matters to people
and help make sure your views shape the support you need, by sharing
these views with those who have the power to make change happen.

Helping you to find the information you need
We help people find the information they need about services in their area.
This has been vital during the pandemic with the ever-changing environment
and restrictions, limiting people’s access to health and care services.

Our goals

you to
1 Supporting
have your say

a high
2 Providing
quality service

We want more people to get
the information they need to
take control of their health
and care, make informed
decisions and shape the
services that support them.

We want everyone who
shares an experience or
seeks advice from us to get a
high quality service and to
understand the difference
their views make.

your views
3 Ensuring
help improve health

& care
We want more services to
use your views to shape the
health and care support you
need today and in the
future.

“Local Healthwatch have done fantastic work
throughout the country during the COVID-19
pandemic, but there is more work ahead to ensure
that everyone’s views are heard. COVID-19 has
highlighted inequalities and to tackle these unfair
health differences we will need those in power to
listen, to hear the experiences of those facing
inequality and understand the steps that could
improve people’s lives.”
Page 190

Sir Robert Francis QC, Chair of Healthwatch England

4

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

Highlights from our year
Find out about our resources and how we have engaged and supported
people in 2020-21.

Reaching out

We heard from

779 people

this year about their experiences of health and social care.
We provided advice and information to

246 people
this year.

Responding to the pandemic
We engaged with and supported

47 people

with COVID-19 related issues/concerns this year.

28

of these related to patients having trouble accessing dental services
for emergency or non-emergency treatment.

Making a difference to care
We published

4 reports

about the improvements people would like to see to health and care
services. From this, we made 17 recommendations for improvements.
We are working with stakeholders to use these recommendations to improve
services and will be monitoring progress.

Health and care that works for you

24 volunteers

helped us to carry out our work. In total, they contributed 1843 hours of
volunteering, which is the equivalent of around 245 days.

We employ 7 staff

which is the full time equivalent of 4.5, this is the same as the previous
year.
We received

£180,600 in funding

from our local authority in 2020-21, which is 8.6% less than the previous
year.

Page 191

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

5

Theme one: Accessing
services
Then: accessing services
Thanks to 257 people sharing their experiences of using health and care services, Healthwatch
County Durham was able to use their insight to make an impact. It made it easier for everyone
to find the information they need on GP websites or telephone answer machine messages. They
told us what worked well and what could be better about using a range of services, and these
are some of the things we discovered:
The pandemic has changed the way we access GPs, placing even more pressure on phone-lines and a bigger
reliance on technology at home. Telephone answer machine messages and websites need to provide clear
and consistent messages that people can understand and act on.
Communication with patients could be improved, with health service providers making it clear why
appointments or services are being cancelled and what will happen next.
More people are happy for services to be delivered remotely either online or via the telephone, but the
option of face-to-face appointments should still be available.

People had not accessed services because:
• 56 had their appointment postponed due to the pandemic
• 38 thought their problem could wait until services were back to normal
• 30 didn’t want to bother services as they were busy with COVID-19
Page
192
• 27
were
worried about catching COVID-19

6

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

Now:
Thanks to the feedback from 257 people about using services during the pandemic, we have
been able to share their views with County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and
service providers.
The CCG was very positive about our report and gave feedback about the steps they were taking.
They recognised the need for clear and consistent messages and in response have suggested wording for
practice telephone systems. The CCG will also be providing funding to GP practices to improve websites and
telephone systems. It is using our findings to make sure the money is used for the things that are most
important.

The CCG said –”Improving access through digital technology has been identified as a national priority which
the Primary Care Strategy intends to develop. Work will continue to support this agenda across County
Durham while we recognise that face to face consultations will remain an important element of service
provision"
Healthwatch County Durham is doing some focussed work with seldom heard groups about their experiences
of using services and will be refreshing the report to include their views and any new recommendations.

“The GP answer machine message was too fast to catch the
email address I needed.”
“Video call may have helped as it may have assisted with lip reading.”
“Good not to have to visit surgery when unwell. Telephone consultation
sufficient.”

Healthwatch County Durham was worried about the number of people who told us they had not used
services during lockdown. We are hopeful that the information messages being issued by the NHS along with
the successful vaccination programme, will give confidence to the public to start using services again. The
North-East & North Cumbria are receiving a share of £160m funding to tackle waiting lists, along with more
support to implement and try new ways to increase the number of elective operations they deliver.
Healthwatch will be continuing to monitor how things are progressing in County Durham.

“The report provides the Clinical Commissioning Group with an excellent
and valuable insight into people’s experiences of using health and social
care services during the COVID-19 lockdown.”
Share your views with us
If you have a query about a health or care service or need help with
where you can go to access further support, get in touch. Don’t
struggle alone. Healthwatch is here for you.
www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk
0800 304 7039
healthwatchcountydurham@pcp.uk.net

Page 193

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

7

Theme two: Then and now
Accessing your local pharmacy
Then: accessing your local pharmacy
Healthwatch County Durham recognised that making the most of the services pharmacies can
offer is an important part of helping people to get information and advice.
We first carried out a survey in 2017 about the views of people using pharmacy and dispensing doctor
services across the county. As a result of our recommendations the Local Pharmaceutical Committee
worked with Durham County Council, the Clinical Commissioning Groups and Healthwatch County Durham to
plan and deliver the publicity campaign for pharmacy that focused on 'self-care'.
In 2020 when we repeated the survey to see if progress had been made, 260 people shared their
views and experiences. They told us:
The 3 things that pharmacies do well are making sure prescriptions are correct and available on time;
knowledgeable staff give advice and information; good and friendly customer care is provided.
Other services that people would like to access from pharmacies include a range of health checks, for
example, blood pressure, blood tests, cholesterol checks. Some people said they would like pharmacists to be
able to prescribe certain medicines, resulting in fewer visits to the GP surgery.

Page 194
Pharmacy
services could be improved by using text messaging when medicine is ready to collect and be more
environmentally friendly by reducing paper copies.

8

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

Over 80% of people knew of the publicity campaign to encourage more use of community pharmacies
as the first port of call for advice and treatment and almost 68% of these said they were now more likely
to contact/visit a pharmacy for advice.
Our report also showed that there has been an improvement in the uptake of the services available:
•
•
•
•

Awareness of Flu Services has increased by almost 13%, with more people having their annual jab
Awareness of Sexual Health Services has increased by 7.5%, with more people using the service
Use of the disposing of old medicines service has increased by almost 9%
Use of Smoking Cessation Services has increased by 7.5%"

“Comments from the respondents do indicate that, for whatever reason,
awareness has increased which is very positive. It may have increased
still further since March; pharmacies have remained open throughout the
pandemic, providing services for their regular patients but also, more
than likely to a wider cohort who have been unable to access services
elsewhere.”
Greg Burke, Chief Officer,
County Durham & Darlington Local Pharmaceutical Committee

Now: accessing your local pharmacy
Funding was available in 2020 to run a second publicity campaign but that has been put on hold due to the
pandemic. We hope to work with our partners again to further identify what pharmacies are doing well and
what could be improved.
Pharmacies featured in our report into "Accessing services during the COVID-19 pandemic" in 2020, being
one of the most used services along with GPs. They were seen as providing a safe venue where people
could access advice and medication. They reacted to the pandemic by changing their systems to keep
patients safe.

“The NHS 111 service was particularly quick in calling me back and
offering advice and support. The Pharmacist said he would call me
back to check on my progress and he did - twice - at the time he said
he would. Could not fault the new tele-triage system. Glad that
Pharmacists are part of the new ways of working.”
Pharmacy customer
To find out more take a look at our reports:
Pharmacy Services Report: September 2020
People’s Experiences of COVID-19 Lockdown Report October 2020

Page 195

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

9

Responding to
COVID-19
Healthwatch County Durham plays an important role in helping people to get the
information they need, especially through the pandemic. The insight we collect is
shared with both Healthwatch England and local partners to make sure services
are operating as best as possible during the pandemic.
This year we helped people by:
• Finding them the right support, advice and information using our signposting service.
• Using our volunteers to find out what was happening locally and sharing what they were telling us. Loaning
some volunteers IT equipment so they could continue to communicate with us.
• Using Facebook, Twitter, Instagram and our e-bulletins to regularly share lots of useful information from
reliable sources throughout the pandemic. Providing up-to-date national and local advice and information
about COVID-19. Last year, we shared 206 messages of advice relating to the pandemic across
our social media platforms.
• Supporting the community by organising a collection for the local foodbank, involving staff, the Board,
volunteers and local people. Some of the team using free time to volunteer with a local befriending scheme.
• Carrying out surveys which gathered information about peoples experiences during the COVID-19 pandemic.
Page 196

10

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

Top four areas that people have contacted us about:

31% on GP services

19% on Dentistry

8% on Mental Health

19% on COVID-19 Vaccines

Access to dental care

We have seen a rise in the number of queries about
accessing NHS dental services.
Many people have reported that their local practices
are not taking on new patients and they can’t access
routine or emergency treatment. For some people,
existing problems are getting worse and there are
concerns about the cost of treatment.
Recently a local dentist retired and many
of his patients have been in touch to say that they
can’t find another practice willing to take on
new patients. We received reports that practices are
offering private treatment in place of the NHS.
We have shared our findings with Healthwatch
England to enable them to highlight the problem
nationally and are continuing to monitor patient's
experiences locally.

Contact us to get the information you need
If you have a query about a health and care service, or need help with
where you can go to access further support, get in touch. Don’t struggle
alone. Healthwatch is here for you.

www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk
0800 3047039
healthwatchcountydurham@pcp.uk.net
Page 197

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

11

Volunteers
At Healthwatch County Durham we are supported by 24 volunteers to help us
find out what people think about services

This year our volunteers:
•

Quickly adapted to be able to carry on volunteering and keep in touch through online meetings. They
took the opportunity to have more training, including GDPR, Safeguarding and Scam Awareness
sessions, as well as completing “Everything in Place” training from a local hospice.

•

Attended monthly online volunteer meetings to feedback experiences of local people on the roll out of
the vaccine and changes to services. They helped people have their say from home by sending out
and circulating surveys on the vaccination programme.

•

Were involved in our Access to GP Services work through researching the experiences of people
getting advice, information and appointments at their GP Practices since the start of the COVID-19
pandemic in County Durham.

•

Took part in a focus group on ‘Clinical research’ (Healthwatch County Durham and Healthwatch
Darlington) working with NHS England to undertake some research and contributed to ‘Macmillan
Joining the Dots’ County Durham.

Page 198

12

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

Keeping in touch and engaged
At first some volunteers found the I.T. set-up
difficult, but it was rewarding and worthwhile being
able to meet online. They were able to relay
experiences on the roll-out of the vaccine and
changes to services, through monthly meetings.
They helped people to have their say from home
including completing surveys about the vaccination
programme.
“Online involvement through Zoom gave me a
break from the misery of being isolated on my
own. After getting support with set-up, I
could keep up-to-date with Healthwatch
County Durham progress” -Mary (Board member)

GP access work
Volunteers were involved in developing a survey.
They checked how easy it was to access information
and appointments at GP practices, since the start of
the COVID-19 pandemic.

"Some telephone messages were informing
the caller of Christmas opening hours,
so clearly were not up to date“ -Anne
"There are weblinks to the NHS 111 site but
not to COVID-19 pages“ -Tony

Expanding knowledge
During discussions, our volunteers said they
wanted to have a better understanding on issues
related to “life planning”.
A ten-week training course provided by St Cuthbert’s
Hospice was arranged. However, because of the
lockdown the training had to be moved online. The
volunteers were still eager to attend and adapted
quickly to the changes, successfully completing the
training using the online Zoom platform.

Volunteer with us
Are you feeling inspired? We are always on the lookout for new
volunteers. If you are interested in volunteering, please get in touch
with Claire, our Volunteer Coordinator:

07756 654223
claire.sisterson@pcp.uk.net
www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk
Page 199

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

13

Finances
To help us carry out our work we receive funding from our local authority under the
Health and Social Care Act 2012.

Income

Expenditure

Page 200

14

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

Next steps & thank you
Top three priorities for 2021-22 from our workplan
1. Gathering the views of children and young people on how their mental health needs are supported,
finding out about their experiences and identifying what they need to help them manage their mental
health.

2. Finding out about the experiences of people receiving care in their home since the start of the COVID19 pandemic. Hearing what has worked well for people and what could have been better, including
how isolated people have been during lockdown.
3. Working with service providers and organisations to gather the views about the diagnosis and
treatment for cancer and other life-threatening conditions during the pandemic and beyond. To
understand the barriers to accessing care and what needs to be done moving forward.

Next steps
• The major priority for Healthwatch County Durham will be to think about how we are going to engage
with the public. We will develop our digital programme, but make sure those who do not use the
internet can still have their say. We will be working with local, regional and national partners to reach
out into our communities, finding the best way to communicate with people and hear their views.

• We want to make sure that commissioners and service providers consider and respond to the
recommendations we made in reports this year.

• We are committed to equality and diversity and will continue to find ways to reach out to seldom heard
communities to gather their experience of health and care services and to use the information to inform
commissioners and service providers.

"As always, my thanks to the people of County
Durham, who we are here to support, our staff,
volunteers and Board who have continued to
work on your behalf this year. We look forward
to the opportunities to get back out into the
community to hear about your experiences and
we look forward to seeing you at our annual
event later this year.“
Chris Cunnington-Shore,
Chair of Healthwatch County Durham
Page 201

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

15

Statutory statements
Healthwatch County Durham, Whitfield House, Meadowfield Industrial Estate, Durham, DH7 8XL.
The organisation holding the local Healthwatch contract is the Pioneering Care Partnership
(PCP), Carers Way, Newton Aycliffe, DL5 4SF

Healthwatch County Durham uses the Healthwatch Trademark when undertaking our statutory activities as
covered by the licence agreement.

The way we work
Involvement of volunteers and lay people in our governance and decision-making.
Our Healthwatch Board consists of 8 members who work on a voluntary basis to provide direction, oversight
and scrutiny to our activities. Our Board makes sure that decisions about priority areas of work reflect the
concerns and interests of our diverse local community. Through 2020/21 the Healthwatch Board met 9 times
and made decisions on matters such as:
•

Agreeing to adopt the Healthwatch England Quality Framework in July 2020, to monitor future quality
standards for Healthwatch County Durham.

•

Agreeing to the recommendations in a report in October 2020 which provided the views of the public
about the Healthwatch County Durham work priorities for the coming year.

We make sure of wider public involvement in deciding our work priorities;
• We use the insight from our signposting enquiries to help us with our work plan, looking for any trends or
indications that there may be issues we want to address.
• Page
We hold
202a public vote, so people can help us to decide our work priorities.
• We use information provided by the public when they contact us with their concerns.

16

Then and now | Healthwatch County Durham | Annual Report 2020-21

Methods and systems used across the year’s work to obtain people’s views
and experience.
We use a wide range of approaches to make sure that as many people as possible have the opportunity to
provide us with insight about their experience of health and care services. During 2020/21 we have been
available by phone, email, and webform via our website. We have also attended virtual meetings of
community groups and forums, provided our own virtual activities and engaged with the public through
social media. We also provided paper copies of our surveys and always offer help to complete them if
needed.
We are committed to taking additional steps to make sure we get the views of people from diverse
backgrounds who are often not heard by health and care decision makers. An example is making links
with a refugee organisation in the county to gather their views about GP services.
We make sure that this annual report is made available to as many members of the public and partner
organisations as possible. We publish it, making it available to Healthwatch England, the Care Quality
Commission (CQC), NHS England, County Durham Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG), the Overview and
Scrutiny Committee and the Commissioners for Healthwatch at Durham County Council.

2020-21 activities
Project / activity area

Changes made to services/outcomes

Accessing Health Services

Sharing a report with recommendations for commissioners and service
providers to help them identify how to improve service delivery

Accessing local pharmacy services

Reviewing results against a previous survey and sharing our
recommendations with other agencies and stakeholders, enabling them
to consider the outcome of their campaigns

Hearing about Life in a Domestic Abuse
Refuge

Sharing of the good practice identified in refuges in the county. Giving
feedback and assurance to commissioners

Conducting a COVID-19 vaccination
survey and completing a report on our
findings

Allowing commissioners and stakeholders to hear the views of the
public. Giving the opportunity to use the information gathered as
the roll out of the vaccine progresses

Healthwatch volunteer forums

Gathering the views of volunteers to help inform health and care
service providers and commissioners

Responses to recommendations and requests
This year, due to the COVID-19 pandemic, we did not make use of our Enter and View powers.
Consequently, no recommendations or other actions resulted from this area of activity.
There were no issues or recommendations escalated by Healthwatch County Durham to Healthwatch
England and so there were no resulting special reviews or investigations.

Health and Wellbeing Board
Healthwatch County Durham is represented on the County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board by Dave
Logan, Project Lead. During 2020/21 our representative has effectively carried out this role. Healthwatch
County Durham provide annual updates to the committee and have been consulted on various initiatives
under consideration by the committee influencing the decisions and actions of partner agencies.

Page 203

Healthwatch County Durham
Whitfield House, St Johns Road
Meadowfield Industrial Estate
Durham
DH7 8XL
www.healthwatchcountydurham.co.uk
08000 3047039
text: 07756 654218
e: healthwatchcountydurham@pcp.uk.net
@HWCountyDurham
@healthwatchcountydurham
@healthwatchcodurham

Page 204

Key Campaigns
Spring 22 / Summer 22

Agenda Item 10

Page 205

Page 206

COVID -19
Key messages in February
• Stay Safe - face coverings, hand hygiene and social distance
• Test regularly, report results and self-isolate
• Get vaccinated –targeting children & young people, pregnant women and low take
up areas
• Return safely to the workplace
• Changes to self isolation guidance
A Beat Covid NE campaign ‘Step up to Beat Covid’ and the NHS ‘Change of
Heart’ campaigns launched in February.

Next steps – key messages
Covid-19 vaccination:
•
•
•
•

get both vaccinations and a booster (over 16 years of age)
vaccinations for pregnant women
1st and 2nd dose for 12-15 year olds
support the ‘Leave no one behind’ campaign.

2

Health Harms and
Wellbeing Services
Tobacco: Promoting the benefits of stopping smoking.
Amplification of the NHS Better Health Quit Smoking and Breathe
campaign.

Alcohol: highlighting the risk between alcohol and cancer.
The Alcohol Causes Cancer campaign by Balance.

Adult Healthy Weight: Motivating and supporting adults to
achieve a healthy weight.
Amplification of NHS Better Health Obesity campaign.

Mental Health: Encouraging people to reach out with simple
acts of kindness to reduce loneliness and poor mental health.
Amplification of the Every Mind Matters Lift Someone Out of
Loneliness campaign.
Page 207

3

Page 208

Coming up – Summer Campaigns
• Holiday Activities with Food: Continued
promotion of fun and food activities to families
during the Easter Holidays.

• Healthy Start and MMR vaccine: Supporting
Best Start in Life approach with continued
promotion of Healthy Start resources, including
launch of new digital scheme, and promotion of the
Help Us Help You social media campaign
encouraging parents to protect their child with both
does of the Measles, Mumps and Rubella (MMR)

• Physical activity: Delivery of MOVE campaign
signposting to a range of community activities, and
promoting awareness of the benefits of exercise with
personalised support plans and motivation to get
moving.

• Mental Health: Supporting Stress Awareness month in
April by raising awareness that too much stress can affect
our mood, body and relationships.

4

COUNTY DURHAM COVID-19
HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
LOCAL OUTBREAK MANAGEMENT PLAN (LOMP)
UPDATE
29 MARCH 2022
AMANDA HEALY
DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH

Agenda Item 11

Page 209

Page 210

Covid-19 Data
Key Points

Covid-19 Dashboard www.durhaminsight.info/covid-19

•

Case rates are
showing a sustained
decline.

•

Difficult to quantify
impact of behaviour
change around selfreporting of
positives.

•

COVID inpatients 64
and 4 in ICU.

Covid-19 vaccinations
•

8 times more likely to
be hospitalised if
unvaccinated.

•

Leaving no one
behind approach
• 12-15 programme.
•

Spring booster

•

5-11yrs non-urgent
low dose offer

Page 211

Page 212

Spring Plan: Living with Covid

21 February
•

Remove guidance for twice weekly asymptomatic
testing for staff and students in most education
settings

From 24 February






Remove the legal requirement to self-isolate
following a positive test for adults and children advised to stay at home for at least 5 full days or 2
negative test results.
Fully vaccinated close contacts and under 18s no
longer need to test daily for 7 days. Remove legal
requirement for close contacts who are not fully
vaccinated to self-isolate.
End self-isolation support payments, national
funding for practical support. No medicine
delivery service.



End routine contact tracing.



End the legal obligation for individuals to tell their
employers when they are required to self-isolate.



Revoke The Health Protection (Coronavirus,
Restrictions) Regulations.

From 24 March
• Covid-19 provisions in statutory sick pay end
From 1 April
• No longer a requirement for NHS covid pass for
certain venues
• Updated guidance on testing and steps people
should take to minimise contact
• No longer provide free universal symptomatic and
asymptomatic testing for general public in England.
• Consolidate guidance to the public and businesses,
in line with public health advice.
• Remove the health and safety requirement
for every employer to explicitly consider
COVID-19 in their risk assessments.
• Replace the existing set of ‘Working Safely’
guidance with new public health guidance.

Living safely with Covid – goals and priorities
Goals
• Protect and enable people and communities
at greatest risk from COVID-19 and its
consequences.
• Protect critical infrastructure including the
NHS and social care
• Support the wellbeing and development of
children, young people and adults.
• Enable the recovery of economic and social
activities.
• Strengthen prevention and preparedness for
future waves and other epidemics.

Priorities
• Continue to support equitable and rapid deployment of vaccination.
• Prioritise specialist public health capacity on managing outbreaks in
vulnerable and complex settings.
• Encourage good infection and control measures, taking our partners
and our communities with us.
• Support educational settings to manage COVID-19 infections to
minimise education disruption.
• Encourage businesses and employers to continue to operate safely
to ensure those who are most vulnerable are not excluded.
• Work with the health and social care system to ensure equity of
access to treatments and support.
• Have plans to ensure sufficient workforce capacity to respond
quickly in a surge, in line with agreed national frameworks and
health protection risk assessments.
• Maintain surveillance systems and oversight.

Page 213

Page 214

Vaccine Inequalities: ‘Leaving no-one behind’ approach

• LSOA level data identifies areas of concern, which
include:
• Variation in dose 1, dose 2 and
booster coverage
• Variation below county level by
deprivation, gender and age
• Clustering of low vaccination coverage
• Hyper local data informs the identification of
accessible community assets or locations
• The approach identifies clusters/communities with
low levels of uptake where:
• Residents are encouraged to access their
vaccine where there is local provision
• Additional provision for communities with
restricted access to vaccination sites

•

Enhanced community engagement and communication plan

•

Multi-agency collaborative working.

•

Comms to under-represented groups, anchor organisations,
communities and businesses through AAPs, Wellbeing4Life and
Business Durham.
• Evaluation of the May to November
pop up vaccination clinics has
been completed
• The Leaving no-one behind
approach used to develop the 12-15
years school and community offer

Vaccine Inequalities
• Pop-up Vaccination Clinic Evaluation
• MELISSA bus

• Pop-up Walk-in Clinics

•

23 mobile pop-up vaccination clinics delivered

•

•

7,988 vaccines between 7 May - 22 November
2021.

Delivered 6 University Walk-in Pop-up Clinics; 2 in June/July and 4
in October 2021.

•

1,953 vaccinations delivered, 75% were 1st dose with 18-29yr
highest cohort.

•

Robust planning across system partners attributed to success of
vaccine clinics.

•

Millennium Square with 10 vaccination pods attracted the most
publicity with 544,985 social media hits

•

Service user experience from those attending Millennium Square:

•

More convenient than via GP

Easily accessible locations – to be less exposed
to the elements

•

Quick, easy, and efficient.

•

Booked for Sunderland – but couldn't get there.

•

Request for follow up vaccines – reliance on bus

•

Well organised – surprised at how smooth it went.

•

Operating hours suited people’s working day

•

Nurses were excellent

•

Length of queue and willingness to wait in all
weathers highlighted people’s eagerness to get
vaccine

•

18-29yr olds highest cohort

•

Targeted approach in LSOAs, GRT stop-over
sites and workplaces such as Amazon
(Bowburn) and Newton Aycliffe Industrial Estate.

•

•

Positive service user feedback positive; ‘Keep it
going’; ‘Come back again’; ‘More often’;
‘Advertise more’; ‘Go around villages’;
‘Weekends’.

• The leaving no-one behind approach continues to
be used to target delivery

Page 215

Page 216

Public Questions
1.

Does it matter which vaccine I get? Can they still be mixed (are there any benefits/side effects to this)
or can I request a specific dose?

2.

Do I still need to wait 8 weeks between vaccines, and what do I do if I haven’t been called for my
Booster vaccination, and can’t get through to my doctors to make an appointment?

3.

How long will we need to keep getting vaccines and boosters?

4.

What are the rules about wearing masks? And are there any guidelines in place for using community
buildings now?

Page 217

Page 218

Page 219

Page 220

Page 221

Page 222

Page 223

Page 224

Page 225

This page is intentionally left blank

Health and Wellbeing Board
29 March 2022
Mobile Pop-up Vaccination Clinic
Evaluation Report

Report of the COVID-19 Vaccine Inequalities Group
Joseph Chandy, Director of Commissioning Strategy and Delivery
(Primary Care), NHS County Durham CCG
Amanda Healy, Director of Public Health, Durham County Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Health and
Wellbeing Board with an overview of mobile COVID-19 vaccine
provision, undertaken across County Durham between May and
November 2021.

Executive summary
2

Mobile, temporary (or 'pop-up') vaccination clinics aim to improve
access and maximise vaccine uptake in communities with known low
coverage.

3

In County Durham, we have delivered mobile pop-up clinics using the
MELISSA Training Bus, provided by Health Education England, along
with pop-up walk in clinics, specifically aimed at increasing the
vaccinate uptake in university students. Both interventions were well
received and provide exemplars of collaborative working.

4

Adopting an outreach model, is thought to impact positively on
vaccination uptake. However, the need for grass root community
engagement in advance of mobile pop-up clinics cannot be
underestimated.

Recommendations
5

The Health and Wellbeing Board are asked to:
(a)
(b)

receive this report and note contents; and
recognise the volume of work undertaken across the partnership
to deliver vaccinations in areas of low uptake and support
continued work in this regard.

Page 227

Background
6

The aim of the mobile temporary (or 'pop-up') vaccination clinics is to
improve access and maximise vaccine uptake in communities, or
among groups with known low coverage.

7

The delivery model enables the administration of COVID-19 vaccines at
identified locations outside of vaccination ‘base’ sites – vaccination
centres, hospital hubs, Primary Care Network-led sites, and community
pharmacies.

8

The rational for this initiative was two-fold. Firstly, to improve vaccine
accessibility, as it was known many people couldn't get an appointment
through the online booking system or were unable to travel to
designated centres; and secondly, to help address the variation in
vaccine uptake across age bands, gender, ethnicity, and social
gradient, adopting an intelligence-led approach.

Methodology
9

The evaluation focuses on two interventions:
 Mobile vaccination clinic using the MELISSA Training Bus,
provided by Health Education England, aimed at promoting
vaccination uptake in areas with known low uptake.
 Pop-up walk-in clinics aimed at increasing vaccination uptake in
university students.

10

To evaluate the delivery models, consideration was given to the
following components:








Number of vaccines administered
Target populations reached
Communication analysis
Service user experience
Cost-benefit analysis
Added value
Lessons learnt

MELISSA Bus mobile pop-up clinics
What we did
11

Page 228

We adopted a collaborative approach, with a range of stakeholders
including health organisations, the local authority, and the voluntary
sector, all working together, to plan and deliver a total of 23 mobile popup vaccination clinics between 7 May 2021 and 22 November 2021,

using the MELISSA Training Bus, provided by Health Education
England.
12

The Public Health Intelligence Team mapped Lower Super Output
Areas (LSOAs), where vaccination uptake was < 50%, 50-60%, 60-70%
to enable us to identify areas in most need, in support of a targeted
approach.

13

We also took into consideration the needs of specific groups, as such,
we offered mobile pop-up vaccination clinics at Gypsy Roma Traveller
(GTR) temporary stop over sites and workplace settings including
Amazon (Bowburn) and Newton Aycliffe Industrial Estate.

14

Enhanced community engagement and communications were actioned
in advance of the mobile pop-up vaccination clinics, including:
 Social media posts shared and cascaded to grassroots level.
 Distribution of promotional vaccine event leaflet to houses in low
uptake identified streets and shop windows, leaflets had QR code
embedded to direct people to the Council COVID-19 vaccination
website (https://www.durham.gov.uk/covid19vaccinations).
 Identification of social housing in low uptake communities and
liaison with providers to engage their residents.
 Communications sent to anchor organisations, cascaded into
communities/businesses via Area Action Partnerships,
Wellbeing4Life service, Business Durham, and other local
stakeholder networks.
 Email and text messages highlighting the vaccine drop-in and
linking to the website for all aspects of vaccine information.
 Utilising mosaic profiling using the postcodes.
 Identified and engaged with family groups through One Point
services, Harrogate Trust 0-25 service.
 COVID-19 Champions and COVID-19 awareness and protection
teams carried out community engagement in key settings, coordinating a targeted approach - leaflets, posters, and
conversations.

15

Local Vaccination Services (Primary Care Networks or Community
Pharmacy) played a key role in delivery of the mobile pop-up clinics,
providing both clinical leadership and oversight, and the vaccination
teams.

16

The Medicine Optimisation Team worked with Local Vaccination
Services to ensure governance procedures were in place to support the
transportation of vaccines and vaccination delivery.

Page 229

17

Staff from the CCG, Durham County Council and unpaid volunteers
provided marshalling at the events.

18

Proactive steps were taken to ensure the safety of staff and visitors to
the pop-up vaccination clinics. Pre-clinic risk assessments were
conducted. The local authority enacted a security plan which included
arranging for Security Industry Authority (SIA) stewards to be on site for the
duration of the clinics and giving Durham Constabulary advanced notice of the
mobile pop-up clinics.

Number of vaccines administered
19

The total number of COVID-19 vaccinations delivered across 23 mobile
pop-up clinics was 7,988. The charts below provide a breakdown by the
type of dose.
Number of COVID-19 vaccine administered by
type
MELISSA bus pop-up vaccination clinics
May 2021 to November 2021
Booster

2,406

Second

2,380

First

Type of vaccine administered by percentage
MELISSA bus pop-up vaccination clinics
May 2021 to November 2021

30%
3,202

40%

30%
First

Second

Booster

Target populations reached
20

Page 230

The charts below show that most people being vaccinated on the
MELISSA Training Bus were from County Durham. A small proportion
of people were noted to be from the North East and North Cumbria
Integrated Care System. The remainder, out of system, are likely to be
university students who gave their home address as outside the region.

Breakdown of where people have come from
MELISSA bus pop-up vaccination clinics
May 2021 to November 2021
8,000

Breakdown of where people have come
from
MELISSA bus pop-up vaccination clinics
May 2021 to November 2021

7,344

5%4%

6,000
4,000
2,000

91%

416

288

In system

Out of system

0
CCG

21

CCG

In system

Out of system

Vaccinations delivered on the MELISSA Training Bus by age and
gender are shown in the chart below. 18-29 years were the highest age
cohort to get vaccinated on the MELISSA Training Bus.
Age Band Profile and Gender
1500
1000
500

Male

0

Female
Not Specified

Age Group

22

When considering the type of vaccine, those under 40 accessed their
first and second dose, as were not eligible for a booster at the time.
Those aged 50 plus, predominately accessed their booster primary
dose on the MELISSA Training Bus.
Dose by Age
3000
2500
2000
1500
1000
500
0

Booster
Second
First

Age Group

23

Regarding ethnicity, 52.5% of those vaccinated were British. The
second highest group were recorded as 'not stated' (46%), highlighting
significant gaps in the data.
Assessment of impact

24

It is difficult to draw any meaningful conclusions from the available data
in terms of the impact of the MELISSA Bus pop-up vaccination clinics.

Page 231

25

The data is diluted, due to the fact that people can get vaccinated at a
variety of locations or are travelling from outside area to access the bus.
Therefore, it hard to say with any certainty that a coverage increase for
a particular town was directly due to the impact of the pop-up clinic
using the bus.

26

To understand the potential the impact of the MELISSA Bus pop-up
vaccination clinics, we have put two areas under the 'spot-light' –
Ferryhill and Newton Aycliffe. Whilst no statistical correlation can be
made, it may be possible to draw some inference that the pop-up clinics
have had a positive impact on vaccination uptake.

27

We looked at the three MSOA’s making up Ferryhill - Cornforth and
Ferryhill, Chilton and Ferryhill Station, and Spennymoor Green
Lane/Dean Bank.
Pop-up vaccination clinic on 15 June 2021
 There were 322 Dose 1 vaccinations recorded in the area on this
day. This was 307 more than the previous day.
 The 7-day average Dose 1 vaccinations prior to this date was 31.
So, this is an increase of 929%.
 There were 1,662 Dose 1 vaccinations given on 15 June 2021
across County Durham. The 322 at Ferryhill account for 19.4% of
the vaccinations given in the County on that day. This is nearly
one fifth.
Pop-up vaccination clinic on 10 August 2021
 There were 98 Dose 1 vaccinations recorded in the area on this
day. This was 97 more than the previous day.
 The 7-day average Dose 1 vaccinations prior to this date was 7.6.
So, this was an increase of 1,194%.
 There were 358 Dose 1 vaccinations given on 10 August 2021
across County Durham. The 98 at Ferryhill account for 27.4% of
the vaccinations given in the County on that day. This is over a
quarter.

28

We looked at the four MSOA’s making up Newton Aycliffe -Newton
Aycliffe Central, Newton Aycliffe East, Aycliffe Village Newton Aycliffe
South and Woodham/Middridge.
Pop-up vaccination clinic on the 2 September 2021
 There were 118 Dose 1 vaccinations recorded in the area on this
day. This was 115 more than the previous day.
 There were 195 Dose 2 vaccinations records in the area on this
day. This is 183 more than the previous day.

Page 232

 The 7-day average Dose 1 vaccinations prior to this date was 11.
This increased this is an increase of 973%.
 The 7-day average Dose 2 vaccinations prior to this date was 54.
So, this is an increase of 257%. There was a spike in vaccination
activity for Newton Aycliffe on the 26 August 2021. Where 267
Dose 2 and 60 Dose 1 vaccinations were given. So, the previous
7-day averages are pulling in this data. See daily activity chart
below.

 There were 357 County Durham Dose 1 given on the 2
September 2021. In Newton Aycliffe there were 118 Dose 1
vaccinations given, this account for 33.1% of the vaccinations
given in the County on that day.
 There were 1,427 County Durham Dose 2 vaccinations given
02/09/21. In Newton Aycliffe there were 195 Dose 2 vaccinations
given, this account for 13.7% of the vaccinations given in the
County on that day.
Communications analysis
29

A range of communication media was used to publicise the mobile popup clinics using the MELISSA Training Bus. These included community
social media posts, press releases, flyers and posters, and SMS texts
from practices. COVID-19 Awareness Workers also supported grass
roots engagement and help to spread key messages by 'word of mouth',
in the lead-up to the pop-up clinics.

30

Branding was consistent across on all communication mediums.

31

Appendix 2 provides a breakdown of Facebook and Twitter posts. The
Seaham pop-up clinic on 21 July 2021 received the highest number
Face book hits (1,246,332). More vaccines were delivered at this clinic
than any other (834). However, it should be noted that it was about this
time cohort 12 became eligible for the vaccine.

Page 233

Service user experience
32

Feedback sought, over the summer months, feedback was extremely
positive. There were lots of comments, such as ‘Keep it going’; ‘Come
back again’; ‘More often’; ‘Advertise more’; ‘Go around villages’;
‘Weekends’.

33

Over the winter months, people still reported that the MELISSA Training
Bus is good way of delivering vaccines, as it was thought it convenient
and easy to access. However, a common theme from feedback was the
length of the queue, with some people reporting they had to wait over
two hours in the cold weather, to receive their vaccination. There was
recognition that staff work well under less than optimum situations, with
staff doing best in difficult circumstances. There were requests for more
visits to spread demand for vaccination and reduce the time people had
to wait.

34

In November 2021, we sought feedback as to why people chose to
come to MELISSA Training Bus to get vaccinated, rather than going
elsewhere, the following themes emerged:
 Ease of access – near home, within walking distance, more
convenient as no appointment needed.
 Better time for working people – fits with work schedule;
additionally, many people work on zero-hours contracts, meaning
that they cannot commit to a date/time in advance due to work
demands.
 Opportunistic – passing by and came over to bus.
 Local centres had run out of vaccine and there was a long wait.
 Issues with the booking system
o Couldn't get in elsewhere/no available appointments in
local area
o Available appointments are too far away
o MELISSA Training Bus is quicker than waiting for a booked
appointment
o Reports of the 119 service being 'appalling' – waited one
hour to speak to someone
o GP practice not offering vaccinations
 Opportunity to get flu jab as well as a COVID-19 vaccine.
 Sign-posted by GP practice.
Added value

35

In terms of added value, the following was noted:
 Partnership working and collaboration: Multiagency partnership
working to engage the hardest to reach using existing

Page 234

relationships to build trust and confidence in the vaccine
programme.
 Better information for communities and professionals (based on
insight): Enabling people to make an informed decision via the
provision of appropriate and targeted information tailored to meet
the needs of different populations.
 Increasing accessibility – taking the vaccine to people: Removing
common barriers (including location, booking of appointments,
transport, and cost) by providing clinics in community
 Empowering communities – asset based, community champion
approaches: Mobilising communities to support each other to
promote the importance of the vaccine using local people as a
powerful trusted voice.
Cost-benefit analysis
36

The additional cost of the mobile pop-up vaccination clinics has been
roughly estimated to be £5.29 per vaccine. This figure has been
calculated by dividing the total manpower costs (excluding staff within
the local vaccination services) divided by the number of vaccines given.
This is over and above the cost per dose paid direct to the Provider and
the cost of communication resources and barriers.

37

The notional cost per vaccine, is a way of qualifying the additional
resource need to reduce vaccine inequalities and to assist with future
planning. It is thought to be relatively low, due to the high volume of
vaccines delivered.
Lessons learnt

38

The following learning were captured:
 Mobile pop-up vaccination clinics provide an exemplar of
collaborative working.
 People found the clinic hours of operation, enabled them to fit the
vaccination around their workday.
 Communication and grass route community engagement, well in
advance of a mobile pop-up vaccine clinic, is essential.
 When planning mobile pop-up clinics, local population need,
infrastructure availability, service capacity and demand all need
careful consideration.
 Whilst running clinics from the bus in the summer months was
well received, we need to think about alternative provision in the
winter months, as the weather is colder, and hours of daylight are
reduced.

Page 235

 Security considerations and arrangements need to be a part of
the planning and delivery of the mobile pop-up vaccination clinics.
Recommendations
39

Based on the evaluation of mobile pop-up vaccinations clinics, the
following recommendations have been proposed:
(a)

There is a need to utilise the granular mapping process to
determine the optimum location of mobile pop-up vaccination
clinics and continue to target street level data for
communications, engagement with housing providers and
distribution of flyers.

(b)

Given the success of the mobile pop-up clinics, consider the
purchase of County Durham mobile unit to facilitate future
delivery.

(c)

Whilst continuing with an out-reach vaccination delivery model,
consideration also needs to be given to alternative provision,
particularly in the winter months, for example, supporting Local
Vaccination Services to offer walk-in slots at the end of a clinic
session, or setting up pop-up vaccination clinics in community
venues such as community centres, vacant retail premises,
sports/leisure facilities.

(d)

Security considerations and arrangements need to part of the
planning and delivery of the mobile pop-up vaccination clinics.

University Walk-in Pop-up Clinics
What we did
40

In response to the surge in COVID-19 cases in June/July 2021, we ran
three number of temporary walk-in pop-up clinics in Durham, in
partnership with the University.
 Millennium Place, 26 June 2021
 Boots Pharmacy, Durham 27 June 2021
 Maiden Castle, 2 July 2021

41

Page 236

By far the largest pop-up clinic delivered, was that at Millennium Place
on 26 June 2021. A full system response was needed to organise this
event before the student break.

42

As these were deemed a success, the University asked if we could
deliver additional walk-in pop-up clinics in October 2021, to offer
students (particularly international and fresher students yet to be
vaccinated), the opportunity to receive the vaccine.

43

We worked closely with the local Primary Care Network to deliver four
walk-in pop-up vaccination clinics, held at the Palace Green between 1
– 8 October 2021.

44

All walk-in pop-up clinics were well publicised, and whilst focus was on
getting university students vaccinated, the clinics were open to the
wider eligible community, as vaccine uptake into Durham City area was
noted to be low.
Number of vaccines administered

45

The total number of COVID-19 vaccinations delivered across six walk-in
pop-up clinics was 2,265. The charts below provide a breakdown by
location and type of dose. 78% of vaccines administered were First
Dose. The greatest number of vaccinations were delivered at
Millennium Place, 1,268.
Number and type of vaccine
administered by location
University walk-in pop-up clinics
2021

Numbers of COVID-19 vaccine
administered by type
University walk-in pop-up vaccination
clinics
2021

1500
1000
500

Booster

33

0
Millennium
Boots
Square
Pharmacy
(Jun-21)
(Jun-21)

Maiden
Castle
(Jul-21)

Palace
Green
(Oct-21)

Second
First

First

Second

461
1,771

Booster

Page 237

Target populations reached
As expected, a significant proportion of those vaccinated were out of
area and fell within the 18-29 age cohort.

In system

Out of system

80+

75-79

70-74

65-69

60-64

55-59

50-54

Female

Not Specified

Age Group

Age Not Specified

Male
CCG

40-49

68%

30-39

6%

1000
900
800
700
600
500
400
300
200
100
0

18-29

26%

Age Band Profile and Gender

16-17

Breakdown of where people have come from
University walk-in pop-up vaccination clinics
2021

12-15

46

Communication analysis
47

The walk-in clinic at Millennium Palace was the largest clinic (with 10
vaccination pods), and attracted the most publicity, with 544,985 social
media hits as well as attracting media coverage.
Service user experience

48

Those attending for vaccination at Millennium Square were given the
opportunity to complete a service user feedback form. Overall feedback
was very positive.

49

Examples of comments included:






More convenient than via GP.
Quick, easy, and efficient.
Booked for Sunderland – but couldn't get there.
Well organised – surprised at how smooth it went.
Nurses were excellent.

Added Value
50

Page 238

The continuing partnership with the University through pop-up
vaccination clinics for students, demonstrates how we can work
together to support the health and wellbeing of local communities.

Cost Benefit
51

Due to the variability in scale of university pop-up clinics, across
Millennium Square, Maiden Castle and Palace Green, it has not been
possible to quantify resources and associated costs.

52

The success of the temporary vaccination clinics, particularly the event
in Millennium Square, can be attributed to robust planning across
system partners.
Lessons learnt

53

Whilst the Palace Green site was convenient for students, access for
the wider community was an issue, as there was no near-by parking.
Also transport of the vaccine was problematic.

54

A clear process is required for international students who have been
vaccinated oversees and are seeking further vaccination to meet the
requirements of the NHS COVID-19 pass.
Recommendations

55

To continue to include the university population in the Vaccine
Inequalities Group and work in partnership to ensure highest possible
uptake within this population group.

Overall conclusions for mobile pop-up vaccination clinics
56

Both interventions were well received and provide exemplars of
collaborative working.

57

Adopting an outreach model, is thought to impact positively on
vaccination uptake. However, the need for grass root community
engagement in advance of mobile pop-up clinics cannot be
underestimated.

58

COVID-19 Awareness Workers and COVID-19 Champions are well
placed to support community engagement and provide a 'trusted voice'.

Authors
Joy Evans, Public Health Strategic Manager
Christine Scollen, Commissioning and Development Lead

03000 267665
07920 751341

Page 239

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
No issues identified

Finance
None at this present time

Consultation
Consultation with partners is ongoing to develop/delivery actions to reduce
vaccine inequalities.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
The interventions described in this report contribute to the reduce in vaccine
inequalities.

Climate Change
No issues identified

Human Rights
No issues identified

Crime and Disorder
Not applicable

Staffing
No issues identified

Accommodation
No issues identified

Risk
Any risks identified are escalated to the Immunisation Board and raised with
the relevant stakeholder organisation via the appropriate representative on the
group.

Procurement
Not applicable

Page 240

Appendix 2: Communications
MELISSA Training Bus Pop-up Clinics
CCG Posts
Facebook
Date

Location

May-21

Twitter

Notes

# of Posts

Total Hits

# of Posts

Total Hits

Peterlee

11

36,877

7

13,859

09-Jun-21

Horden

9

454,049

9

13,764

11-Jun-21

Kelloe

11

273,642

9

8,629

15-Jun-21

Ferryhill

12

726,626

12

103,724

21-Jun-21

Seaham

13

1,246,332

12

20,306

02-Jul-21

Peterlee

9

214,847

8

13,122

30-Jul-21

Kelloe

3

114,779

1

344

04-Aug-21

Horden

3

123,364

1

379

05-Aug-21

Shaws Bank

0

0

0

0

10-Aug-21

Ferryhill

2

123,724

1

6399

12-Aug-21

Amazon

0

0

0

0

16-Aug-21

Seaham

4

152,994

3

8,071

17-Aug-21

Gurney Valley

0

0

0

0

02-Sep-21

Newton Aycliffe

8

40,387

8

3,906

04-Oct-21

Tow Law

7

27,087

9

5,183

05-Oct-21

Dragonville

6

43,328

5

1,142

19-Oct-21

Wingate

5

17,075

5

1,250

22-Oct-21

Bishop Auckland

2

17,099

2

1,491

02-Nov-21

Stanley

6

18,374

5

1,180

09-Nov-21

Consett

7

44,955

6

2,069

11-Nov-21

Dalton Park

4

16,306

4

1,165

19-Nov-21

Horden

3

23,339

3

1,392

22-Nov-21

Wingate

3

12,885

3

912

Comms Restricted - GRT

Internal comms

Comms Restricted - GRT

Other Pop-up Clinics, linked to the University
Facebook
Date

Location

26-Jun-21

Twitter

# of Posts

Total Hits

# of Posts

Total Hits

Millennium Square

11

544,985

3

5277

02-Jul-21

Maiden Castle

5

288,493

5

27525

01-Oct-21

Palace Green

3

7,610

3

3314

06-Oct-21

Palace Green

2

5,393

2

3001

07-Oct-21

Palace Green

5

16,021

3

2253

08-Oct-21

Palace Green

6

41,115

5

3093

Page 241

DCC Posts
Twitter
Date

Location

Impressions

Engagement

Link click

May

3,226

107

26

June

18,804

374

14

July

20,391

209

18

Aug

4,694

54

10

Sept

8,493

185

19

Oct

14,356

272

21

Nov

8,257

110

9

Facebook
Date

19-Oct

03-Jun

Location

Reach

Engagement

Gilesgate

13,925

277

Tow Law

28,421

623

Bishop Auckland

21,835

770

Wingate

13,997

235

Peterlee

22,680

378

Peterlee/Kelloe/Ferryhill

28,439

1,826

Castle Dene Shopping Centre

13,637

652

Sponsored Ads
Date

Location

Reach

Engagement

November

Wingate

19,465

841

November

Horden

19,348

1,019

Wingate

27,862

66

Gilesgate

37,778

240

Tow Law

22,528

143

Newton Aycliffe

11,720

591

Page 242

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Agenda Item 14

Document is Restricted

Page 243

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 247

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 249

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 251

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 253

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 255

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 257

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 259

This page is intentionally left blank

By virtue of paragraph(s) 1, 2 of Part 1 of Schedule 12A
of the Local Government Act 1972.

Document is Restricted

Page 261

This page is intentionally left blank

